CITY OF OWOSSO
SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 10, 2014
7:00 P.M.

Meeting to be held at City Hall
301 West Main Street

AGENDA

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:
ROLL CALL:

ADDRESSING THE CITY COUNCIL

Your comments shall be made during times set aside for that purpose.

Stand or raise a hand to indicate that you wish to speak.

When recognized, give your name and address and direct your comments and/or questions

to any City official in attendance.

4. Each person wishing to address the City Council and/or attending officials shall be afforded
one opportunity of up to four (4) minutes duration during the first occasion for citizen
comments and questions. Each person shall also be afforded one opportunity of up to three
(3) minutes duration during the last occasion provided for citizen comments and questions
and one opportunity of up to three (3) minutes duration during each public hearing.
Comments made during public hearings shall be relevant to the subject for which the public
hearings are held.

5. In addition to the opportunities described above, a citizen may respond to questions posed to

him or her by the Mayor or members of the Council, provided members have been granted

the floor to pose such questions.

wN e

CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS

PRESENTATION & DISCUSSION

1. Housing Program Presentation. A presentation of the status of the City’s Housing Program
by Housing Coordinator Sarah Warren-Riley.

2. Housing Program Discussion. Discussion of the City’s Housing Program.

NEXT MEETING

Tuesday, February 18, 2014

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS OPENINGS

None.

ADJOURNMENT

The City of Owosso will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services, such as
signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the
meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting/hearing upon seventy-two (72) hours notice
to the City of Owosso. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should
contact the City of Owosso by writing or calling the following: Amy K. Kirkland, City Clerk, 301
West Main Street, Owosso, Ml 48867 or at (989) 725-0500. The City of Owosso Website
address is Www.Ci.OW0SS0.mi.us.










Municode Page 1 of 4

Owosso, Michigan, Code of Ordinances >> PART Il - CODE OF ORDINANCES >> Chapter 8 -
BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS >> ARTICLE VII. RENTAL DWELLING REGISTRATION >>

ARTICLE VII. RENTAL DWELLING REGISTRATION &

Sec. 8-151. Definitions.

Sec. 8-152. Purpose of standards.
Sec. 8-153. Applicability; exclusions.
Sec. 8-154. Registration.

Sec. 8-155. Applicable standards.
Sec. 8-156. Noncompliance with code.
Sec. 8-157. Fees.

Sec. 8-158. Violations.

Sec. 8-159. Reserved.

Sec. 8-151. Definitions.

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Building inspector means the official who is charged with the administration and enforcement
of this Code, or any duly authorized representative by the city manager.

Occupant includes all tenants, lessees and persons residing within a rental dwelling or rental
unit.

Owner means any person, firm, corporation or other legal entity having a legal or equitable
interest in the premises.

Owner's representative means a person or representative of a corporation, partnership, firm,
joint venture, trust, association, organization or other entity designated by the owner of the
premises as responsible for operating such property in compliance with all the provisions of the
city's ordinances.

Rental dwelling unit means any single structure, building or other facility promised and/or
leased to a residential tenant for use as a home, residence or sleeping unit. Such term includes, but
is not limited to, one-family or two-family dwellings, multiple dwellings and apartment units.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

Sec. 8-152. Purpose of standards.

The city recognizes a compelling interest in establishing standards for the maintenance of
sanitary and safe residential rental structures in the city as an important factor for the general
health, safety and welfare of all of its citizens. This article is designed to promote the continued
maintenance of quality and safe rental properties and to enhance and maintain property values.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

http://library. municode.com/print.aspx?h=&clientID=11830&HTMRequest=http%3a%2{%... 2/5/2014



Municode Page 2 of 4

Sec. 8-153. Applicability; exclusions.

(@)  This article shall apply to any rental dwelling unit, or part thereof, which is occupied by
persons pursuant to any oral or written rental or lease agreement or other valuable
compensation. Such dwelling shall include, but not be limited to, single-family dwellings,
multiple-family dwellings, rooming houses and boardinghouses. No person shall lease or rent
a rental dwelling unit unless they have registered their property.

(b)  This article does not apply to jails, hospitals, nursing homes, convalescent homes, foster
homes or temporary group shelters provided by legal nonprofit agencies which are
inspected, certified and/or licensed by the state.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

Sec. 8-154. Registration.

(a) Compliance required. All rental dwelling unit owners are required to bi-annually register their
rental dwelling units pursuant to this article and shall comply with the following:

(1) All existing rental dwelling units property shall be registered within one hundred eighty
(180) days of the effective date of the ordinance.

(2)  All newly constructed rental dwelling units shall be registered prior to any use or
occupancy as a rental dwelling unit and every year thereafter.

(3) A new owner shall register a rental dwelling unit, which is sold, transferred or
conveyed, within thirty (30) days of the date of the closing of such sale. Any existing
registration shall be transferred to the new owner and shall be valid until its expiration
or revocation for noncompliance with city codes and ordinances.

(4) Al existing nonrental dwelling units, which are converted to rental dwelling units, shall
be registered prior to the date on which the property is first occupied for rental
purposes and bi-annually thereafter. Failure to comply will result in penalties as
described in this article or by resolution.

(b)  Applications.

(1) Applications for registration shall be made in such form and in accordance with such
instructions as may be provided by the building inspector designated by the city
manager and shall include at least the following information:

a. The name, address and telephone number of the owner (no post office box
shall be accepted).
b. The name, address and telephone number of the owner's representative, if the

rental property owner has opted to appoint a representative.
2) Upon registration, the owner shall be responsible for notifying the building inspector of
any change of address of either the owner or owner's representative.

(c) Fee. At the time of registration of the dwelling unit, there will be a prescribed fee, as adopted
by resolution. Any unpaid registration fees shall become a lien on the property immediately
and collected as an assessment pursuant to city ordinance. An owner shall not have a
property as a rental dwelling unless it has registered with the city.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

Sec. 8-155. Applicable standards.

http://library.municode.com/print.aspx ?h=&clientID=11830&HTMRequest=http%3a%2{%... 2/5/2014



Municode Page 3 of 4

The standards used to determine rental property and dwelling unit compliance with city
codes and ordinances shall be the International Property Maintenance Code, as adopted and
amended by the city council.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

Sec. 8-156. Noncompliance with code.

(@)  The building inspector may enter rental dwelling units under any of the following
circumstances:
(1) After the registration of the rental dwelling unit which shows the possibility of not
complying with local or state law.

(2)  Upon receipt of a written complaint from an owner, owner's representative or
occupant that the premises is in violation of this article.

3) Upon receipt of a report or referral from the police department, fire department, public
or private school, or another public agency, or a failure to comply with this article.

(4) Upon evidence of an existing ordinance violation observed by the building inspector.

(5) At the request of the owner to determine compliance with the International Property
Maintenance Code.

(6)  If the proposed rental dwelling unit is being converted from a single-family home, the
building inspector shall evaluate the property for public safety violations before first
occupied for rental purposes.

(b)  The building inspector may make an appointment with the owner or owner's representative
of the rental dwelling unit. The owner or owner's representative must give the building
inspector at least twenty-four (24) hours' notice when changing the scheduled appointment
with an alternative date and time. The building inspector shall issue a written report noting
any violations of this article or any other provision of the city's ordinances and shall provide a
copy of the report to the owner or owner's representative. The building inspector shall direct
the owner or owner's representative to correct violations within the time set forth in the
report. A reasonable time for correcting violations shall be determined by the building
inspector in light of the nature of the violations and all relevant circumstances, which shall
not exceed sixty (60) days, unless correction of the violation within a 60-day period is
impossible due to seasonal considerations. Upon request of the person responsible for
correcting violations, the building inspector may extend the time for correcting violations, but
not to exceed an additional thirty (30) days.

() The building inspector may charge a nominal fee that equals the actual administrative cost to
enter premises as established by resolution. If the building inspector determines that a
complaint was filed without a factual basis and with malice, a fee may be charged to the
complainant.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

Sec. 8-157. Fees.

Fees for registration of rental units and penalties shall be established by resolution. The fee
schedule shall be available to the public from the city clerk. Any unpaid inspection fees shall
become a lien on the property and collected as provided by law.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

http://library.municode.com/print.aspx ?h=&clientID=11830&HTMRequest=http%3a%2{%... 2/5/2014



Municode Page 4 of 4

Sec. 8-158. Violations.

(a) If the owner or owner's representative does not correct a violation of any provision of this
article, the building inspector may bring an action to seek the enforcement of this article by
an appropriate legal remedy. Any structure not in compliance with this article is deemed a
nuisance.

(b)  Any owner or owner's representative of a rental dwelling unit who violates any section of this
article for the first offense shall be responsible for a municipal civil infraction as provided for
in_section 1-8 of this Code with the fines as stated in subsection (c) below.

() The fines for municipal civil infractions for violating this article shall be: Two hundred dollars
($200.00) per occurrence for the first offense; four hundred dollars ($400.00) for a second
offense if it occurs within two (2) years of the prior offense even if it occurs at the same time
as the prior offense. Each day that a violation continues shall be a separate offense.

(d)  The building inspector, building official, code enforcement officer and any other person
designated by the city manager are hereby designated as the authorized individuals to issue
municipal civil infraction citations for violations of this article.

(e) In addition to any penalties imposed by law, a finding of responsibility by the court for a
violation of this article, the city shall be entitled to immediately revoke any existing certificate
of compliance and shall entitle the city to seek the issuance of a court order compelling the
eviction of all persons and property upon the premises until a certificate of compliance is
issued by the city.

(f) An owner or owner's representative may be charged with more than one (1) violation of the
provisions of this article in a single complaint or municipal civil infraction, provided that each
violation so charged relates to the same property.

(Ord. No. 704, § 1, 3-16-09)

Sec. 8-159. Reserved.

FOOTNOTE(S):

— (5) -
Editor's note— Ord. No. 704, § 1, adopted March 16, 2009, amended article VIl in its entirety to read as herein set
out. Former article VI, §§ 8-151—8-154, pertained to similar subject matter. (Back)

http://library.municode.com/print.aspx ?h=&clientID=11830&HTMRequest=http%3a%2{%... 2/5/2014



A MEMBER OF THE INTERNATIONAL CODE FAMILY®

AN
N\
, 1 1\
® —
INTERNATIONAL
CODE COUNCIE

INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE CODE"

Receive FREE updates, excerpts of code references, technical
articles, and more when you register your code book. Go to

www.iccsafe.org/CodesPlus today!

=
O
]
=



2009 International Property Maintenance Code®

First Printing: January 2009
Second Printing: May 2009
Third Printing: March 2010

ISBN: 978-1-58001-740-4 (soft-cover edition)

COPYRIGHT © 2009
by
INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL, INC.

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. This 2009 International Property Maintenance Code® is a copyrighted worl owned by the Interna-
tional Code Council, Inc. Without advance written permission from the copyright owner, no part of this book may be reproduced,
distributed or transmitted in any form or by any means, including, without limitation, electronie, optical or mechanical means (by
way of example, and not limitation, photocopying or recording by or in an information storage retrieval system). For information on
permission to copy material exceeding fair use, please contact: Publications, 4051 West Flossmoor Road, Country Clab Hills, IT.
60478. Phone 1-888-ICC-SAFE (422-7233).

Trademarks: “International Code Council,” the “Tnternational Code Council” logo and the “International Property Maintenance
Code” are trademarks of the International Code Council, Inc.

PRINTED IN THE U.S.A.



PREFACE

Introduction

Internationally, code officials recognize the need for amodern, up-to-date property maintenance code governing the maintenance of
existing buildings. The International Property Maintenance Code®, in this 2009 edition, is designed to meet this need through
model code regulations that contain clear and specific property maintenance requirements with required property improvement pro-
visions.

This 2009 edition is fully compatible with all Infernational Codes® (I-Codes®) published by the International Code Council
(ICOY®, including the Infernational Building Code®, International Energy Conservation Code®, International Existing Building
Code®, International Fire Code®, International Fuel Gas Code®, International Mechanical Code®, ICC Performance Code®, Inter-
national Plumbing Code®, International Private Sewage Disposal Code®, International Residential Code®, International
Wildland-Urban Interface Code™ and International Zoning Code®.

The International Property Maintenance Code provisions provide many benefits, among which is the model code development
process that offers an international forum for code officials and other interested parties to discuss performance and prescriptive code
requirentents. This forum provides an excellent arena to debate proposed revisions. This model code also encourages international
consistency in the application of provisions.

Development

The first edition of the International Property Maintenance Code (1998) was the culmination of an effort initiated in 1996 by a code
development committee appointed by ICC and consisting of representatives of the three statutory members of the International
Code Council at that time, including: Building Officials and Code Administrators International, Inc. (BOCA), International Con-
ference of Building Officials (ICBO) and Southern Building Code Congress International (SBCCI). The committee drafted a com-
prehensive set of regulations for existing buildings that was consistent with the existing model property maintenance codes at the
time, This 2009 edition presents the code as originally issued, with changes reflected through the previous 2006 editions and further
changes developed through the ICC Code Development Process through 2008. A new edition of the code 1s promulgated every three
years.

This code i1s founded on principles intended to establish provisions consistent with the scope of a property maintenance code that
adequately protects public health, safety and welfare; provisions that do not unnecessarily increase construction costs; provisions
that do not restrict the use of new materials, products or methods of construction; and provisions that do not give preferential treat-
ment to particular types or classes of materials, products or methods of construction.

Adoption

The international Property Maintenance Code is available for adoption and use by jurisdictions internationally. Its use within a
governmental jurisdiction is intended to be accomplished through adoption by reference in accordance with proceedings estab-
lished in the jurisdiction’s laws. At the time of adoption, jurisdictions should insert the appropriate information in provisions requir-
ing specific local information, such as the name of the adopting jurisdiction. These locations are shown in bracketed words in small
capital letters in the code and in the sample ordinance. The sample adoption ordinance on page vii addresses several key elements of
a code adoption ordinance, including the information required for insertion into the code text.

Maintenance

The International Property Maintenance Code is kept up to date through the review of proposed changes submitted by code enforc-
ing officials, industry representatives, design professionals and other interested parties. Proposed changes are carefully considered
through an open code development process in which all interested and affected parties may participate.

The contents of this work are subject to change both through the Code Development Cycles and the governmental body that
enacts the code into law. For more information regarding the code development process, contact the Codes and Standards Develop-
ment Department of the International Code Council.

While the development procedure of the International Property Maintenance Code ensures the highest degree of care, ICC, its
membership and those participating in the development of this code do not accept any liability resulting from compliance or non-
compliance with the provisions because ICC does not have the power or authority to police or enforce compliance with the contents
of this code. Only the governmental body that enacts the code into law has such authority.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE® iili



Leiier Designations in Front of Seciion Numbers

In each code development cycle, proposed changes to this code are considered at the Code Development Hearings by the ICC Prop-
erty Maintenance/Zoning Code Development Committee, whose action conslitutes a recommendation to the voting membership
for final action on the proposed changes. Proposed changes to a code section having a number beginning with a letter in brackets are
considered by a different code development comunittee. For example, proposed changes o code sections that have the letter [F] in
front of them (e.g., |F] 704.1) are considered by the International Fire Code Development Committee at the Code Development
Hearings.

The content of sections in this code that begin with a letter designation are maintained by another code development committee in
accordance with the following:

[F] = International Fire Code Development Committee;
[F] = International Plumbing Code Development Committee; and
[B] = International Building Code Development Committee.

Marginal Markings

Salid vertical lines in the margins within the body of the code indicating a technical change from the requirements of the previous
edition. Peletion indicators in the form of an arrow (=) are provided in the margin where an entire section, paragraph, exception or
tahle has been deleted or an item in a list of items or a table has been deleted.

ltalicized Terms

Selected terms set forth in Chapter 2, Definitions, are italicized where they appear in code text. Such terms are not italicized where
the definition set forth in Chapter 2 does not impart the intended meaning in the use of the term. The terms selected have definitions
which the user should read carefully to facilitate better understanding of the code.

by 2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTEMANCE CODE®



Effective Use of the International Property Maintenance Code

The International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) is a model code that regulates the minimom maintenance requirements for
existing buildings.

The IPMC is a maintenance document intended to establish minimum maintenance standards for basic equipment, light, ventila-
tion, heating, sanitation and fire safety. Responstbility is fixed among owners, operators and occupants for code compliance. The
IPMC provides for the regulation and safe use of existing structures in the interest of the social and economic welfare of the commu-
nity.

Arrangement and Format of the 2009 IPMC

Before applying the requirements of the IPMC itis beneficial to understand its arrangement and format. The IPMC, like other codes
published by ICC, is arranged and organized to follow sequential steps that generally occur during an inspection. The IPMC is
divided into eight different parts:

Chapters Subjects
1 Administration
2 Definitions
3 General Requirements
4 Light, Ventilation and Occupancy Limitations
5 Plumbing Facilities and Fixture Requirements
6 Mechanical and Electrical Requirements
7 Fire Safety Requirements
8 Referenced Standards

The following is a chapter-by-chapter synopsis of the scope and intent of the provisions of the International Property Maintenance
Code:

Chapter 1 Administration. This chapter contains provisions for the application, enforcement and administration of subsequent
requirements of the code. In addition to establishing the scope of the code, Chapter 1 identifies which buildings and structures come
under its purview. Chapter 1 is largely concerned with maintaining “due process of law” in enforcing the property maintenance cri-
teria contained in the body of the code. Only through careful observation of the administrative provisions can the building official
reasonably expect to demonstrate that “equal protection under the law” has been provided.

Chapter 2 Definitions. All terms that are defined in the code are listed alphabetically in Chapter 2. While a defined term may be
used in one chapter or another, the meaning provided in Chapter 2 is applicable throughout the code.

Where understanding of a term’s definition is especially key to or necessary for understanding of a particular code provision, the
term is show initalics wherever it appears in the code. This is true only for those terms that have a meaning that is unique to the code.
In other words, the generally understood meaning of a term or phrase might not be sufficient or consistent with the meaning pre-
scribed by the code; therefore, it is essential that the code-defined meaning be known.

Guidance regarding tense, gender and plurality of defined terms as well as guidance regarding terms not defined in this code is
provided.

Chapter 3 General Requirements. Chapter 3, “General Requirements,” is broad in scope. It includes a variety of requirernents for
the exterior property areas as well as the interior and exterior elements of the structure. This chapter provides requirements that are
intended to maintain a minimum level of safety and sanitation for both the general public and the occupants of a structure, and to
maintain a building’s structural and weather-resistance performance. Chapter 3 provides specific criteria for regulating the installa-
tion and maintenance of specific building components; maintenance requirements for vacant structures and land; requirements reg-
ulating the safety, sanitation and appearance of the interior and exterior of structures and all exterior property areas; accessory
structures; vehicle storage regulations and establishes who is responsible for complying with the chapter’s provisions. This chapter
also contains the requirements for swimming pools, spas and hot tubs and the requirements for protective barriers and gatesin these

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE® v



barriers. Chapter 3 establishes the responsible parties for exterminating insects and rodents, and maintaining sanitary conditions in
all types of occupancies.

Chapter 4 Light, Ventilation and Occupancy Limitations. The purpose of Chapter 4 is to set forth these requirements in the code
and to establish the minimum environment for occupiable and habitable buildings, by establishing the minimum criteria for light
and ventilation and identifies occupancy limitations including minimum room width and area, minimum ceiling height and restric-
tions to prevent overcrowding. This chapter also provides for alternative arrangements of windows and other devices to comply with
the requirements for light and ventilation and prohibits certain room arrangements and occupancy nses.

Chapter 5 Plumbing Facilities and Fixture Requirements, Chapter 5 establishes the minimum criteria for the installation, main-
tenance and location of plumbing systems and facilities, including the water supply system, water heating appliances, sewage dis-
posal system and related platbing fixtures.

Sanitary and clean conditions in occupied buildings are dependent upon certain basic plumbing principles, including providing
potable water to a building, providing the basic fixtures to effectively utilize that water and properly removing waste from the build-
ing. Chapter 5 establishes the minimum criteria to verify that these principles are maintained throughout the life of a building.

Chapter 6 Mechanical and Electrical Requirements. The purpose of Chapter 6 is to establish minimum performance require-
ments for heating, electrical and mechanical facilities and to establish minimum standards for the safety of these facilities.

This chapter establishes minimum criteria for the installation and maintenance of the following: heating and air-conditioning
equipment, appliances and their supporting systems; water-heating equipment, appliances and systems; cooking equipment and
appliances; ventilation and exhaust equipment; gas and liquid fuel distribution piping and components; fireplaces and solid
fuel-burning appliances; chimneys and vents; electrical services; lighting fixtures; electrical receptacle outlets; electrical distribu-
tion system equipment, devices and wiring; and elevators, escalators and dumbwaiters.

Chapter 7 Five Safety Requirements. The purpose of Chapter 7 is to address those fire hazards that arise as the result of a build-
ing’s occupancy. It also provides minimum requirements for fire safety issues that are most likely to arise in older buildings.

This chapter contains requirements for means of egress in existing buildings, including path of travel, required egress width,
means of egress doors and emergency escape openings.

Chapter 7 establishes the minimum requirements for fire safety facilities and fire protection systems, as these are essential fire
safety systems.

Chapter 8 Referenced Standards. The code contains numerous references to standards that are used to regulate materials and
methods of construction. Chapter 8 contains a comprehensive list of all standards that are referenced in the code. The standards are
part of the code to the extent of the reference to the standard. Compliance with the referenced standard is necessary for compliance
with this code. By providing specifically adopted standards, the construction and installation requirements necessary for compli-
ance with the code can be readily determined. The basis for code compliance is, therefore, established and available on an equal
basis to the code official, contractor, designer and owner.

Chapter 8 is organized in a manner that makes it easy to locate specific standards. Itlistsall of the referenced standards, alphabeti-
cally, by acronym of the promulgating agency of the standard. Each agency’s standards are then listed in either alphabetical or
numeric order based upon the standard identification. The lst also contains the title of the standard; the edition (date) of the stan-
dard referenced; any addenda included as part of the ICC adoption; and the section or sections of this code that reference the stan-
dard.

vi 2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



ORDINANCE

The International Codes are designed and promulgated to be adopted by reference by ordinance. Jurisdictions wishing to adopt the
2009 International Property Maintenance Code as an enforceable regulation governing existing structures and premises should
ensure that certain factual information is included in the adopting ordinance at the time adoption is being considered by the appro-
priate governmental body. The following sample adoption ordinance addresses several key elements of a code adoption ordinance,
including the information required for insertion into the code text.

SAMPLE ORDINANCE FOR ADOPTION OF
THE INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE
ORDINANCE NO.

An ordinance of the [JURISDICTION] adopting the 2009 edition of the Infernational Property Maintenance Code, regulating and
governing the conditions and maintenance of all property, buildings and strictures; by providing the standards for supplied utilities
and facilities and other physical things and conditions essential to ensure that structures are safe, sanitary and fit for occupation and
use; and the condemnation of buildings and structures unfit for human occupancy and use, and the demolition of such existing struc-
tures in the [JURISDICTION]; providing for the issuance of permits and collection of fees therefor; repealing Ordinance No.

of the [JURISDICTION] and all other ordinances and parts of the crdinances in conflict therewith.

The [GOVERNING BODY] of the [JURISDICTION] does ordain as follows:

Section 1. That a certain document, three (3) copies of which are on file in the office of the [TITLE OF JURISDICTION'S KEEPER OF
RECORDS] of [NAME OF JURISDICTION], being marked and designated as the International Property Maintenance Code, 2009 edi-
tion, as published by the International Code Council, be and is hereby adopted as the Property Maintenance Code of the [JURISDIC-
TION], in the State of [STATE NAME] for regulating and governing the conditions and maintenance of all property, buildings and
stactures; by providing the standards for supplied utilities and facilities and other physical things and conditions essential to ensure
that structures are safe, sanitary and fit for occupation and use; and the condemnation of buildings and structures unfit for human
occupancy and use, and the demolition of such existing structures as herein provided; providing for the issuance of permits and col-
lection of fees therefor; and each and all of the regulations, provisions, penalties, conditions and terms of said Property Maintenance
Code on file in the office of the [JURISDICTION] are hereby referred to, adopted, and made a part hereof, as if fully set out in this ordi-
nance, with the additions, insertions, deletions and changes, if any, presciibed in Section 2 of this ordinance.

Section 2. The following sections ave hereby revised:
Section 101.1. Insert; [NAME OF JURISDICTION]
Section 103.5. Insert: [APPROPRIATE SCHEDULE]
Section 112.4, Tnsert: [DOLLAR AMOUNT IN TWO LOCATIONS]
Section 302.4. Insert; [HEIGHT IN INCHES]
Section 304.14. Insert: [DATES IN TWO LOCATIONS]
Section 602.3, Insert: [DATES IN TWO LOCATIONS]
Section 602.4. Insert: [DATES IN TWO LOCATIONS]

Section 3. That Ordinance No. of [JURISDICTION] entitled [FILL IN HERE THE COMPLETE TITLE OF THE ORDINANCE OR
ORDINANCES IN EFFECT AT THE PRESENT TIME SO THAT THEY WILL BE REPEALED BY DEFINITE MENTION] and all other ordinances
or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.

Section 4. That if any section, subsection, senfence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is, for any reason, held to be unconstitutional,
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance. The [GOVERNING BODY] hereby declares that it
would have passed this ordinance, and each section, subsection, clanse or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more
sections, subsections, sentences, clauses and phrases be declared unconstitutional,

Section 5. That nothing in this ordinance or in the Property Maintenance Code hereby adopted shall be construed to affect any suit
or proceeding impending in any court, or any rights acquired, or liability incurred, or any cause or causes of action acquired or exist-
ing, under any act or ordinance hereby repealed as cited in Section 3 of this ordinance; nor shall any just or legal right or remedy of
any character be lost, impaired or affected by this ordinance.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE® vii



Section 6. That the [JURISDICTION'S KEEPER OF RECORDS] is hereby ordered and directed to cause this ordinance to be published.
(An additional provision may be required to direct the number of times the ordinance is to be published and to specify thatitis to be
in a newspaper in general circulation. Posting may also be required.)

Seciton 7. That this ordinance and the rules, regulations, provisions, requirements, orders and matters established and adopted
hereby shall take effect and be in full force and etffect [TIME PERIOD] from and after the date of its final passage and adoption.

viii 2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER1 ADMINISTRATION ........couuuns 1
PART 1—SCOPE AND APPLICATION ............ 1
Section
PR UERRBGAL: o mon: Sisie s Toim S50 Tt e D o v v v e e s 1-
102 Applicability ........... ... ... il 1
PART 2—ADMINISTRATION AND
ENFORCEMENT ......ccoivninninaann, 2

103  Department of Property Maintenance

ISPECHION ¢lerd n bhat's 5ol mvia e e « v v v e v o - 2
104  Duties and Powers of the Code Official......... 2
105 Approval......... . ... i 2
106:  VIOMAITDIS & 500 e 3 aaa i vm e S 0ki0s 3 Galitbie o v v e e e e 3
107 Noticesand Orders . .......... ..o .. 3
108  Unsafe Structures and Equipment . ............ 4
109 Emergency Measures. . ... ........couvunon. .. 5
110 DPemolition .. ......vei i 5
111 Meansof Appeal .......... .. ... . 6
112 StopWork Order .. ... it 6
CHAPTER 2 DEFINITIONS ......ccovivenaenenn. 9
Section
200 GEOBRHLE & qar s g EAE - e e e 9
202 General Definitions . ... i, 9
CHAPTER 3 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS ..... 11
Section
o 1013 I 11 =) 7 S e e 11
302  Exterior Property Areas..................... 11
303  Swimming Pools, Spas and Hot Tubs ......... 11
304  Exterior Structure . ............. .. ... ... 12
305 Interior Structure..............ooiiiiann.. 13
306 Component Serviceability. .................. 14
307 Handrails and Guardrails ................... 15
308 Rubbishand Garbage ...................... 15
309 PestElimination........................... 15

CHAPTER 4 LIGHT, VENTILATION AND

OCCUPANCY LIMITATIONS. ..... 17
Section
401 General........ ... .. ... . e 17
402 Light... . .. 17
403 Ventilation . ........ ..t 17

2009 INTERMATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

404  Qccupancy Limitations . .................... 17

CHAPTER 5 PLUMBING FACILITIES AND

FIXTURE REQUIREMENTS ...... 19
Section
501 General. . ... e 19
502  Required Facilities. . ............... ... .. 19
503 Toilet Rooms ..o e 19
504  Plumbing Systems and Fixfures .............. 19
505 Water System. .. ...t 19
506  Sanitary Drainage System................... 20
5307  Storm Drainage ....... .. .. .. .. 20
CHAPTER 6 MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL

REQUIREMENTS ................ 21
Section
601  General.... ... .. .. 21
602  Heating Facilities. . ... ... ..vovereneeeeannn. 21
603  Mechanical Equipment . .................... 21
604  Electrical Facilities ........................ 21
605  Electrical Equipment. .. .................... 22
606  Elevators, Escalators and Dumbwaiters........ 22
007 Duct Syslems . ..ot vt 23

CHAPTER 7 FIRE SAFETY

REQUIREMENTS ................ 25

Section
TO1  General. ... ... .ot e 25
702 Meansof Bgress. ......... ... i 25
703  Fire-resistance Ratings ..................... 25
704  Fire Protection Systems. . . .................. 25
CHAPTER § REFERENCED STANDARDS...... 27
APPENDIX A BOARDING STANDARD.......... 29

Section
AT0L General.......oo it 29
A T02 Materials, ... ..o 29
A 103 Installation . .. ... .o i e 29
INDEX . . i ttaeatentirientssnsaracnannnnns 31
ix



2008 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 1
SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION

B PART 1—SCOPE AND APPLICATION

SECTION 101
GENERAL

101.1 Title. These regulations shall be known as the Inferna-
tional Property Maintenance Code of [NAME OF JURISDIC-
TION], hereinafter referred to as “this code.”

101.2 Scope. The provisions of this code shall apply to all
existing residential and nonresidential structures and all exist-
ing premises and constitute minimum requirements and stan-
dards for premises, structures, equipment and facilities for
light, ventilation, space, heating, sanitation, protection from
the elements, life safety, safety from fire and other hazards, and
for safe and sanitary maintenance; the responsibility of owners,
operators and occupants; the occupancy of existing structures
and premises, and for administration, enforcement and penal-
ties.

101.3 Intent. This code shall be construed to secure ifs
expressed intent, which is to ensure public health, safety and
welfare insofar as they are affected by the continued occupancy
and maintenance of structures and preniises. Existing struc-
tures and premises that do not comply with these provisions
shall be altered or repaired to provide a minimum level of
health and safety as required herein.

101.4 Severability. If a section, subsection, sentence, clause or
phrase of this code is, for any reason, held to be unconstitu-
tional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remain-
ing portions of this code.

SECTION 102
APPLICABILITY

102.1 General. Where there is a conflict between a general
requirement and a specific requirement, the specific require-
ment shall govern. Where differences occur between provi-

“sions of this code and the referenced standards, the provisions
of this code shall apply. Where, in a specific case, different sec-
tions of this code specify different requirements, the most
restrictive shall govern.

102.2 Maintenance. Equipment, systems, devices and.

safeguards required by this code or a previous regulation or
code under which the structure or premises was constructed,
altered or repaired shall be maintained in good working order.
No owner, operator or occupant shall cause any service, facil-
ity, equipment or utility which is required under this section to
be removed from or shut off from or discontinued for any occu-
pied dwelling, except for such temporary interruption as neces-
sary while repairs or alterations are in progress. The
requirements of this code are not intended to provide the basis
for removal or abrogation of fire protection and safety systems
and devices in existing structures. Except as otherwise speci-
fied herein, the owner or the owner’s designated agent shall be

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

responsible for the maintenance of buildings, structures and
premises.

102.3 Application of other codes. Repairs, additions or alter-
ations to a structure, or changes of occupancy, shall be done in
accordance with the procedures and provisions of the Inferna-
tional Building Code, International Fuel Gas Code, Interna-
tional Mechanical Code and NFPA 70. Nothing in this code
shall be construed to cancel, modify or set aside any provision
of the International Zoning Code.

102.4 Existing remedies. The provisions in this code shall not
be construed to abolish or impair existing remedies of the juris-
diction or its officers or agencies relating fo the removal or
demolition of any structure which is dangerous, unsafe and
insanitary.

102.5 Workmanship. Repairs, maintenance work, alterations
or installations which are caused directly or indirectly by the
enforcement of this code shall be executed and installed in a
workmanlike manner and installed in accordance with the man-
ufacturer’s installation instructions.

102.6 Historic buildings. The provisions of this code shall not
be mandatory for existing buildings or structures designated as
historic buildings when such buildings or structures are judged
by the code official to be safe and in the public interest of
health, safety and welfare.

102.7 Referenced codes and standards. The codes and stan-
dards referenced in this code shall be those that are listed in
Chapter 8 and considered part of the requirements of this code
to the prescribed extent of each such reference. Where differ-
ences occur between provisions of this code and the referenced
standards, the provisions of this code shall apply.

Exception: Where enforcement of a code provision would
violate the conditions of the listing of the equipment or
appliance, the conditions of the listing shall apply.

102.8 Requirements not covered by code. Requirements nec-
essary for the strength, stability or proper operation of an exist-
ing fixture, structure or equipment, or for the public safety,
health and general welfare, not specifically covered by this
code, shall be determined by the code official.

102.9 Application of references. References to chapter or sec-
tion numbers, or to provisions not specifically identified by
number, shall be construed to refer to such chapter, section or
provision of this code.

102.10 Other laws. The provisions of this code shall not be
deemed to nullify any provisions of local, state or federal law.




f
-

SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION

PART 2—ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

SECTION 103
DEPARTMENT OF PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE INSPECTION

103.1 Gewneral. The department of property maintenance
inspection is hereby created and the executive official in charge
thereof shall be known as the code official.

103.2 Appoiniment. The code official shall be appointed by
the chief appointing authority of the jurisdiction.

103.3 Deputies. In accordance with the prescribed procedures
of this jurisdiction and with the concurrence of the appointing
authority, the code official shall have the authority to appoint a
deputy(s). Such employees shall have powers as delegated by
the code official.

103.4 Liability. The code official, member of the board of
appeals or employee charged with the enforcement of this
code, while acting for the jurisdiction, in good faith and with-
out malice in the discharge of the duties required by this code or
other pertinent law or ordinance, shall not thereby be rendered
liable personally, and is hereby relieved from all personal lia-
bility for any damage accruing to persons or property as aresult
of an act or by reason of an act or omission in the discharge of
official duties. Any suit instituted against any officer or
employee because of an act performed by that officer or
employee in the lawful discharge of duties and under the provi-
sions of this code shall be defended by the legal representative
of the jurisdiction until the final termination of the proceed-
ings. The code official or any subordinate shall not be liable for
costs in an action, suit or proceeding that is instituted in pursu-
ance of the provisions of this code.

103.5 Yees. The fees for activities and services performed by
the department in carrying out its responsibilities under this
code shall be as indicated in the following schedule.

[JURISDICTION TQ INSERT APPROPRIATE SCHEDULE. |

SECTION 104
DUTIES AND POWERS OF THE CODE OFFICIAL

104.1 General. The code official is hereby authorized and
directed to enforce the provisions of this code. The code official
shall have the authority to render interpretations of this code
and to adopt policies and procedures in order to clarify the
application of its provisions. Such interpretations, policies and
procedures shall be in compliance with the intent and purpose
of this code. Such policies and procedures shall not have the
effect of waiving requirements specifically provided for in this
code.

104.2 Inspections. The code official shall make all of the
required inspections, or shall accept reports of inspection by
approved agencies or individuals. All reports of such inspec-
tions shall be in writing and be certified by aresponsible officer
of such approved agency or by the responsible individual. The
code official is authorized to engage such expert opinion as

deemed necessary to report upon unusual technical issues that
arise, subject to the approval of the appointing authority.

104.3 Right of entry. Where it is necessary to make an inspec-
tion to enforce the provisions of this code, or whenever the
code official has reasonable canse to believe that there exists in
a structure O 0pon a premises a condition in violation of this
code, the code official is authorized to enter the structure or pre-
mises at reasonable times to inspect or perform the duties
imposed by this code, provided that if such structure or pre-
mises is occupied the code official shall present credentials to
the occupant and request entry. If such structure or premises is
unoccupied, the code official shall first make a reasonable
effort to locate the owner or other person having charge or con-
trol of the structure or premises and request entry. If entry is
refused, the code official shall have recourse to the remedies
provided by law to secure entry.

104.4 Ydentification. The code official shall carry proper iden-
tification when inspecting strucfires ot premises in the perfor-
mance of duties under this code.

104.5 Notices and orders. The code official shall issue all nec-
essary notices or orders to ensure compliance with this code.

104.6 Department records. The code official shall keep offi-
cial records of all business and activities of the department
specified in the provisions of this code, Such records shall be
retained in the official records for the period required for reten-
tion of public records.

SECTION 105
APPROVAL

105.1 Modifications. Whenever there are practical difficulties
involved in carrying out the provisions of this code, the code
official shall have the authority to grant modifications for indi-
vidual cases upon application of the owner or owner’s repre-
sentative, provided the code official shall first find that special
individual reason makes the strict letter of this code impractical
and the modification is in compliance with the intent and pur-
pose of this code and that such modification does not lessen
health, life and fire safety requirements. The details of action
granting modifications shall be recorded and entered in the
department files.

105.2 Alternative materials, methods and equipment. The
provisions of this code are not intended to prevent the instafla-
tion of any material or to prohibit any method of construction
not specifically prescribed by this code, provided that any such
alternative has been approved. An alternative material or
method of construction shall be approved where the code offi-
cial finds that the proposed design is satisfactory and complies
with the intent of the provisions of this code, and that the mate-
rial, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, at
least the equivalent of that prescribed in this code in quality,
strength, effectiveness, fire resistance, durability and safety.

105.3 Required testing. Whenever there is insufficient evi-
dence of compliance with the provisions of this code, or evi-
dence that a material or method does not conform to the
requirements of this code, or in order to substantiate claims for

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



alternative materials or methods, the code official shall have the
authority to require tests to be made as evidence of compliance
at no expense to the jurisdiction.

105.3.1 Test methods. Test methods shall be as specified in
this code or by other recognized test standards. In the
absence of recognized and accepted test methods, the code
official shall be permitted to approve appropriate testing
procedures performed by an approved agency.

105.3.2 Test reports. Reports of tests shall be retained by
the code official for the period required for retention of pub-
lic records.

105.4 Used material and equipment. The use of used materi-
als which meet the requirements of this code for new materials
is permitted. Materials, equipment and devices shall not be
reused unless such elements are in good repair or have been
reconditioned and tested when necessary, placed in good and
proper working condition and approved by the code official.

105.5 Approved materials and equipment. Materials, equip-
ment and devices approved by the code official shall be con-
structed and installed in accordance with such approval.

105.6 Research reports. Supporting data, where necessary to
assistin the approval of materials or assemblies not specifically
provided for in this code, shall consist of valid research reports
from approved sources.

SECTION 106
VIOLATIONS

106.1 Unlawful acts. It shall be unlawful for a person, firm or
corporation to be in conflict with or in violation of any of the
provisions of this code.

106.2 Notice of violation. The code official shall serve a notice
of violation or order in accordance with Section 107.

106.3 Prosecution of vielation. Any person failing to comply
with a notice of violation or order served in accordance with
Section 107 shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor or civil
infraction as determined by the local municipality, and the vio-
Iation shall be deemed a strict liability offense. If the notice of
violation is not complied with, the code official shall institute
the appropriate proceeding at law or in equity to restrain, cor-
rect or abate such violation, or to require the removal or termi-
nation of the unlawful occupancy of the structure in violation
of the provisions of this code or of the order or direction made
pursuant thereto. Any action taken by the authority having
jurisdiction on such premises shall be charged against the real
estate upon which the structure is located and shall be a lien
upon such real estate.

106.4 Violation penalties. Any person who shall violate a pro-
vision of this code, or fail to comply therewith, or with any of
the requirernents thereof, shall be prosecuted within the limits
provided by state or local laws. Each day that a violation con-
tinues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a sepa-
rate offense.

106.5 Abatement of violation. The imposition of the penalties
herein prescribed shall not preclude the legal officer of the
jurisdiction from instituting appropriate action to restrain, cor-

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION

rect or abate a violation, or to prevent illegal occupancy of a
building, structure or premises, or to stop an illegal act, con-
duct, business or utilization of the building, structure or pre-
mises.

SECTION 107
NOTICES AND ORDERS

107.1 Notice to person responsible. Whenever the code offi-
cial determines that there has been a violation of this code or
has grounds to believe that a violation has occurred, notice
shall be given in the manner prescribed in Sections 107.2 and
107.3 to the persen responsible for the violation as specified in
this code. Notices for condemnation procedures shall also
comply with Section 108.3.

107.2 Form. Such notice prescribed in Section 107.1 shall be
in accordance with all of the following:

1. Be in writing.
2. Include a description of the real estate sufficient for iden-
tification.

3. Include a statement of the violation or violations and
why the notice is being issued.

4. Include a correction order allowing a reasonable time to
make the repairs and improvements required to bring the
dwelling unit or structure into compliance with the provi-
sions of this code.

5. Inform the property owner of the right to appeal.

6. Include a statement of the right to file a lien in accor-
dance with Section 106.3.

107.3 Method of service. Such notice shall be deemed to be
properly served if a copy thereof is:

1. Delivered personally;

2. Sent by certified or first-class mail addressed to the last
known address; or

3. If the notice is returned showing that the letter was not
delivered, a copy thereof shall be posted in a conspicuous
place in or about the structure affected by such notice.

107.4 Unauthorized tampering. Signs, tags or seals posted or
affixed by the code official shall not be mutilated, destroyed or
tampered with, or removed without authorization from the
code official.

107.5 Penalties. Penalties for noncompliance with orders and
notices shall be as set forth in Section 106.4.

107.6 Transfer of ownership. It shall be unlawful for the
owner of any dwelling unit or structure who has received a
compliance order or upon whom a notice of violation has been
served to sell, transfer, mortgage, lease or otherwise dispose of
such dwelling unit or structure to another until the provisions of
the compliance order or notice of violation have been complied
with, or until such owner shall first furnish the grantee, trans-
feree, mortgagee or lessee a true copy of any compliance order
or notice of violation issued by the code official and shall fur-
nish to the code official a signed and nofarized statement from
the prantee, transferee, mortgagee or lessee, acknowledging
the teceipt of such compliance order or notice of violation and

3



SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION

fully accepting the responsibility without condition for making
the corrections or repairs required by such compliance order or
notice of vielation.

likely to partially or completely collapse, or to
become detached or dislodged.

4. Any portion of a building, or any member, appurte-
nance ot ornamentation on the exterior thereof that
is not of sufficient strength or stability, or is not so

SECTION 108 anchored, attached or fastened in place so as to be
UNSAFE STRUCTURES AND EQUIPMENT capable of resisting natural or artificial loads of one
108.1 General. When a stricture or equipment is found by the and one-half the original designed value.
code official to be unsafe, or when a structure is found unfit for 5. The building or structure, or part of the building or
human eccupancy, or is found unlawful, such structure shall be structure, because of dilapidation, deterioration,
cordemned pursuant to the provisions of this code. decay, faulty construction, the removal or move-
108.1.1 Unsafe strucinres. An nnsafe structure is one that THEGE sc-)me-p.ortr;on o th.e‘ grounq DRk fo_r
is found to be dangerous to the life, health, property or the SUPE ?lt’ 24 t?ﬁ ek 0th§1 1ez%son, b hk‘elly Al
safety of the public or the occupants of the structure by not F1al[y i .“0”11?1“6 Y C.Olkfpbe’ ettt UOD‘ 9f_the
providing minimum safeguards to protect or warn occu- fOUI]FIatl{Oll o undgrpmn‘mg of the building or strue-
pants in the event of fire, or because such structure contains tare is likely to fail or give way.
unsafe equipment or is so damaged, decayed, dilapidated, 6. The building or structure, or any portion thereof, is
structurally unsafe or of such faulty construction or unstable clearly unsafe for its use and occupancy.
foundation, that partial or complete collapse is possible, 7. The building or structure is neglected, damaged,
108.1.2 Unsafe equipment. Unsafe equipment includes dilapidated, unsecured or abandoned so as to
any boiler, heating equipment, elevator, moving stairway, become an attractive nuisance to children who
electrical wiring or device, flammable liquid containers or might play in the building or structure to their dan-
other equipment on the premises or within the structure ger, becomes a harbor for vagrants, criminals or
which is in such disrepair or condition that such equipment immoral persons, or enables persons to resort to the
is a hazard to life, health, property or safety of the public or building or structure for committing a nuisance or
occupants of the premises or structure. an unlawful act.
108.1.3 Structure unfit for human occupancy. A structure 8. Any building or structure has been constructed,
is unfit for human occupancy whenever the code official exists or is maintained in violation of any specific
finds that such structure is unsafe, unlawful or, because of requirement or prohibition applicable to such build-
the degree to which the structure is in disrepair or lacks ing or structute provided by the approved building
maintenance, is insanitary, vermin or rat infested, contains or fire code of the jurisdiction, or of any Jaw or ordi-
filth and contamination, or lacks ventilation, illumination, nance to such an extent as to present either a sub-
sanitary or heating facilities or other essential equipment stantial risk of fire, building collapse or any other
required by this code, or because the location of the struc- threat to life and safety.
ture constitutes a hazard to the occupants of the structure or 9. A building or structure, used or intended to be used
to the public. for dwelling purposes, because of inadequate main-
108.1.4 Unlawful structure, An unlawful structure is one tcr.aanc?,_ d11ap1d:%t1ou, HEb Al dlam 48 faulty 'ccmf
found in whole or in part to be occupied by more persons =3 ullctlc.m o a1rapgem‘ent, 11}adequate h.ghl’
than permitted under this code, or was erected, altered or ven{zlangn, mi.:cha?ucal G g By GE
occupied contrary to law, erwise, is deLe-rmmed by the c_odg oﬁ“zc.fle to be
unsanitary, unfit for human habitation or in such a
108.1.5 Dangerous structure or premises. For the purpose . condition that s likely to cause sickness or disease.
o cient or proper fu'e-resmtanc_e-rated construction,
; fire protection systems, electrical system, fuel con-
1. Any door, aisle, passageway, stairway, exit or other nections, mechanical system, plumbing system or
means of egress that does not coonform to the other cause, is determined by the code officialtobe a
approved building or fire code of the jurisdiction as threat to life or health.
related to the requirements for existing buildings. 11. Any portion of a building remains on a site after the
2. The walking surface of any aisle, passageway, stair- demolition or destruction of the building or struc-
way, exit or other means of egress is so warped, ture or whenever any building or structure is aban-
worn loose, torn or otherwise unsafe as to not pro- doned so as to constitute such building or portion
vide safe and adequate means of egress. thereof as an attractive nuisance or hazard to the
3. Any portion of a building, structure or appurtenance puiics
that has been damaged by fire, earthquake, wind, 108.2 Closing of vacant structures. If the structure is vacant
floed, deterioration, neglect, abandonment, vandal- and unfit for human habitation and occupancy, and is not in
ism or by any other cause to such an extent that it is danger of structural collapse, the code official is authorized to

4 2009 INTERMATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANGE CODE®



post a placard of condemmation on the premises and order the
structure closed up so as not to be an aitractive nuisance, Upon
failure of the owner to close up the premises within the time
specified in the ordex, the code official shall cause the premises
to be closed and secured through any available public agency or
by contract or arrangement by private persons and the cost
thereof shall be charged against the real estate upon which the
structure is located and shall be a lien upon such real estate and
may be collected by any other legal resource.

108.2.1 Authority to disconnect service ufilities. The code
official shall have the authority to authorize disconnection
of utility service to the building, structure or system regu-
lated by this code and the referenced codes and standards set
forthin Section 102.7 in case of emergency where necessary
to eliminate an immediate hazard to life or property or when
such utility connection has been made without approval.
The code official shall notify the serving utility and, when-
ever possible, the owner and occupant of the building, struc-
ture or service system of the decision to disconnect prior to
taking such action. If not notified prior to disconnection the
owner or occupant of the building structure or service sys-
tem shall be notified in writing as soon as practical thereaf-
ter.

108.3 Notice. Whenever the code official has condenmed a
structure or equipment under the provisions of this section,
notice shall be posted in a conspicuous place in or about the
structure affected by such notice and served on the owner or the
person or persons responsible for the structure or equipment in
accordance with Section 107.3. If the notice pertains to equip-
ment, it shall also be placed on the condemned equipment. The
notice shall be in the form prescribed in Section 107.2.

108.4 Placarding. Upon failure of the owrer or person respon-
sible to comply with the notice provisions within the time
given, the code gfficial shall post on the premises or on defec-
tive equipment a placard bearing the word “Condemned” and a
statement of the penalties provided for occupying the premises,
operating the equipment or removing the placard.

108.4.1 Placard removal. The code official shall remove
the condemnation placard whenever the defect or defects
upon which the condemnation and placarding action were
based have been eliminated. Any person who defaces or
removes a condemnation placard without the approval of
the code official shall be subject to the penalties provided by
this code.

108.5 Prohibited occupancy. Any occupied structure con-
demned and placarded by the code official shall be vacated as
ordered by the code official. Any person who shall occupy a
placarded premises or shall operate placarded equipment, and
any owner or any person responsible for the premises who shall
let anyone occupy a placarded premises or operate placarded
equipment shall be liable for the penalties provided by this
code,

108.6 Abatement methods. The owner, operator or occupant
of a building, premises or equipment deemed unsafe by the
code official shall abate or cause to be abated or corrected such
unsafe conditions either by repair, rehabilitation, demolition or
other approved corrective action.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION

108.7 Record. The code official shall cause a report to be filed
on an unsafe condition. The report shall state the occupancy of
the stracture and the nature of the unsafe condition.

SECTION 109
EMERGENCY MEASURES

109.1 Imminent danger. When, in the opinion of the code offi-
cial, there is imminent danger of failure or collapse of a build-
ing or structure which endangers life, or when any structure or
part of a structure has fallen and life is endangered by the occu-
pation of the structure, or when there is actual or potential dan-
ger to the building occupants or those in the proximity of any
structure because of explosives, explosive fumes or vapeors or
the presence of toxic fumes, gases or materials, or operation of
defective or dangerous equipment, the code official is hereby
authorized and empowered to order and require the occupants
to vacate the premises forthwith. The code official shall cause
to be posted at each entrance to such structure a notice reading
as follows: “This Structure Is Unsafe and Its Qccupancy Has
Been Prohibited by the Code Official” It shall be unlawful for
any person fo enter such structure except for the purpose of
securing the structure, making the required repairs, removing
the hazardous condition or of demolishing the same.

109.2 Temporary safeguards. Notwithstanding other provi-
sions of this code, whenever, in the opinion of the code official,
there is immuinent danger due to an unsafe condition, the code
official shall order the necessary work to be done, including the
boarding up of openings, to render such structure temporarily
safe whether or not the legal procedure herein described has
been instituted; and shall cause such other action to be taken as
the code official deems necessary to meet such emergency.

109.3 Closing streets. When necessary for public safety, the
code official shall temporarily close structures and close, or

‘order the authority having jurisdiction to close, sidewalks,

streets, public ways and places adjacent to unsafe structures,
and prohibit the same from being utilized.

109.4 Emergency repairs. For the purposes of this section, the
code official shall employ the necessary [abor and materials to
perform the required work as expeditiously as possible.

109.5 Costs of emergency repairs. Costs incurred in the per-
formance of emergency work shall be paid by the jurisdiction.
The legal counsel of the jurisdiction shall institute appropriate
action against the owner of the premises where the unsafe
structure is or was located for the recovery of such costs.

109.6 Hearing. Any person ordered to take emergency mea-
sures shall comply with such order forthwith, Any affected per-
son shall thereafter, upen petition directed to the appeals board,
be afforded a hearing as described in this code.

SECTION 110
DEMOLITION

110.1 General. The code official shall order the owner of any
premises upon which is located any structure, which in the code
official judgment after review is so deteriorated or dilapidated
or has become so out of repair as to be dangerous, unsafe,
insanitary or otherwise unfit for human habitation or occu-

5




SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION

pancy, and such that itis unreasonable to repair the structure, to
demolish and remove such structure; or if such structure is
capable of being made safe by repairs, to repair and make safe
and sanitary, or to board up and hold for future repair or to
demolish and remove at the owner’s option; or where there has
been a cessation of normal construction of any structure for a
period of more than two years, the code official shall ovder the
ownerto demolish and remove such structure, or board up until
future repair. Boarding the building up for future repair shall
not extend beyond one year, unless approved by the building
official.

1190.2 Notices and orders. All notices and orders shall comply
with Section 107.

110.3 Failure to comply. If the owner of a premises fails to
comply with a demolition order within the time prescribed, the
code official shall cause the structure to be demolished and
- removed, either through an available public agency or by con-
tract or arrangement with private persons, and the cost of such
demolition and removal shall be charged against the real estate
upon which the structure is located and shall be a lien upon
such real estate.

110.4 Salvage materials. When any structure has been
ordered demolished and removed, the governing body or other
designated officer under said contract or arrangement afore-
said shall have the right to sell the salvage and valuable materi-
als at the highest price obtainable. The net proceeds of such
sale, after deducting the expenses of such demolition and
removal, shall be promptly remitted with a report of such sale
or transaction, including the items of expense and the amounts
deducted, for the person whe is entitled thereto, subject to any
order of a court. If such a surplus does not remain to be turned
over, the report shall so state.

SECTION 111
MEANS OF APPEAL

111.1 Application for appeal. Any person directly affected by
a decision of the code official or a notice or order issued under
this code shall have the right to appeal to the board of appeals,
provided that a written application for appeal is filed within 20
days after the day the decision, notice or order was served. An
application for appeal shall be based on a claim that the true
intent of this code or the rules legally adopted thereunder have
been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of this code do not
fully apply, or the requirements of this code are adequately sat-
isfied by other means.

111.2 Membership of board. The board of appeals shall con-
sist of a minimum of three members who are qualified by expe-
rience and training to pass on matters pertaining to property
maintenance and who are not employees of the jurisdiction.
The code official shall be an ex-officio member but shall have
no vote on any matter before the board. The board shall be
appointed by the chief appointing authority, and shall serve
staggered and overlapping terms.

111.2.1 Alternate members. The chief appeinting author-
ity shall appoint two or more alternate members who shall
be called by the board chairman to hear appeals during the
absence or disqualification of a member. Alternate mem-

bers shall possess the qualifications required for board
membership.

131.2.2 Chairman. The board shall annually select one of
its members to serve as chairman.

111.2.3 Disqualification of member. A member shall not
hear an appeal in which that member has a personal, profes-
sional or financial interest.

111.2.4 Secreiary. The chief administrative officer shall
designate a qualified person to serve as secretary to the
board. The secretary shall file a detailed record of all pro-
ceedings in the office of the chief administrative officer.

111.2.5 Compensatien of members. Compensation of
mermbers shall be determined by law.

111.3 Notice of meeting. The boatrd shall meet upon notice
from the chairman, within 20 days of the filing of an appeal, or
at stated periodic meetings.

111.4 Open hearing. All hearings before the board shall be
open to the public. The appellant, the appellant’s representa-
tive, the code official and any person whose interests are
affected shall be given an opportunity to be heard. A quoram
shall consist of not less than two-thirds of the board member-
ship.

111.4.1 Procedure. The board shall adopt and make avail-
able to the public through the secretary procedures under
which a hearing will be conducted. The procedures shall not
require compliance with strict rules of evidence, but shall
mandate that only relevant information be received.

111.5 Postponed hearing., When the full board is not present
to hear an appeal, either the appellant or the appellant’s repre-
sentative shall have the right to request a postponement of the
hearing.

111.6 Board decision. The board shall modify or reverse the
decision of the code official only by a concwrring vote of a
majority of the total number of appointed board members.

111.6.1 Records and copies. The decision of the board
shall be recorded. Copies shall be furnished to the appellant
and to the code official.

111.6.2 Administration. The code official shall take imme-
diate action in accordance with the decision of the board.

111.7 Court review. Any person, whether or not a previous
party of the appeal, shall have the right to apply to the appropri-
ate cowrt for a writ of certiorari to correct errors of law. Appli-
cation for review shall be made in the manner and timerequired
by law following the filing of the decision in the office of the
chief administrative officer.

111.8 Stays of enforcement. Appeals of notice and orders
(other than Imminent Danger notices) shall stay the enforce-
ment of the notice and order until the appeal is heard by the
appeals board.

SECTION 112
STOP WORK ORDER

112.1 Aunthority. Whenever the code official finds any work
regulated by this code being performed in a manner contrary to

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



the provisions of this code or in a dangerous or unsafe manner,
the code official is anthorized to issue a stop work order.

112.2 Issuance. A stop work order shall be in writing and shall
be given to the owner of the property, to the owner’s agent, or to
the person doing the work. Upon issuance of a stop work order,
the cited work shall immediately cease. The stop work order
shall state the reason for the order and the conditions under
which the cited work is authorized to resume.

112.3 Emergencies. Where an emergency exists, the code offi-
cial shall not be required to give a written notice prior to stop-
ping the work.

112.4 Yailure to comply. Any person who shall continue any
work after having been served with a stop work order, except
such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a vio-
Jation or unsafe condition, shall be liable to a fine of not less
than [AMOUNT] dollars or more than [AMOUNT] dollars.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION




2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 2
DEFINITIONS

SECTION 201
GENERAL

201.1 Scope. Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following
terms shall, for the purposes of this code, have the meanings
shown in this chapter.

201.2 Interchangeability. Words stated in the present tense
include the future; words stated in the masculine gender
include the feminine and neuter; the singular number includes
the plural and the plural, the singnlar.

201.3 Terms defined in ofther codes. Where terms are not
defined in this code and are defined in the International Build-
ing Code, International Fire Code, International Zoning Code,
International Plumbing Code, International Mechanical Code
or NFPA 70, such terms shall have the meanings ascribed to
them as stated in those codes.

201.4 Terms not defined. Where terms are not defined
through the methods authorized by this section, such terms
shall have ordinarily accepted meanings such as the context
implies.

201.5 Parts. Whenever the words “dwelling unit,” “dwelling”

“premises,” “building,” “rooming house” “rooming unit,”

“housekeeping unit” or “story” are stated in this code, they
shall be construed as though they were followed by the words
“or any part thereof.”

SECTION 202
GENERAL DEFINITIONS

ANCHORED. Secured in a manner that provides positive con-
nection.

APPROVED. Approved by the code official.

BASEMENT. That portion of a building which is partly or
completely below grade.

BATHROOM. A room containing plumbing fixtures includ-
ing a bathtub or shower.

BEDROOM. Any room or space used or intended to be used
for sleeping purposes in either a dwelling or sleeping unit.

CODE OFFICIAL. The official who is charged with the
administration and enforcement of this cede, or any duly
authorized representative.

CONDEMN. To adjudge unfit for occupancy.

DETACHED. When a structural element is physically discon-
nected from another and that connection is necessary to pro-
vide a positive connection. :

DETERIORATION. To weaken, disintegrate, corrode, rust or
decay and lose effectiveness.

[B] DWELLING UNIT. A single unit providing complete,
independent living facilities for one or more persons, including

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and
sanitation.

EASEMENT. That portion of land or property reserved for
present or future use by a person or agency other than the legal
fee owner(s) of the property. The easement shall be permitted
to be for use under, on or above a said lot or lots.

EQUIPMENT SUPPORT. Those structural members or
assemblies of members or manufactured elements, including
braces, frames, lugs, snuggers, hangers or saddles, that trans-
mit gravity load, lateral load and operating load between the
equipment and the structure. g

EXTERIOR PROPERTY. The open space on the premises
and on adjoining property under the control of owners or oper-
ators of such premises.

GARBAGE. The animal or vegetable waste resulting from the
handling, preparation, cooking and consumption of food.

GUARD. A building component or a system of building com-
ponents located at or near the open sides of elevated walking
surfaces that minimizes the possibility of a fall from the walk-
ing surface to a lower level.

HABITABLE SPACE. Space in a structure for living, sleep-
ing, eating or cooking. Bathrooms, toilet rooms, closets, halls,
storage or utility spaces, and similar areas are not considered
habitable spaces.

HOUSEKEEPING UNIT. A room or group of rooms forming
a single habitable space equipped and intended to be used for
living, sleeping, cooking and eating which does not contain,
within such a unit, a toilet, lavatory and bathtub or shower.

IMMINENT DANGER. A condition which could cause seri-
ous or life-threatening injury or death at any time.

INFESTATION, The presence, within or contiguous to, a
structure or premises of insects, rats, vermin or other pests.

INOPERABLE MOTOR VEHICLE. A vehicle which can-
not be driven upon the public streets for reason including but
not limited to being unlicensed, wrecked, abandoned, in a state
of disrepair, or incapable of being moved under its own power.

LABELED. Equipment, materials or products to which have
been affixed a label, seal, symbol or other identifying mark of a
nationally recognized testing laboratory, inspection agency or
other organization concerned with product evaluation that
maintains periodic inspection of the production of the above-
labeled items and whose labeling indicates either that the
equipment, material or product meets identified standards or
has been tested and found suitable for a specified purpose.

LET FOR OCCUPANCY OR LET. To permit, provide or
offer possession or occupancy of a dwelling, dwelling unit,
rooming unit, building, preimise or structure by a person who is
oris not the legal owner of record thereof, pursuant to a written
or unwritten lease, agreemeni or license, or pursuant to a

9




DEFINITIONS

recorded or unrecorded agreement of contract for the sale of
land.

NEGLECT. The lack of proper maintenance for a building or
Structure,

OCCUPANCY. The purpose for which a building or portion
thereof is utilized or occupied.

OCCUPANT. Any individual living or sleeping in a building,
or having possession of a space within a building.

OPENABLE AREA, That part of a window, skylight or door
which is available for unobstructed ventilation and which
opens directly to the outdoors.

OPERATOR. Any person who has charge, care or control of a
structure or premises which is let or offered for occupancy.

OWNER. Any person, agent, operator, firm or corporation
having a legal or equitable interest in the property; or recorded
in the official records of the state, county or municipality as
helding title to the property; or otherwise having control of the
property, including the guardian of the estate of any such per-
son, and the executor or administrator of the estate of such per-
son if ordered to take possession of real property by a court.

PERSON. An individual, corporation, partnership or any other
group acting as a unit.

PEST ELIMINATION. The control and elimination of
insects, rodents or other pests by eliminating their harborage
places; by removing or making inaccessible materials that
serve as their food or water; by other approved pest elimination
methods.

PREMISES. A lot, plot or parcel of land, easement or public
way, including any structures thereon.

PUBLIC WAY. Any street, alley or similar parcel of land
essentially unobstructed from the ground to the sky, which is
deeded, dedicated or otherwise permanently appropriated to
the public for public use.

ROOMING HOUSE. A building arranged or occupied for
lodging, with or without meals, for compensation and not
occupied as a one- or two-family dwelling,

ROOMING UNIT. Any room or group of rooms forming a
single habitable unit occupied or intended to be occupied for
sleeping or living, but not for cooking purposes.

RUBBISH. Combustible and noncombustible waste materials,
except garbage; the term shall include the residue from the
burning of wood, coal, coke and other combustible materials,
paper, rags, cartons, boxes, wood, excelsior, rubber, leather,
tree branches, yard trimmings, tin cans, metals, mineral matter,
glass, crockery and dust and other similar materials.

[B] SLEEPING UNIT. A room or space in which people
sleep, which can also include permanent provisions for living,
eating and either sanitation or kitchen facilities, but not both.
Such rooms and spaces that are also part of a dwelling unit are
not sleeping units.

STRICT LIABILITY OFFENSE. An offense in which the
prosecution in a legal proceeding is notrequired to prove crimi-
nal intent as a part of its case. It is enough to prove that the

10

defendant either did an act which was prohibited, or failed to do
an act which the defendant was legally required to do.

STRUCTURE. That which is built or constructed or a portion
thereof.

TENANT. A person, corporation, partnership or group,
whether or not the legal owner of record, occupying a building
or portion thereof as a unit,

TOILET ROOM. A room containing a water closet or urinal
but not a bathtub or shower,

ULTTMATE DEFORMATION. The deformation at which
failure occurs and which shall be deemed to occur if the sus-
tainable load reduces to 80 percent or less of the maximum
strength.

VENTILATTON. The natural or mechanical process of sup-
plying conditioned or unconditioned air to, or removing such
air from, any space.

WORKMANLIKE. Executed in a skilled manner; e.g., gen-
erally plumb, level, square, in line, undamaged and without
matring adjacent work.

YARD. An open space on the same lot with a structure.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 3
GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 301
GENERAL

301.1 Scope. The provisions of this chapter shall govern the
minimum conditions and the responsibilities of persons for
maintenance of structures, equipment and exterior properiy.

301.2 Responsibility. The owner of the premises shall main-
tain the structures and exterior property in compliance with
these requirements, except as otherwise provided for in this
code. A persen shall not occupy as owner-occupant or permiit
another person to occupy premises which are not in a sanitary
and safe condition and which do not comply with the require-
ments of this chapter. Occupants of a dwelling unit, rooming
unit or housckeeping unit are responsible for keeping in a
clean, sanitary and safe condition that part of the dwelling unit,
rooming unit, housekeeping unit or premises which they
occupy and control.

301.3 Vacant structures and land. All vacant structures and
premises thereof or vacant land shall be maintained in a clean,
safe, secure and sanitary condition as provided herein so as not
to cause a blighting problem or adversely affect the public
health or safety.

SECTION 302
EXTERIOR PROPERTY AREAS

302.1 Sanitation. All exterior property and premises shall be
maintained in a clean, safe and sanitary condition. The occu-
pant shall keep that part of the exterior property which such
occupant occupies or controls in a clean and sanitary condition.

302.2 Grading and drainage. All premises shall be graded
and maintained to prevent the erosion of soil and to prevent the
accumulation of stagnant water thereon, or within any structure
located thereon.

Exception: Approved retention areas and reservoirs.

302.3 Sidewalks and driveways. All sidewalks, walltways,
stairs, driveways, parking spaces and similar areas shall be kept
in a proper state of repair, and maintained free from hazardous
conditions.

302.4 Weeds. All premises and exterior property shall be main-
tained free from weeds or plant growth in excess of (jurisdic-
tion to insert height in inches). All noxions weeds shall be
prohibited. Weeds shall be defined as all grasses, annual plants
and vegetation, other than trees or shrubs provided; however,
this term shall not include cultivated flowers and gardens.

Upon failure of the owner or agent having charge of a prop-
erty to cut and destroy weeds after service of a notice of viola-
tion, they shall be subject to prosecution in accordance with
Section 106.3 and as prescribed by the anthority having juris-
diction. Upon failure to comply with the notice of violation,
any duly authorized employee of the jurisdiction or contractor
hired by the jurisdiction shall be authorized to enter upon the

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

property in violation and cut and destroy the weeds growing
thereon, and the costs of such removal shall be paid by the
owner or agent responsible for the property.

302.5 Rodent harborage. All structures and exterior property
shall be kept free from rodent harborage and infestation. Where
rodents are found, they shall be promptly exterminated by
approved processes which will not be injurious to human
health. After extermination, proper precautions shall be taken
to eliminate rodent harborage and prevent reinfestation.

302.6 Exhaust vents. Pipes, ducts, conductors, fans or blowers
shall not discharge gases, steam, vapor, hot air, grease, smoke,
odors or other gaseous or particulate wastes directly upon abut-
ting or adjacent public or private property or that of another fen-
ant.

302.7 Accessory structures. All accessory structures, includ-
ing detached garages, fences and walls, shall be maintained
structurally sound and in good repair.

302.8 Motor vehicles. Except as provided for in other regula-
tions, no inoperative or unlicensed motor vehicle shall be
parked, kept or stored on any premises, and no vehicle shall at
any time be in a state of major disassembly, disrepair, or in the
process of being stripped or dismantled. Painting of vehicles is
prohibited unless conducted inside an approved spray booth.

Exception: A vehicle of any type is permitted to undergo
major overhaul, including body work, provided that such
work is performed inside a structure or similarly enclosed
area designed and approved for such purposes.

302.9 Defacement of property. No person shall willfully or
wantonly damage, mutilate or deface any exterior suface of
any structure or building on any private or public property by
placing thereon any marking, carving or graffiti.

It shall be the responsibility of the owner to restore said sur-
face to an approved state of maintenance and repair.

SECTION 303
SWIMMING POOLS, SPAS AND HOT TUBS

303.1 Swimming pools. Swimming pools shall be maintained
in a clean and sanitary condition, and in good repair.

303.2 Enclosures. Private swimming pools, hot tubs and spas,
containing water more than 24 inches (610 mm) in depth shall
be completely surrounded by a fence or barrier at least 48
inches (1219 mm} in height above the finished ground level
measured on the side of the barrier away from the pool. Gates
and doors in such barriers shall be self-closing and self-latch-
ing. Where the self-latching device is less than 54 inches (1372
mm) above the bottom of the gate, the release mechanism shall
be located on the pool side of the gate, Self-closing and self-
latching gates shall be maintained such that the gate will posi-
tively close and latch when released from an open position of 6
inches (152 mm) from the gatepost. No existing pool enclosure

ik




GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

shall be removed, replaced or changed in a manner that reduces
its effectiveness as a safety barrier.

Exception: Spas or hot tubs with a safety cover that com-
plies with ASTM F 1346 shall be exempt from the provi-
sions of this section.

SECTION 304
EXTERIOR STRUCTURE

304.1 General, The exterior of a structure shall be maintained
in good repair, structurally sound and sanitary so as not to pose
a threat to the public health, safety or welfare.

304.1.1 Unsafe conditions. The following conditions shall
be determined as unsafe and shall be repaired or replaced to
comply with the International Building Code or the Inter-
national Existing Building Code as required for existing
buildings:

1. The nominal strength of any structural member is
exceeded by nominal loads, the load effects or the
required strength;

2. The anchorage of the floor or roof to walls or col-
umns, and of walls and columns to foundations is
not capable of resisting all nominal loads or load
effects;

3. Structures or components thereof that have reached
their limit state;

4. Siding and masonry joints including joints between
the building envelope and the perimeter of win-
dows, doors and skylights are not maintained,
weather resistant or water tight;

5. Structural members that have evidence of deteriora-
tion or that are not capable of safely supporting all
nominal loads and load effects;

6. Foundation systems that are not firmly supported by
footings, are not plumb and free from open cracks
and breaks, are not properly anchored or are not
capable of supporting all nominal loads and resist-
ing all load effects;

7. Exterior walls that are not anchored to supporting
and supported elements or are not plumb and free of
holes, cracks or breaks and loose or rotting materi-
als, are not properly anchored or are not capable of
supporting all neminal loads and resisting all load
effects;

8. Roofing or roofing components that have defects
that admit rain, roof surfaces with inadequate drain-
age, or any portion of the roof framing that is not in
good repair with signs of deferioration, fatigne or
without proper anchorage and incapable of support-
ing all nominal loads and resisting all load effects;

9. Flooring and flooring components with defects that
affect serviceability or flooring components that
show signs of deterioration or fatigue, are not prop-
erly anchored or are incapable of supporting all
nominal loads and resisting all load effects;

12

10. Veneer, cornices, belt courses, corbels, trim, wall
facings and similar decorative features not properly
anchored or that are anchored with connections not
capable of supporting all nominal loads and resist-
ing all load effects;

11. Overhang extensions or projections including, but
not limited to, trash chutes, canopies, marquees,
signs, awnings, fire escapes, standpipes and exhaust -
ducts not properly anchored or that are anchored
with connections not capable of supporting all nom-
inal loads and resisting all load effects;

12. Exterior stairs, decks, porches, balconies and all
similar appurtenances attached thereto, including
guieards and handrails, are not structurally sound, not
propetly anchored or that are anchored with con-
nections not capable of supporting all nominal loads
and resisting all load effects; or

13. Chimneys, cooling towers, smokestacks and similar
appurtenances net structurally sound or not properly
anchored, or that are anchored with connections not
capable of supporting all nominal loads and resist-
ing all load effects.

Exceptions:

I. When substantiated otherwise by an
approved method.

2, Demolition of unsafe conditions shall be
permitted when approved by the code offi-
clal.

304.2 Protective treatment. All exterior surfaces, including
but not limited. to, doors, door and window frames, cornices,
porches, trim, balconies, decks and fences, shall be maintained
in good condition. Exterior wood surfaces, other than decay-
resistant woods, shall be protected from the elements and
decay by painting or other protective covering or treatment.
Peeling, flaking and chipped paint shall be eliminated and sur-
faces repainted. All siding and masonry joints, as well as those
between the building envelope and the perimeter of windows,
doors and skylights, shall be maintained weather resistant and
water tight. All metal surfaces subject to rust or corresion shall
be coated to inhibit such rust and corrosion, and all surfaces
with rust or corrosion shall be stabilized and coated to inhibit
future rust and corrosion. Oxidation stains shall be removed
from exterior surfaces. Surfaces designed for stabilization by
oxidation are exempt from this requirement.

[F] 304.3 Premises identification. Buildings shall have
approved address numbers placed in a position to be plainly
legible and visible from the street or road fronting the property.
These numbers shall contrast with their background. Address
numbers shall be Arabic numerals or alphabet letters. Numbers
shall be a minimum of 4 inches (102 mm) high with a minimum
stroke width of 0.5 inch (12.7 mm).

304.4 Structural members. All structural members shall be
maintained free from deterioration, and shall be capable of
safely supporting the imposed dead and live loads.

304.5 Foundation walls. All foundation walls shall be main-
tained plumb and free from open cracks and breaks and shall be

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANGE CODE®



kept in such condition so as to prevent the entry of rodents and
other pests.

304.6 Exterior walls, All exterior walls shall be free from
holes, breaks, and loose or rotting materials; and maintained
weatherproof and properly surface coated where required to
prevent deterioration.

304.7 Roofs and drainage. The roof and flashing shall be
sound, tight and not have defects that admitrain. Roof drainage
shall be adequate to prevent dampness or deterioration in the
walls or interior portion of the structure. Roof drains, gutters
and downspouts shall be maintained in good repair and free
from obstructions. Roof water shall not be discharged in a man-
nier that creates a public nuisance.

304.8 Decorative features. All cornices, belt courses, corbels,
terra cotta trim, wall facings and similar decorative features
shall be maintained in good repair with proper anchorage and
in a safe condition.

304.9 Overhang extensions. All overhang extensions includ-
ing, but not limited to canopies, marquees, signs, metal awn-
ings, fire escapes, standpipes and exhaust ducts shall be
maintained in good repair and be properly anchored so as to be
kept in a sound condition. When required, all exposed surfaces
of metal or wood shall be protected from the elements and
against decay or rust by periodic application of weather-coat-
ing materials, such as paint or similar surface treatment.

304.10 Stairways, decks, porches and balconies. Every exte-
rior stairway, decls, porch and balcony, and all appurtenances
attached thereto, shall be maintained structurally sound, in
good repair, with proper anchorage and capable of supporting
the imposed loads.

304.11 Chimneys and towers. All chimneys, cooling towers,
smoke stacks, and similar appurtenances shall be maintained
structurally safe and sound, and in good repair. All exposed
surfaces of metal or wood shall be protected from the elements
and against decay or rust by periodic application of weather-
coating materials, such as paint or similar surface treatment.

304.12 Handrails and guards. Every handrail and guard shall
be firmly fastened and capable of supporting normally
imposed loads and shall be maintained in good condition.

304.13 Window, skylight and door frames. Every window,
skylight, door and frame shall be kept in sound condition, good
repair and weather tight.

304.13.1 Glazing, All glazing materials shall be maintained
free from cracks and holes.

304.13.2 Openable windows. Every window, other than a
fixed window, shall be easily openable and capable of being
held in position by window hardware.

304.14 Insect screens. During the period from [DATE] to
[DATE], every door, window and other outside opening required
for ventilation of habitable rooms, food preparation areas, food
service areas or a‘ty areas where products to be included or uti-
lized in food for human consumption are processed, manufac-
tured, packaged or stored shall be supplied with approved
tightly fitting screens of not less than 16 mesh per inch (16

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

mesh per 25 mum), and every screen door used for insect control
shall have a self-closing device in good working condition.

Exception: Screens shall not be required where other
approved means, such as air curtains or insectrepellent fans,
are employed.

304.15 Doors. All exterior doors, door assemblies and hard-
ware shall be maintained in good condition. Locks at all en-
trances to dwelling units and sleeping units shall tightly secure
the door. Locks on means of egress doors shall be in accor-
dance with Section 702.3,

304.16 Basement hatchways. Every basement hatchway shall
be maintained to prevent the entrance of rodents, rain and sur-
face drainage water.

304.17 Guards for basement windows. Every basement win-
dow that is openable shall be supplied with rodent shields,
storm windows or other approved protection against the entry
of rodents.

304.18 Bnilding securify. Doors, windows or hatchways for
dwelling units, room units or housekeeping units shall be pro-
vided with devices designed to provide security for the occu-
pants and property within.

304.18.1 Doors. Doors providing access to a dwelling unit,
rooming unit or housekeeping unit that is rented, leased or
let shall be equipped with a deadbolt lock designed to be
readily openable from the side from which egress is to be
made without the need for keys, special knowledge or effort
and shall have a lock throw of not less than 1 inch (25 mm).
Such deadbolt locks shall be installed according to the man-
ufacturer’s specifications and maintained in good working
order. For the purpose of this section, a sliding bolt shall not
be considered an acceptable deadbolt lock.

304.18.2 Windows. Operable windows located in whole or
in part within 6 feet (1828 mm) above ground level or a
walking surface below that provide access to a dwelling
unit, rooming unit or housekeeping unitthat isrented, leased
or let shall be equipped with a window sash locking dévice.

304.18.3 Basement hatchways. Basement hatchways that
provide access to a dwelling unit, rooming unit or house-
keeping unit that is rented, leased or let shall be equipped
with devices that secure the units from unauthorized entry.

SECTION 305
INTERIOR STRUCTURE

305.1 General. The interior of a structure and equipment
therein shall be maintained in good repair, structarally sound
and in a sanitary condition. Occupants shall keep that part of
the structure which they occupy or control in a clean and sani-
tary condition. Every owner of a structure containing a room-
ing house, housekeeping units, a hotel, a dormitory, two or
more dwelling units or two or more nonresidential occupan-
cies, shall maintain, in a clean and sanitary condition, the
shared or public areas of the structure and exterior property.

305.1.1 Unsafe conditions. The following conditions shall
be determined as unsafe and shall be repaired or replaced to
comply with the International Building Code or the Inter-

13




GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

national Existing Building Code as required for existing
buildings:

l. The nominal sfrength of any structural member is
exceeded by ncminal loads, the load effects or the
required strength;

2. The anchorage of the floor or roof to walls or col-
umns, and of walls and columns to foundations is not
capable of resisting all nominal loads orload effects;

3. Structures or components thereof that have reached
their [imit state;

4. Structural members are incapable of supporting nom-
inal loads and load effects;

5. Stairs, landings, balconies and all similar walking
surfaces, including guards and handrails, are not
structurally sound, not properly anchored or are
anchored with connections not capable of supporting
all nominal loads and resisting all load effects;

6. Foundation systems that are not firmly supported by
Tootings are not plumb and free from open cracks and
breaks, are not properly anchored or are not capable
of supporting all nominal loads and resisting all load
effects,

Exceptions:

1. When substantiated otherwise by an
approved method.

2. Demolition of unsafe conditions shall be per-
mitted when approved by the code afficial.

305.2 Structural members. All structural members shall be
maintained structurally sound, and be capable of supporting
the imposed loads.

305.3 Interior surfaces. All interior surfaces, incleding win-
dows and doors, shall be maintained in good, clean and sanitary
condition. Peeling, chipping, flaking or abraded paint shall be
repaired, removed or covered. Cracked or loose plaster,
decayed wood and other defective surface conditions shall be
corrected.

305.4 Siairs and walking surfaces. Every stair, ramp, land-
ing, balcony, porch, deck or other walking surface shall be
maintained in sound condition and good repair.

305.5 Handrails and guards. Every handrail and guard shall
be firmly fastened and capable of supporting normally
imposed loads and shall be maintained in good condition.

305.6 Interior doors, Every interior door shall fit reasonabiy
well within its frame and shall be capable of being opened and
closed by being properly and securely attached to jambs, head-
ers or tracks as intended by the manufacturer of the attachment
hardware.

14

SECTION 306
COMPONENT SERVICEABILITY

306.1 General, The components of a structure and equipment
therein shall be maintained in good repair, structurally sound
and in a sanitary condition.

306.1.1 Unsafe conditions. Where any of the following
conditions cause the component of system to be beyond its
limit state, the component or system shall be deteriined as
unsafe and shall be repaired or replaced to comply with the
International Building Code as required for existing build-
ings:

L. Soils that have been subjected to any of the following

conditions:
1.1. Collapse of footing or foundation systeni;

1.2. Damage to footing, foundation, concrete or
other structural element due to soil expan-
sion;

1.3. Adverse effects to the design strength of
footing, foundation, concrete or other struc-
tural element due to a chemical reaction
from the soil;

1.4. Inadequate soil as determined by a geotech-
nical investigation;

1.5. Where the allowable bearing capacity of the
soil is in doubt; or

1.6. Adverse effects to the footing, foundation,
concrete or other structural element due to
the ground water table.

2. Concrete that has been subjected to any of the follow-
ing conditions:

2.1. Deterioration;

2.2. Ultimate deformation;

2.3, Practures;

2.4. Fissures;

2.5. Spalling;

2.6. Exposed reinforcement; or

2.7. Detached, dislodged or failing connections.

3. Aluminum that has been subjected to any of the fol-
lowing conditions:

3.1. Deterioration,

3.2. Corrosion;

3.3. Elastic deformation;
3.4. Ultimate deformatior;
3.5. Stress or strain cracks;
3.6. Joint fatigue; or

3.7. Detached, dislodged or fai’ing connections.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE GODE®



4. Masonry that has been subjected to any of the follow-
ing conditions:

4.1. Deterioration;

4.2. Ultimate deformation,

4.3. Fractures in masonry or mortar joints;

4.4, Fissures in masonry or mortar joints;

4.5. Spalling;

4.6. Exposed reinforcement; or

4.7, Detached, dislodged or failing connections.

5. Steel that has been subjected to any of the following
conditions:

5.1. Deterioration;

5.2. Elastic deformation;

5.3. Ultimate deformation;

5.4. Metal fatigue; or

5.5. Detached, dislodged or failing connections.

6. Wood that has been subjected to any of the following
conditions:

6.1. Ultimate deformation,
6.2. Deterioration,

6.3. Damage from insects, rodents and other ver-
Imin,;

6.4. Fire damage beyond charring;
6.5. Significant splits and checks;
6.6, Horizontal shear cracks;

6.7. Vertical shear cracks;

6.8. Inadequate support;

6.9. Detached, dislodged or failing connections;
or

6.10. Excessive cutling and notching,
Exceptions:

1. When substantiated otherwise by an approved
method.

2. Demolition of unsafe conditions shall be per-
mitted when approved by the code official.

SECTION 307
HANDRAILS AND GUARDRAILS

307.1 General. Every exterior and interior flight of stairs hav-
ing more than four risers shall have a handrail on one side of the
stair and every open portion of a stair, landing, balcony, porch,
deck, ramp or other walking surface which is more than 30
inches (762 mm) above the floor or grade below shall have
guards. Handrails shall not be less than 30 inches (762 mm)
high or more than 42 inches (1067 mm) high measured verti-
cally above the nosing of the tread or above the finished floor of
the landing or walking surfaces. Guards shall not be less than

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

30 inches (762 mm) high above the floor of the landing, bal-
cony, porch, deck, or ramp or other walking surface.

Exception: Guards shall not be required where exempted
by the adopted building code.

SECTION 308
RUBBISH AND GARBAGE

308.1 Accumulation of rubbish or garbage. All exterior
property and premises, and the interior of every structure, shall
be free from any accumulation of rubbish or garbage.

308.2 Disposal of rubbish. Every occupant of a structure shall
dispose of all rubbish in a clean and sanitary manner by placing
such rubbish in approved containers.

308.2.1 Rubbish storage facilities. The owner of every
occupied premises shall supply approved covered contain-
ers for rubbish, and the owner of the premises shall be
respongible for the removal of rubbish.

308.2.2 Refrigerators. Refrigerators and similar equip-
ment not in operation shall not be discarded, abandoned or
stored on premises without first removing the doors.

308.3 Disposal of garbage. Every occupant of a structure shall
dispose of garbage in a clean and sanitary manner by placing
such garbage in an approved garbage disposal facility or
approved garbage containers.

308.3.1 Garbage facilities. The owner of every dwelling
shall supply one of the following: an approved mechanical
food waste grinder in each dwelling unit, an approved incin-
erator unit in the structure available to the occupants in each
dwelling unit; or an gpproved leakproof, covered, outside
garbage container.

308.3.2 Containers. The operator of every establishment
producing garbage shall provide, and at all times cause to be
utilized, approved leakproof containers provided with
close-fitting covers for the storage of such materials until
removed from the premises for disposal.

SECTION 309
PEST ELIMINATION

309.1 Infestation. All structures shall be kept free from insect
and rodent infestation. All sfructures in which insects or
rodents are found shall be promptly exterminated by approved
processes that will not be injurious to human health. After
extermination, proper precautions shall be taken to prevent
reinfestation.

309.2 Owner. The owner of any structure shall be responsible
forextermination within the structure prior torenting or leasing
the structure.

309.3 Single occupant. The occupant of a one-family dwell-
ing or of a single-tenant nonresidential structure shall be
responsible for extermination on the premises.

309.4 Multiple occiipancy. The owner of a structure contain-
ing two or more dwelling units, a multiple occupancy, a roorm-
ing house or a nonresidential structure shall be responsible for

15



GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

extermination in the public or shared areas of the structure and
exterior property. If infestation is caused by failure of an occit-
pant to prevent such infestation in the area occupied, the occu-
pant and owner shall be responsible for extermination.

309.5 Occupant. The occupant of any structure shall be
responsible for the continued rodent and pest-free condition of
the structure.

Exception: Where the infestations are caused by defects in
the structure, the owner shall be responsible for extermina-
tion.

16 2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 4 _
LIGHT, VENTILATION AND OCCUPANCY LIMITATIONS

SECTION 401
GENERAL

401.1 Scope. The provisions of this chapter shall govern the
minimum condifions and standards for light, ventilation and
space for cccupying a structure.

401.2 Responsibility. The owner of the structure shall provide
and maintain lght, ventilation and space conditions in compli-
ance with these requirements. A person shall not cccupy as
owner-occupant, or permit another person to occupy, any pre-
mises that do not comply with the requirements of this chapter.

401.3 Alternative devices. In lieu of the means for natural light
and ventilation herein prescribed, artificial light or mechanical
ventilation complying with the International Building Code
shall be permitted.

SECTION 402
LIGHT

402.1 Habitable spaces. Every habitable space shall have at
least one window of approved size facing directly to the out-
doors or to a court. The minimum total glazed area for every
habitable space shall be 8 percent of the floor area of such
room. Wherever walls or other portions of a structure face a
window of any room and such obstructions are located less
than 3 feet (914 mm) from the window and extend to a level
above that of the ceiling of the room, such window shall not be
deemed to face directly to the outdoors nor to a court and shall
not be included as contributing to the required minimum total
window area for the room.

Exception: Where natural light for rooms or spaces without
exterior glazing areas is provided through an adjoining
room, the unobstructed opening to the adjoining room shall
be at least & percent of the floor area of the interior room or
space, but not less than 25 square feet (2.33 m?). The exte-
rior glazing area shall be based on the total floor area being
served.

402.2 Common halls and stairways. Bvery common hall and
stairway in residential occupancies, other than in one- and two-
family dwellings, shall be lighted at all times with at least a 60-
watt standard incandescent light bulb for each 200 square feet
(19 m?) of floor area or equivalent illumination, provided that
the spacing between lights shall not be greater than 30 feet

(9144 mm). In other than residential occupancies, means of .

egress, including exterior means of egress, stairways shall be

illuminated at all times the building space served by the means.

of egress is occupied with a minimum of 1 footcandle (11 Tux)
at floors, landings and treads.

402.3 Other spaces. All other spaces shall be provided with
natural or artificial light sufficient to permit the maintenance of
sanitary conditions, and the safe occupancy of the space and
utilization of the appliances, equipment and fixtures.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

SECTION 403
VENTILATION

403.1 Habitable spaces. Every habitable space shall have at
least one openable window. The total openable area of the win-
dow in every room shall be equal to at least 45 percent of the
minimum glazed area required in Section 402.1.

Exeception: Where rooms and spaces without openings to
the outdoors are ventilated through an adjoining room, the
unobstructed opening to the adjoining room shall be at least
8 percent of the floor area of the interior room or space, but
not less than 25 square feet (2.33 m?). The ventilation open-
ings to the outdoors shall be based on a total floor area being
ventilated.

403.2 Bathrooms and toilet rooms. Every bathroom and tfoi-
let room shall comply with the ventilation requirements for
habitable spaces as required by Section 403.1, except thata
window shall not be required in such spaces equipped with a
mechanical ventilation system. Air exhausted by a mechani-
cal ventilation system from a bathroom or toilet room shall
discharge to the outdoors and shall not be recirculated.

403.3 Cooking facilities. Unless approved through the certifi-
cate of occupancy, cooking shall not be permitted in any rooim-
ing unit or dormitory unit, and a cooking facility or appliance
shall not be permitted to be present in the rooming unit or dor-
mitory unit.

Exceptions:
1. Where specifically approved in writing by the code
official.
2. Devices such as coffee pots and microwave ovens
shall not be considered cooking appliances.

403.4 Process ventilation. Where injurious, toxic, irritating or
noxious fumes, gases, dusts or mists are generated, a local
exhaust ventilation system shall be provided to remove the con-
taminating agent at the source. Air shall be exhausted to the
exterior and not be recirculated to any space.

403.5 Clothes dryer exhaust. Clothes dryer exhaust systems
shall be independent of all other systems and shall be exhausted
outside the structure in accordance with the manufacturer’s
instructions.

Exception: Listed and labeled condensing {ductless) clothes
dryers.

SECTION 404
OCCUPANCY LIMITATIONS

404.1 Privacy. Dwelling units, hotel units, housekeeping
units, rooming units and dormitory units shall be arranged
to provide privacy and be separate from other adjoining
spaces.

17



LIGHT, YENTILATION AND OCCUPANCY LIMITATIONS

404.2 Minimum reom widths. A habitable room, other than a
kitchen, shall not be less than 7 feet (2134 mm) in any plan
dimension. Kitchens shall have a clear passageway of not less
than 3 feet (914 mm) between counterfronts and appliances or
counterfronts and walls.

404.3 Minimum ceiling heights, Habitable spaces, hallways,
corridors, laundry areas, bathrooms, toilet rooms and habitable
basement areas shall have a clear ceiling height of not less than
7 feet (2134 mm).

Exceptions:

1. In one- and two-family dwellings, beams or girders
spaced not less than 4 feet (1219 mm) on center and
projecting not more than 6 inches (152 mm;) below the
required ceiling height.

2. Basement rooms in one- and two-family dwellings
occupied exclusively for laundry, study or recreation
purposes, having a ceiling height of not less than 6
feet 8 inches (2033 mm) with not less than 6 feet 4
inches (1932 mm) of clear height under beams, gird-
ers, ducts and similar obstructions.

3. Rooms occupied exclusively for sleeping, study or
similar purposes and having a sloped ceiling over all
or part of the room, with a clear ceiling height of at
least 7 feet {2134 mm) over not less than one-third of
the required minimum floor area. In calculating the
floor area of such rooms, only those portions of the
floor area with a clear ceiling height of 5 feet (1524
nmm) or more shall be included.

404.4 Bedroom and living room requirements. Every bed-
room and living room shall comply with the requirements of
Sections 404.4.1 through 404.4.5.

404.4.1 Room area. Every living room shall contain atleast
120 square feet (11.2 m?) and every bedroon: shall contain at
least 70 square feet (6.5 m?).

404.4.2 Access from bedrooms. Bedrooms shall not consti-
tute the only means of access to other bedrooms or habitable
spaces and shall not serve as the only means of egress from
other habitable spaces.

Exception: Units that contain fewer than two bedrooms.

404.4.3 Water closet accesstbility. Every bedroom shall
have access to at least one water closet and one lavatory
without passing through another bedroom. Every bedroom
in a dwelling unit shall have access to at least one water
closet and lavatory located in the same story as the bedroom
or an adjacent story.

404.4.4 Prohibited occupancy. Kitchens and nonhabitable
spaces shall not be used for sleeping purposes.

404.4.5 Other requirements. Bedrooms shall comply with
the applicable provisions of this code including, but not lim-
ited to, the light, ventilation, room area, ceiling height and
room width requirements of this chapter; the plumbing
facilities and water-heating facilities requirements of Chap-
ter 5; the heating facilities and electrical receptacle require-
ments of Chapter 6; and the smoke detector and emergency
escape requirements of Chapter 7.

18

404.5 Overcrowding. The number of persons occupying a
dwelling unit shall not create conditions that, in the opinion of
the code official, endanger the life, health, safety or welfare of
the occupants.

404.6 Efficiency unit. Nothing in this section shall prohibit an
efficiency living unit from meeting the following require-
ments:

1. A unit occupied by not more than two occupants shall
have a clear floor area of not less than 220 square feet
(20.4 m?). A unit occupied by three occupants shall have
a clear floor area of not less than 320 square feet (29.7
m?). These required areas shall be exclusive of the areas
required by Items 2 and 3.

2. The unit shall be provided with a kitchen sink, cocking
appliance and refrigeration facilities, each having a clear
working space of not less than 30 inches (762 mm) in
front. Light and ventilation conforming to this code shall
be provided.

3. Theunit shall be provided with a separate bathroon: con-
taining a water closet, lavatory and bathtub or shower.

4. The maximum number of cccupants shall be three.

404.7 Food preparation. All spaces to be occupied for food
preparation purposes shall contain suitable space and equip-
ment to store, prepare and serve foods in a sanitary manner.
There shall be adequate facilities and services for the sanitary
disposal of food wastes and refuse, including facilities for tem-
porary storage.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANGE CODE®



CHAPTER 5
PLUMBING FACILITIES AND FIXTURE REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 501
GENERAL

501.1 Scepe. The provisions of this chapter shall govern the
minimum plumbing systems, facilities and plumbing fixtures
to be provided.

501.2 Responsibility. The owner of the structure shall provide
and maintain such plumbing facilities and plumbing fixtures in
compliance with these requirements. A person shall notoccupy
as owner-occupant or permit another person to occupy any
structure or premises which does not comply with the require-
ments of this chapter.

[P] SECTION 502
REQUIRED FACILITIES

502.1 Dwelling units. Every dwelling unit shall contain its
own bathtub or shower, lavatory, water closet and kitchen sink
which shall be maintained in a sanitary, safe working condi-
tion. The lavatory shall be placed in the same room as the water
closet or located in close proximity to the door leading directly
into the room in which such water closet is located. A kitchen
sink shall not be used as a substitute for the required lavatory.

- '502.2 Rooming houses. At least one water closet, lavatory and
bathiub or shower shall be supplied for each four reoming
LHILS.

502.3 Hotels. Where private water closets, lavatories and baths
are not provided, one water closet, one lavatory and one bath-
tub or shower having access from a public hallway shall be pro-
vided for each ten occupants.

502.4 Employees’ facilities. A minimum of one water closet,
one lavatory and one drinking facility shall be available to
employees.

502.4.1 Drinking facilities. Drinking facilities shall be a
drinking fountain, water cooler, bottled water cooler or dis-
posable cups next to a sink or water dispenser. Drinking
facilities shall not be located in toilet rooms or bathrooms.

502.5 Public toilet facilities. Public toilet facilities shall be
maintained in a safe sanitary and working condition in accor-
dance with the Infernational Plumbing Code. Except for peri-
odic maintenance or cleaning, public access and use shall be
provided to the toilet facilities at all times during eccupancy of
the premises.

[P] SECTION 503
TOILET ROOMS

503.1 Privacy. Toilet rooms and bathrooms shall provide pri-
vacy and shall not constitute the only passageway to a hall or
other space, or to the exterior. A door and interior locking
device shall be provided for all common or shared bathrooms
and toilet rooms in a multiple dwelling.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

503.2 Location, Toilet rooms and bathrooms serving hotel
unifs, rooming units or dormitory units or housekeeping units,
shall have access by traversing not more than one flight of stairs
and shall have access from a common hall or passageway.

503.3 Location of employee toilet facilities. Toilet facilities
shall have access from within the employees’ working area.

‘The required toilet facilities shall be located not more than one

story above or below the employees’ working area and the path
of travel to such facilities shall not exceed a distance of 500 feet
{152 m). Employee facilities shall either be separate facilities
or combined employee and public facilities.

Exception: Facilities that are required for employees in
storage structures or kiosks, which are located in adjacent
structures under the same ownership, lease or control, shall
not exceed a travel distance of 500 feet (152 m) from the
employees’ regular working area to the facilities.

503.4 Floor surface. In other than dwelling units, every toilet
room floor shall be maintained to be a smooth, hard,
nonabsorbent surface to permit such floor to be easily keptin a
clean and sanitary condition.

[P] SECTION 504
PLUMBING SYSTEMS AND FIXTURES

504.1 General. All plumbing fixtures shall be properly
installed and maintained in working order, and shall be kept
free from obstructions, leaks and defects and be capable of per-
forming the function for which such plumbing fixtures are
designed. All plumbing fixtures shall be maintained in a safe,
sanitary and functional condition.

504.2 Fixture clearances. Plumbing fixtures shall have ade-
quate clearances for usage and cleaning.

504.3 Plumbing system hazards. Where it is found that a
plumbing systemin a structure constitntes a hazard to the occu-
pants or the structure by reason of inadequate service, inade-
quate venting, cross connection, backsiphonage, improper
installation, deterioration or damage or for similar reasons, the
code official shall require the defects to be corrected to elimi-
nate the hazard.

SECTION 505
WATER SYSTEM

505.1 General. Every sink, lavatory, bathtub or shower, drink-
ing fountain, water closet or other plumbing fixture shall be
properly connected to either a public water system or to an
approved private water system. All kitchen sinks, lavatories,
laundry facilities, bathtubs and showers shall be supplied with
hot or tempered and cold running water in accordance with the
Iiternational Plumbing Code.

[P1 505.2 Contamination. The water supply shall be main-
tatned free from. contamination, and all water inlets for plumb-

19



PLUMBING FACILITIES AND FIXTURE REQUIREMENTS

ing fixtures shall be located above the flood-level rim of the
fixture. Shampoo basin faucets, janitor sink faucets and other
hose bibs or faucets to which hoses are attached and left in
place, shall be protected by an approved atmospheric-type vac-
uum breaker or an approved permanently attached hose con-
nection vacuum breaker,

505.3 Supply. The water supply system shall be installed and
maintained to provide a supply of water to plumbing fixtures,
devices and appurtenances in sufficient volume and at pres-
sures adequate to enable the fixtures to function properly,
safely, and free from defects and leaks.

505.4 Water heating facilities. Water heating facilities shall
be properly installed, maintained and capable of providing an
adequate amount of water to be drawn at every required sink,
lavatory, bathtub, shower and laundry facility at a temperature
of notless than 110°F (43°C). A gas-burning water heater shall
not be located in any bathroom, toilet room, bedroom or other
occupied room normally kept closed, unless adequate combus-
tion air is provided. An approved combination temperature and
pressure-relief valve and relief valve discharge pipe shall be
properly installed and maintained on water heaters.

[P] SECTION 506
SANITARY DRAINAGE SYSTEM

506.1 General. All plumbing fixtures shall be properly con-
nected to either a public sewer system or to an approved private
sewage disposal system.

506.2 Maintenance. Every plumbing stack, vent, waste and
sewer line shall function properly and be kept free from
obstructions, leaks and defects.

506.3 Grease interceptors. Where it has been determined that
a grease interceptor is not being maintained and serviced as
intended by this code and the manufacturer’s instructions, an
approved interceptor monitoring system shall be provided ora
maintenance program shall be established with documentation
submitted to the code official.

[P] SECTION 507
STORM DRAINAGE

507.1 General. Drainage of roofs and paved areas, yards and
courts, and other open areas on the premises shall not be dis-
charged in a manner that creates a public nuisance.

20

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 6
MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 601
GENERAL

601.1 Scope. The provisions of this chapter shall govern the
minimum mechanical and electrical facilities and equipment to
be provided.

601.2 Responsibility. The owner of the structure shall provide
and maintain mechanical and electrical facilities and equip-
ment in compliance with these requirements. A person shall
not occupy as owner-eccupant or permit another person to
occupy any premises which does not comply with the require-
ments of this chapter,

SECTION 602 ,
HEATING FACILITIES

602.1 Facilities required. Heating facilities shall be provided
in structures as required by this section.

602.2 Residential oceupancies. Dwellings shall be provided
with heating facilities capable of maintaining a room tempera-
ture of 68°F (20°C) in all habitable rooms, bathrooms and foilet
rooms based on the winter outdoor design temperature for the
locality indicated in Appendix D of the International Plumbing
Code. Cooking appliances shall not be used to provide space
heating to meet the requirements of this section.

Exception: In areas where the average monthly tempera-
ture is above 30°F (-1°C), a minimum temperature of 65°F
{18°C) shall be maintained.

602.3 Heat supply. Every owner and operator of any building
who rents, leases or lets one or more dwelling units or sleeping
units on terms, either expressed or implied, to furnish heat to
the occupants thereof shall supply heat during the period from
[DATE] to [DATE] to maintain a temperature of not less than
68°F (20°C) in all habitable rooms, bathrooms and toilet
rooms.

Execeptions:

1. When the outdoor temperature is below the winter
outdoor design temperature for the locality, mainte-
nance of the minimum room temperature shall not be
required provided that the heating system is operating
at its full design capacity. The winter outdoor design
temperature for the locality shall be as indicated in
Appendix D of the Infernational Plumbing Code.

2. In areas where the average monthly temperature is
above 30°F (-1°C) a minunum temperature of 65°F
(18°C) shall be maintained.

602.4 Occupiable work spaces. Indoor occupiable work
spaces shall be supplied with heat during the period from

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

[DATE] to [DATE] to maintain a temperature of not less than
65°F (18°C) during the period the spaces are occupied.

Exceptions:

1. Processing, storage and operation areas that require
cooling or special temperature conditions.

2. Areas in which persons are primarily engaged in vig-
orous physical activities.

602.5 Room temperature measurement. The required room
temperatures shall be measured 3 feet (914 mm) above the
floor near the center of the room and 2 feet (610 mm) inward
from the center of each exterior wall.

SECTION 603
MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT

603.1 Mechanical appliances. All mechanical appliances,
fireplaces, solid fuel-burning appliances, cooking appliances
and water heating appliances shall be properly installed and
maintained in a safe working condition, and shall be capable of
performing the intended function,

603.2 Removal of combustion products. All fuel-burning
equipment and appliances shall be connected to an approved
chimney or vent.

Exception: Fuel-burning equipment and appliances which
are labeled for unvented operation.

603.3 Clearances. All required clearances to combustible
materials shall be maintained.

603.4 Safety controls. All safety controls for fuel-burning
equipment shall be maintained in effective operation.

603.5 Combustion air. A supply of air for complete combus-
tion of the fuel and for ventilation of the space containing the
fuel-burning equipment shall be provided for the fuel-burning
equipment,

603.6 Energy conservation devices. Devices intended to
reduce fuel consumption by attachment to a fuel-burning appli-
ance, to the fuel supply line thereto, or to the vent outlet or vent
piping therefrom, shall not be installed unless labeled for such
purpose and the installation is specifically approved.

SECTION 604
ELECTRICAL FACILITIES

604.1 Facilities required. Every occupied building shall be
provided with an electrical system in compliance with the
requirements of this section and Section 605.

604.2 Service. The size and usage of appliances and equipment
shall serve as a basis for determining the need for additional

21



MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS

facilities in accordance with NFPA 70. Dwelling units shall be
served by a three-wire, 120/240 volt, single-phase electrical
service having a rating of not less than 60 amperes.

604.3 Electrical system hazards. Where it is found that the
electrical system in a structure constitutes a hazard to the oceu-
pants or the structure by reason of inadequate service,
improper fusing, insufficient receptacle and lighting outlets,
improper wiring or installation, deferioration or damage, or for
similar reasons, the code official shall require the defects to be
corrected to eliminate the hazard.

004.3.1 Abatement of electrical hazards associated with
water exposure. The provisions of this section shall govern
the repair and replacement of electrical systems and equip-
ment that have been exposed to water.

004.3.1.1 Electrical equipment. Electrical distribution
equipment, motor circuits, power equipment, transform-
ers, wire, cable, flexible cords, wiring devices, ground
fault circuit interrupters, surge protectors, molded case
circuit breakers, low-voltage fuses, luminaires, ballasts,
motors and electronic control, signaling and communi-
cation equipment that have been exposed to water shall
be replaced in accordance with the provisions of the
International Building Code.

Exception: The following equipment shail be
allowed to be repaired where an inspection report
from the equipment manufacturer or approved manu-
facturer’s representative indicates that the equipment
has not sustained damage that requires replacement:

1. Enclosed switches, rated 600 volts or less;
Busway, rated 600 volts or less;
Panelboards, rated 600 volts or less;
Switchboards, rated 600 volts or less;

Fire pump controllers, rated 600 volts or less;
Manual and magnetic motor controllers;

Motor control centers;

sl ot Rl s e )

Alternating current high-voitage circuit
breakers;

9. Low-voltage power circuit breakers;

10. Protective relays, meters and curmrent trans-
formers;

11. Low- and medium-voliage switchgear;
12. Liquid-filled transformers;
13. Cast-resin transformers;

14. Wire or cable that is suitable for wet locations
and whose ends have not been exposed to wa-
ter;

15. Wire or cable, not containing fillers, that is
suitable for wet locations and whose ends
have not been exposed to water;

16. Luminaires that are listed as submersible;
17. Motors;

22

18. Electronic control, signaling and communica-
tion equipment,

604.3.2 Abatement of electrical hazards associated with
fire exposure. The provisions of this section shall govern
the repair and replacement of electrical systems and equip-
ment that have been exposed to fire.

604.3.2.1 Electrical equipment. Electrical switches,
receptacles and fixtures, including furnace, water heat-
ing, security system and power distribution circuits, that
have been exposed to fire, shall be replaced in accor-
dance with the provisions of the International Building
Code.

Exception: Electrical switches, receptacles and fix-
tures that shall be allowed to be repaired where an
inspection report from the equipment manufacturer or
approved manufacturer’s representative indicates that
the equipment has not sustained damage that requires
replacement.

SECTION 605
ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT

605.1 Installation. All electrical equipment, wiring and appli-
ances shall be properly installed and maintained in a safe and
approved manner,

605.2 Receptacles. Every habitable space in a dwelling shall
contain at least two separate and remote receptacle outlets.
Every laundry area shall contain at least one grounded-type
receptacle or a receptacle with a ground fault circuit inter-
rupter. Every bathroom shall contain at least one receptacle.
Any new bathroom receptacle outlet shall have ground fault
circuit interrupter protection.

605.3 Luminaires. Every public hall, interior stairway, foilet
roont, kitchen, bathroont, laundry room, boiler room and fur-
nace room shall contain at least one electric luminaire.

SECTION 606
ELEVATORS, ESCALATORS AND DUMBWAITERS

606.1 General. Elevators, dumbwaiters and escalators shall be
maintained in compliance with ASME A17.1. The most cur-
rent certificate of inspection shall be on display at all times
within the elevator or attached to the escalator or dumbwaiter,
be available for public inspection in the office of the building
operator or be posted in a publicly conspicuous location
approved by the code official. The inspection and tests shall be
performed at not less than the periodic intervals listed in ASME
Al7.1, Appendix N, except where otherwise specified by the
authority having jurisdiction.

606.2 Elevators. In buildings equipped with passenger eleva-
tors, at least one elevator shall be maintained in operation at afl
times when the building is occupied.

Exception: Buildings equipped with only one elevator shall
be permitted to have the elevator temporarily out of service
for testing or servicing.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



MECHANICAL AMD ELECTRICAL REGUIREMERNTS

SECTION 807
DUCT SYSTEMS
607.1 General. Duct systems shall be maintained free of

obstructions and shall be capable of performing the required
function.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE® 23



24

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 7
FIRE SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 701
GENERAL

701.1 Scope. The provisions of this chapter shall govern the
minimum conditions and standards for fire safety relating to
structures and exterior premises, including fire safety facilities
and equipment to be provided.

701.2 Responsibility. The owner of the premises shall provide
and maintain such fire safety facilities and equipment in com-
pliance with these requirements. A person shall not occupy as
owner-occupant of permit another person to occupy any pre-
mises that do notcomply with the requirements of this chapter,

[F] SECTION 702
MEANS OF EGRESS

702.1 General. A safe, continuous and unobstructed path of
travel shall be provided from any point in a building or struc-
ture to the public way. Means of egress shall comply with the
International Fire Code.

702.2 Aisles. The required width of aisles in accordance with
the Infernational Fire Code shall be unobstructed.

762.3 Locked doors. All means of egress doors shall be readily
openable from the side from which egress is to be made without
the need for keys, special knowledge or effort, except where the
door hardware conforms to that permitted by the International
Building Code.

702.4 Emergency escape openings., Required emergency
escape openings shall be maintained in accordance with the
code in effect at the time of construction, and the following.
Required emergency escape and rescue openings shall be oper-
ational from the inside of the room without the use of keys or
tools. Bars, grilles, grates or similar devices are permitted to be
placed over emergency escape and rescue openings provided
the minimum net clear opening size complies with the code that
was in effect at the time of construction and such devices shall
be releasable or removable from the inside without the use of a
key, tool or force greater than that which is required for normal
operation of the escape and rescue opening.

[F]1 SECTION 703
FIRE-RESISTANCE RATINGS

703.1 Fire-resistance-rated assemblies. The required fire-
resistance rating of fire-resistance-rated walls, fire stops, shaft
enclosures, partitions and floors shall be maintained.

703.2 Opening protectives. Required opening protectives
shall be maintained in an operative condition. All five and
smokestop doors shall be maintained in operable condition.
Fire doors and smoke barrier doors shall not be blocked or
obstructed or otherwise made inoperable.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANGE CODE®

[F] SECTION 704
FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS

704.1 General. All systems, devices and equipment to detecta
fire, actuate an alarm, or suppress or control a fire or any com-
bination thereof shall be maintained in an operable condition at
all times in accordance with the Infernational Fire Code.

704.1.1 Automatic sprinkler systems. Inspection, testing
and maintenance of automatic sprinkler systems shall be in
accordance with NEPA 25,

704.2 Smoke alarms. Single- or multiple-station smoke
alarms shall be installed and maintained in Groups R-2, R-3, R-
4 and in dwellings not regulated in Group R occupancies,
regardless of occupant load at all of the following locations:

1. On the ceiling or wall ocutside of each separate sleeping
area in the immediate vicinity of bedrooms.

2. In each room used for sleeping purposes.

3. Ineach story within a dwelling unit, including basements
and cellars but not including crawl spaces and uninhabit-
able attics. In dwellings or dwelling units with split levels
and without an intervening door between the adjacent
levels, a smoke alarm installed on the upper level shall
suffice for the adjacent lower level provided that the
lower level is less than one full story below the upper
level.

Single- or multiple-station smoke alarms shall be installed in
other groups in accordance with the International Fire Code.

704.3 Power source. In Group R occupancies and in dwellings
not regulated as Group R occupancies, single-station smoke
alarms shall receive their primary power from the building wir-
ing provided that such wiring is served from a commercial
source and shall be equipped with a battery backup. Smoke
alarms shall emit a signal when the batteries are low. Wiring
shall be permanent and without a disconnecting switch other
than as required for overcurrent protection.

Exception: Smoke alarms are permitted to be solely battery
operated in buildings where no construction is taking place,
buildings that are not served from a commercial power
source and in existing areas of buildings undergoing alter-
ations or repairs that do not result in the removal of interior
wall or ceiling finishes exposing the structure, unless there
18 an attic, crawl space or basement available which could
provide access for building wiring withount the removal of
interior finishes.

704.4 Interconnection. Where more than cne smoke alarm is
required to be installed within an individual dwelling unit in
Group R-2, R-3, R-4 and in dwellings not regulated as Group R
occupancies, the smolke alarms shall be interconnected in such
a manner that the activation of one alarm will activate all of the
alarms in the individual unit, The alarm shall be clearly audible

25



FIRE SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

in all bedrooms over background noise levels with all interven-
ing doors closed.

Exceptions:

1. Interconnection is not required in buildings which are
not undergoing alterations, repairs or construction of
any kind.

2. Smoke alarms in existing areas are not required to be
interconnected where alterations or repairs do not
result in the removal of interior wall or ceiling fin-
ishes exposing the structure, unless there is an attic,
crawl space or basement available which could pro-
vide access for interconnection without the removal
of interior finishes.

26 2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



CHAPTER 8
REFERENCED STANDARDS

This chapter lists the standards that are referenced in various sections of this document. The standards are listed herein by the pro-
mulgating agency of the standard, the standard identification, the effective date and title and the section or sections of this document
that reference the standard, The application of the referenced standards shall be as specified in Section 102.7.

ASME

American Society of Mechanical Engineers
Three Park Avenue
New York, NY 10016-5990

giﬁndatd Refercnced
reference in code
number ; Title section number
Al7.1/CSA B44—2007 Safety Code for Elevators and Escalators . . ..o oottt it e e e e 606.1

ASTM laternational

100 Barr Harbor Drive

West Conshohocken, PA 19428-2959
Standazd Referenced
reference in code
number o Title L section number
F1346—91 (2003) Performance Specifications for Safety Covers and Labeling Requirements for All Covers

forBwiniming Eooks: Spas-and-Hot TUBE ., «o: s s voasmiitis 5o 5 i ale e b a8 s a8 624 5 5257 S5 B Rasmaiy 5 S 303.2

International Code Council

500 New Jersey Avenue, NW
I 6th Floor

Washington, DC 20001
Standard Referenced
reference in code
number Title ) section number
IBC—09 International Building Code® . . . e 102.3, 201.3, 401.3, 702.3
[FC—09 International Fire Code® . . ... . i 201.3,604.3.1.1, 604.3.2.1, 702.1, 702.2,704.1, 704 .2
IEBC—0% International Existing Building Code®. . . ... i i 305.10.1, 306.1.1
TEGC—09 International Fue) Gas Code™ . .. ..o . oot 102.3
IMC—09 International Mechanical COAE® ... ...\ ittt e 102.3, 201.3
PC—09 International Plumbing Code L o 201.3, 505.1, 602.2, 602.3
ZC—09 International Zoning Code” L .. ..ottt e e 102.3,201.3

MNational Fire Protection Association

1 Batterymarch Park

Quincy, MA 02269
Standard Referenced
reference in code
number Title n section number
25—03 Inspection, Testing and Maintenance of Water-based Fire Protection Systems . ........ o ivii i in . 704.1.1
70—08 National Electrical Code. ... ... ... . . e e [ 102.4, 201.3, 604.2,

2009 INTERMATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE® 27



28

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



APPENDIX A

The provisions contained in this appendix are not mandatory unless specifically referenced in the adopting ordinance.

Al01
GENERAL,

Al10L1 General. All windows and doors shall be boarded in an
approved manner to prevent entry by unanthorized persons and
shall be painted to correspond to the color of the existing struc-
ture.

A102
MATERIALS

A102.1 Boarding sheet material. Boarding sheet material
shall be minimum Y,-inch (12.7 mm) thick wood structural
panels complying with the International Building Code.

A102.2 Boarding framing material. Boarding framing mate-
rial shall be minimum nominal 2-inch by 4-inch (51 mm by 102
mm) solid sawn lumber complying with the Infernational
Building Code.

A102.3 Boarding fasteners. Boarding fasteners shall be
minimum ¥¢-inch (9.5 mm) diameter carriage bolts of such a
length as required to penetrate the assembly and as required
to adequately attach the washers and nuts. Washers and nuts
shall comply with the International Building Code.

A103
INSTALLATION

A103.1 Boarding installation. The boarding installation shall
be in accordance with Figures A103.1(1) and A103.1(2) and
Sections A103.2 through A103.5.

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

A103.2 Boarding shieet maierial. The boarding sheet material
shall be cut to fit the door or window opening neatly or shall be
cut to provide an equal overlap at the perimeter of the door or
window.

A103.3 Windows. The window shall be opened to allow the
carriage bolt to pass through or the window sash shall be
removed and stored. The 2-inch by 4-inch (51 mm by 102
mm) strong back framing material shall be cut minimum 2
inches (51 mm) wider than the window opening and shall be
placed on the inside of the window opening 6 inches mini-
mum above the bottom and below the top of the window
opening. The framing and boarding shall be predrilled. The
assembly shall be aligned and the bolts, washers and nuts
shall be installed and secured.

A103.4 Door walls. The door opening shall be framed with
minimum 2-inch by 4-inch (51 mm by 102 mm) framing
material secured at the entire perimeter and vertical mem-
bers at not more than 24 inches (610 mm) on center. Block-
ing shall also be secured at not more than 48 inches (1219
mm) on center vertically. Boarding sheet material shall be
secured with screws and nails alternating every € inches
(152 mm) on center.

A103.5 Doors. Doors shall be secured by the same method as
for windows or door openings. One door fo the structure shall
be available for authorized entry and shall be secured and
locked in an approved manner.

29



APPENDIX A

30

2'x4" edge blocking either

herizontally or verfically along edge d
of each sheet of plywood or OSB )

3/8 inch caniage bolls.

Bolts shall be lon encugl t%exl ng fromihe

e ngI ply\goodl O ; & interior od
o Sfohd Bagks ond Mastened jom iha inferior
wilh o nuf.

,'2r}inch CDX Plywood ot

cod o
erformance rated OB

24" Slrong Backs

.

¥ \Wihdow Frame

2'x4" Sirong Backs

3/8 Inch ji .

B'c'> 1;‘}%:#%?%%?%3‘3@ 1?1 e;f?nd fromihe
extenor plywooed rou?hf e | euerF ywood
\Cr‘lvll'_‘ﬁ thr?ﬂ' acks and fastened fom the intetior

FIGURE A103.1(1)

BOARDING OF DOOR OR WINDOW

1/2 inch CDX plywooed or performance rated OSB shall be secured
to header, base plate, studs, stiles, and edge blocking useing altemate
screws and nails at & maximum of 6inch OC

/2’5:4" stile

Door wall frame

=

R e L, T e T R

BN

;/2")(4" base plate

2"4" studs
Spaced 24" on center

FIGURE A103.1(2)
BOARDING OF DOOR WALL

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



INDEX

A

ACCESS

EMErgeRCY REFSEE 1 o+ L L Saam s i i 702

ErOMBedrEeMScs = aa 2, sl e P b 404.4.2

Plumbing fixtures, access for cleaning . ... .. 504.2

KT 0T |V o F - AV A O S 7021

Toilet room as passageway ............... 503.1

Watercloset .............. ... ... . ..., 404.4.3
ADJACENT

Privacy (hotel units, rooming units) .. ....... 4041
ADMINISTRATION

L T e N I ey PR B e I =t - 2 101.2
AGENT (See also OPERATOR, OWNER)

Breiflali el abt R - et 202
AIR

ERMOESHANElE A, « cwalotiag R i A 603.5
AISLES

Minimumwidth. . ....................... 702.2
ALTERATION

Applicability of othercodes ............... 102.3

Condemnation. ................... 108.1, 108.2

s ol ey [reTa PR U S R 104.2

Presepiram: .. . el e e 8 o b e 106.3

o e ] S e S s [N Y 106.1
ANCHOR

Anchored, definition .. .................... 202

Architeciial Wi L. ...« o b s Bt 0 e 304.8

Signs, marguees and awnings. . .. ......... 304.9
APPEAL

7LV 0] 8] {10711 (o] S S S S 111.1

BOAIAIIEEISION. .« vv 0 b aw o o o] 111.6

Boardofappeals ............ ... ..., 111.2

GUPIRTTEVIBW 1 s ales v epasb el sl 111.7

BDisqualificailon & . < Cifieissteite e v md ks 111.2.3

Einancial:intenast: L . 50 el i 111.2.3

Hearing, emergency orders...............109.6

MERBDEEShID et L el o i iy b S e 111.2

Noticesolappeal. - - .. - i s mam 111.1

Postponedhearing. ... .. ......coiiiiinn. 111.5

RECRIEERE e e it b s g e o s 104.6

Righttoappeal. . . ..« . coon chmmes onoate. 111.1

e e < L owny et PR s el o et g 111.6
APPLIANCE

T A G e T S Wy 403.3, 602.2

PSR, . -« v o wvin oo oo e A 603.1
APPLICABILITY

G AR s 5 e T st e e 1021

Referenced codes and standards . ......... 102.7

Application of references . .. .............. 102.9

(@11 510 2 7 e e s Ay sl 102.10
APPROVAL

L T S o 1056.2

o A 104.1, 105.

Modifications ., ......... ... ... . ... 105.1

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

e SELTCIITERONIS < r s e 5 21+ save B, Skl 105.6

Used material and equipment . .. .......... 105.4
APPROVED

Alternative materials, methods and

= | B ] e e TS e 105.2

e e N R oA ot ok, et IEEs: e T 202

Energy conservationdevices. . .. .......... 603.6

BitealZeeRl 0 =0 Al T o S 603.1

Garbage storage facilities . . . ............ 308.3.1

iModiications i e ol R C s e 105.1

Used materials and equipment . ........... 105.4
ARCHITECTURAL

Srcturalmembers:, =Ll s SR T 304.4

L o T T L B o R S R e 304.8
ARTIFICIAL

Lighting of habitablerooms ... . ........... 401.3

Lighting of otherspaces. . ................ 402.3
AUTOMOBILE

MOMOEVERIEIES | ool i e s v s e S 302.8
AWNING

Signs, marguees and awnings. . .. ......... 304.9

B

BALCONY

Handrails and guardrails. . ... ........... 307.12
BASEMENT

BRI 0 s St o A 202

EAIGINAY S0l § 5imd ol Fil e K e & e it i R 304.16

R AT i s g o e o e e e i 304.17
BATHROOM

Common bathrooms . . ............. 502.3, 5031

Hatols o S Mas i MR i s 502.3

B Pt | = s a3 #5 7 m ir SRR T 605.3

ROk o e g s e e Ve s i A B 503.1

ENtletswaquired . v« MR R I SEIRL 605.2

RTIAGY i s -var FORDID My PRt M S 503.1

V2 e e e e 403.2
BATHTUB

Required facilities. . .. ........ ... ... ..., 502.1

Boomiit honsess et e 502.2

SR S YSIET . s i s e 506.1

Water-heating facilities. . . .. .. .......... .. 505.4

AR SR 1 i (R IO & ot L e 505.1
BOARDING

Boarding standard .................Appendix A
BOILER

Unsafeequipment. ............ ... ... 108.1.2

C

CAPACITY

Heating facilities. .. .......... 602.2, 602.3, 6024
CAR (See AUTOMOBILE)

31



INDEX

CEILING .
Basementrooms . .......... ... i 404.3
Fire-resistance ratings. . . ................ 703.1
Interiorsurfaces. ... ... ... ., 305.3
Mirias Beight .0 L e SRR I TR 404.3
CHANGE, MODIFY
Application of othercodes . .. ............. 102.3
CHIMNEY
B O T G T her: fal v o siaim e 0 ety s 303.11
[Pl o gl el b A Rl i 603.2, 603.3
CLEANING
ACCass Tor Qleaning . whwe sm steeve i ¢ 504.2
Bathroom and kitchenfloors . ............. 305.3
[Hsposal Of - Gart e vt e w s 308.3
Disposal of rubbish .. ................... 308.2
Interior sanitation . . ........ ... ... ... 308.1
JGTH TS TE) e A S St e i s 305.3
Plumbing facilities, maintained. . .. . ........ 504.1
Required plumbing facilities . ............... 502
Responsibility of persons. .. ... ........... 305.1
52 e ] e T E T R e T e ), o 308.3.2
Vacant structuresandland ............... 301.3
CLEARANCE
Heatihgfagilties. . « oo svnea . o0 i 603.3
Plumbingifitures:, ofaseds Dol aies u 504.2
CLOSING
e s et i T (e, gl WS s e Tt 109.3
VACANESIMCINFES . & in e i o inte s vl o 108.2
CLOTHES DRYER
BREERISES i oo da o< RS ST AN T 403.5
CODE OFFICIAL
O OEMINEHDE ek 1 8 f e 5 o T 108.1
= T iTe) o PR S it 110
[HOHES RN i s (0 o b e e A o, e 104
Emergency otder . . i Wi « o o o SEENE N 109
Enforcement authority ... ...... ... .. .. ... 1041
Failure to comply with demolition order. ... .. 110.3
e AL erE T oy A e e e L o NI (5 15, 104.3
S e G T s cms e e i e i 1) 4 o 104.2
Liability, relief of personal. . ... ............ 103.4
Membership of board of appeals........... 111.2
Notice of violation. . . ... ............. 104.5, 107
Noticesandorders . ...........oureaon. .. 107
I CIAlTeaErgS 5 e i rines o 5kt e G 104.6
Rersomalability i i 0 i bbbl s ot 103.4
BlaCHPAIRG S U e L it e s 108.4
BENSECIN ainaia = F i~ e i i Sr sl ey ey 106.3
Removalofplacard. . .................. 108.4.1
Tt el by o R T 2 Srite s bt i - S e 104.3
Transfer of ownership. . .................. 107.5
VACARESTEGIHIES - o2 s o el conive ot ois bimaoa e 108.2
Voting of appeals board .. .......... 111.2,111.6
COMBUSTION :
SAMEUISHOR AT 5 =% w5 s wiowms 15§ F 57 78 603.5
COMPONENT SERVICEABILITY
EINSEfo-BaRaRIONS . &« s oe it b o 306.1.1
CONDENMNATION
Closing of vacant structures .............. 108.2
Falluretocomply . . . ... ..o o an oo, 110.3
32

General ... ... e 108.1

MNoticesandorders . ............... 108.2, 108.

i ([0 (e e P e e he A A e 108.4

Removalofplacard . .. ................. 108.4.1
CONFLICT

Conflict ofinterest. . .. ....... ... . ... 111.2.3

Mielatmpsl il s ik s 106.1
CONNECTION

SeWaAGE Sy STomm e o 4 s S s 506.1

Water heating. . ..., 505.4

WaEtEERVSIEmL ... M s SR T 505.1
CONSTRUCTION

EXiSlng SHUCHIIES ( « v v o v v o s menin 1o aee aioinin 101.2
CONTAINER

A G st wene ¥ 5 e e T T 308.3.2

BUBBISHStOrage . .« vv cairmmas=s o emsls 308.2.1
CONTINUOUS

Unobstructedegress .. .......covvenon.. 702.1
CONTRACTOR

GonilickofinterBst . i . v . SV NI 111.2.3
CONTROL

Insectand ratcontrol .............. 302.5, 304.5

(ST | 2T o1 ) (e e R N I T 603.4
COOLING

Cooling towers . .. ..o v v i nns 303.11
CORRIDOR

Accumulation of rubbish. ... .............. 308.1

] et MR N o 402.2

Lighting fixtures . .. .. ...t 605.3

Ratings maintained . ... .......... ... .. ... 703

TS MOCITS; ACERSE . o cditsisrenrr e MIRASERERS 503.1

D

DAMP, DAMPNESS

RO s e e i b i e s S I A 304.7

Window, doorframes. . ................. 304.13
DANGEROUS, HAZARDOUS

CONAeMRNation ™ | &, i @5 v i e an s e 108.1

EerrolfonEie | 8.8 7T L e i 110

Electiicalinazarals. s 2 o e ol A e 604.3

Exishngiiemediess & oot abnmnmisrsiis i =s 102.4

B rarsslTay s e i 5 s S n f el e 701

Imminenfdanger: oo te ol ittt 202

Unsafeequipment. . ................... 108.1.2

Unsafe structures or premises ........... 108.1.5
DECKS

Handrails and guardrails ... ............. 304.12

MEIeanGa T S e s gt s e s e LE T 304.2, 304.10
DECORATION

EXxtarionstriBture: 00 5ty 2 st e 2araty, TR 304.8
DEMOLITION

EXIEtRG rerneties. . . o ves v v 8o e 8 R e 102.4

Eallirsegamply .. o o e 110.3

B e R R RS- SRR S WP .o 110

TG e b U I L B P L L B el o1, TS 110.2

Salragemateiiale @ ramagi s va is oot 110.4

s Sl o e T e ot & iy i 110.3

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



DETECTORS
S IO Etia e . Eletnr 5 4, o &b 5t T Fhe S e n oy e 704
DETERIORBATION
Definition. . .. ..o 202
Exteriorwalls . ... ... .. ... . . . ... ... 304.6
DIRECT
R IREEL 702.1
DISPOSAL
Disposalofgathage. ... ................. 308.3
Bispesalofrubbish N o MR 308.2
DOOR
e T o e ey ) 1 et e 702.3
TS e R R A R et - e T 703.2
AR e = b e 304.15
HSECESEIEEIG & | o tv 4 i G b ol £y = oo i 304.14
belieTpielmes] V] o f (s o b S S RSO 305.3
N e T L Ty L 304.15, 702.3
Maintenance . . ................. 304.13, 304.15
R = e | T G 304.13
Window and doorframes. ............... 304.13
DORMITORY (ROOMING HOUSE, HOTEL, MOTEL)
EoeatliclOars s mues, memms e ks i 702.3
EERFE@ s izt | it A e 1o B 503.1, 503.2
DRAIN, DRAINAGE
Basement hatchways. . ................. 304.16
Plumbing connections. .. .................. 506
SB[ O (o O = . 507
DUCT
EXRAUSTAUCT | . ovves vivn w5 55 o sl 304.9
Ductsystems ........... ... ... . ..., 607
DUST
Etecess Ventilaon: . - —% <y o o v vrmamisangs 403.4
DWELLING
ARl INeS S s v s s o - ST 305.1, 308.1
B e O 4 s A R T g L e 202
EIeGiHGERE & w0 535 w08 w6 o T 604.1
Heating facilities . .. ..o it 602
RBequiredfacilities . ... ............ ... .... 502
E
EGRESS
T B I A ——— LY W 702.2
Emergencyescape . ......... .., 702.4
TS e N T T ot g 7021
T e e e NN i ot 402.2
IGTE 32T i) 5 6] o g S R e O 702.3
Obstructions prohibited .. ................ 702.1
Stairs, porches and railings. .. ........... 304.10,

305.4, 305.5, 307.1
ELECTRIC, ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT

Abatement of hazards, fire exposure . ... .. 604.3.2
Abatement of hazards, water exposure .. ..604.3.1
CondemMnalion « « v oo s cun o nsens S0E 108.1
Electrical equipment . ...... ... ... . ... 804.3.1.1
Eecilities reduited. . . ... Gnoete me s 604.1
5 2 1 1 L= 7 o 604.3
Installation . ........ ... ... . .......... 605.1

2008 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

INBEX

LiGRERG RIS - .o - . o corrain Sltames 605.3
BeCeplatles .o . -+« v« e s s nims 604.3, 605.2
Responsibility. .. .......... llalappnpn, i3\ 601.2
e T A 0 P 604.2
ELEVATOR, ESCALATORS, DUMBWAITERS
GONHSIINENEN . . . (- AT bt b b b 108.1
5= 7] 5] N R U 606.1
A O AERCE A m h = & cn b b b 6 o g A 606.1, 606.2
EMERGENCY
Emergency measures. . ........c. ... 109
Emergencyorders . ... ... ..o, 109.1
Emergency escape cpenings . ............ 702.4
ENFORCEMENT
Duties and powers . ......ceviieninvennss 104
SRR M Rt e b e o S, R S 101.2
EGUIPMENT
PN Al | A ——— LT 105.2
Combustion alr. .. ... ...t e 603.5
Gondemnalion .« .« cnan - 108.1.2, 108.3
Eleatrical Installation . . o iwm e i s s 605.1
Erperdencyerdar:, « i simama s e o tUE TR 109.1
Energy conservation devices. .. ........... 603.6
TR ] s 0 P g e PP et Sl sy Y 603.1
JatS R B SECHIE. © T f i i - i e 305.1
BRCHIAITE 55 3 2 2w € s e s 108.3, 108.4
B EORITHIEGIESE g o x v 4 mrevis o T T 108.5
B SPEESRUEy r e e 601.2
B CHTO[S 8 Bt & r, o d e e e 603.4
SEOIChSAT NN arye x> LI B T N 101.2
Scope, mechanical and electrical .......... 601.1
SUppok; Gehmition: & - 5ol SRR AN 202
B Salee et e e oo v ok WA SRR 108
1 g P e R TSR ooy o 105.4
EXHAUST
COESARYRE: o s e lieta o v =i e sl 58 403.5
ERCAMSHEIIEEES o oo a0 i Bhiali & o 8 oaiash L £ 304.9
Brocess VERIANDN. vs o vve 14 o r oo vammanss 403.4
EXISTING
Bemetios s e vy S N ST i02.4
Slfeie s et o st R el s o e e 101.2
SRl MEmMDEES.. o . s v o iis 5 e sepn il 304.4
SIIEIINES, & s Ao i Trerdin & 3 5 5 Kb e 101.3
EXTERIOR
Decorativefeatures ....... ... .. 304.8
EXReNOESTECIHIE i ain 250 5 siie ot « IEE 304
Extetariallsia: - « . SaasisE iy Smer e it 304.6
2 P e 011~ 71 [ 304.2, 304.6
Rodent harborage. . .. ............. 302.5, 304.5
Sanitation. . ..o e 304.1
Lo o] o O 301.1
1 e T o 303.10
SHECENIMBEES . ca-vn s ey 5 4y 09 Sroaris b 303.3
Einsafe 6ondifioNs. . <. .« o v vnn o mdin 304.1.1
Meather BORE . o0 ccen i v wm oo cbmiiwms i b 303.13
F
FAN
B SEVENIS:. s vnows v 5 0 505 3 AR TOMSh T £nB026



INDEX

FEES, EXPENSES, COST
Clesing vacant structures ................ 108.2
Pemoliien <15 L CLLan s 110.1, 110.3, 110.4
Extermination . . ....... 309.2, 309.3, 309.4, 309.5
Genalal sy e S SR e o R 103.5
Relief from personal liability. ... ........... 103.4
FENCE
ACRESEORNE T AL 1 e e 1 a o i o e e 302.7
MAAISNGEIEE " < v o1 Dhadie ey o wb o T 304.2
FIRE
Automatic sprinkler systems. . ........... 70411
Fire-resistance rated assemblies. . ......... 703.1
Fire-protection systems. . .................. 704
Responsibility, fire safety . .. .............. 701.2
SRR EIO N = S e I e o gt R A 101.2
Scope, e Satelly. (v e o5 5 ot 5 it on 701.1
O A TS i o b amarle o SR TIENENE 704.2
FLAMMABLE LIQUID
CORINERE, v, o 59 4 b 5 s e mas E G et T 108.1.2
FLOOR, FLOORING
Area for sleeping purposes. .. ........... 404.4.1
Fire-resistance ratings. . ................. 703.1
Interior surfaces .. ... .t ioan 305.1, 305.3
Space requirements. . ............ 404.4.1, 404.8
FOOD PREPARATION
Cookingequipment ..................... 403.3
Sanitary condition................:305.1,404.7
V0 e N S IR — 403.4
FOUNDATION
O BN AT e e a5 £ R s 108.1.1
EDUREHon WallS o rsrms s e e sl b e 304.5
FRAME
Window and doorframes. . .............. 304.13
G
GAS
Energy conservation devices. .. ........... 803.6
Exhaustvents.............c.... ... ou.. 302.6
GLAZING
IBIECIEIS . et e iR e 5 o TR 304.13.1
GRADE
617 T 1 IR e SRR POPERIG 1. L1 302.2, 507
GUARD
Anchorage and maintenance. . ........... 304.12
Basementwindows. .. ................ 304.18.2
Definition. . ... ... . . 202
H
HABITABILE
Definition. . ... ... . . 202
Light ... .. 402
Minimum ceiling height ... ... ........... 404.3
Minimumrcomwidth . . ....... ... ... .... 404.2
Required plumbing facilities .. .............. 502
Residential heating facilities . . .. ... .. 602.2, 602.3
Space requirements . .. ....... ... ..., 404.4.1
Ventifation ............. . ... ... ... 403

34

HANDRAILS AND GUARDRAILS

Handralig iz 423 0 ¢ s ontte ==, 304.12, 305.5, 307.1

SRS and DOTENES. « o v wi g s T L S 304.10
HARDWARE

Doathardwarar D, . .. e e 30415, 702.3

Openablewindows . .................. 304.13.2
HAZARDOUS (See DANGEROUS, HAZARDCOUS)
HEAT, HEATING

Energy conservation devices. . ............ 603.6

B e e RN s s i = = a s s w8 18 ) HiE 603.1

T I G v st oy wanras o i o) e el e il 6031

Mechanical equipment. . ................. 603.1

Required capabilities. . . ........... ... ..., 602

Residential heating .. .............. 602.2, 602.3

L e e ecra 411572 il LT O P 602.3

Water heating facilities. .. ................ 505.4

Watameycialiyl T R e 505
HEIGHT

Minimum ceiling height .................. 404.3
HOT (See HEAT, HEATING)
HOTELS, ROOMING HOUSES AND DORMITORY

UNITS, MOTELS

BB OMEL o = = wom s i o o e R AR 202

(GRS HluloT o (oA 5 702.3

Baoiired Taclitias ... viw.men R 0 E R 502

7 o] 5y EEaTo] £ = psE NSRS P || 503
HOUSEKEEPING UNIT

EEHMORE S § v b ssnvmmee 15§ oa A 202

l

IDENTIFICATION

EEEleBINE Al il <o b e s e e 104.5
INFESTATION

Condemnation. . ...........c.c.coouun. 108.1.3

=T o0 P, | e 202

Insectandrat. ............. 302.5, 303.14, 309.1
INSECTS

Bt MNANON s = = m o S ek s s st & 309

|12 511 170) 7 PR SRSPE O ST S 309.1

Insectscreens . ....ccvviiiieecnnnnn . 304.14
INSPECTIONS

S e R T A 104.2

Rightofeniry ...... . .. .. ... .. ... .... 104.3
INSPECTOR

ldentification. . ......... ... .. .. ... 104.3

Inspections. . ... ..o i i 104.2

Records ... ... ... .. 104.6
INTENT

Code. . . 101.3
INTERIOR

Interior structure . . ... ... .o o 305

Interiorsurfaces. ......... ... o oo 305.3

Meansofegress........ ... .. 702

Sanitation. . ... .. oL 305.1

Unsafe conditions . .................... 305.1.1

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



o
JURISDICTION
Title ... 101.1
K
KITCHEN
Elactrical outlets required . ............... 605.2
Minimumwidth. ... ... . ... ... . ... 404.2
Prohibiteduse....... ... .. ... ....... 404.4.4
Roomlighting. . ... .......... ... ... ..... 605.3
Water heating facilities. .. ............... . 505.4
L
LANDING
Handrailsandguards . ................. 304.12,
305.4, 305.5, 306.1
Maintenance . ................... 304.10, 305.4
LAUNDRY
Roomiighting. . .......... ... ... .. .... 605.3
Water-heating facilities. . .......... .. ..., 505.4
LAVATORY
Hotels. . ... e 502.3
Required facilities . ....................... 502
Roominghouses . ........ ... .. ... ... Bp2.2
Sanitary drainage system . ... ......... ... .. 506
Water-heating facilities. ... ... . ........... 505.4
Watersystem .. ......... ... ... . ... 505
LEASE (SELL, RENT)
Heatsupplied.......................... 802.3
Salvagematerials .................... .. 1i0.4
Transferof ownership. ... ................ 107.6
LIEN
Closing of vacant structures .............. 108.2
Demolition ........ .. .. ... . ... 110.3
Failuretocomply . ... ... ... ot 110.3
LIGHT, LIGHTING
Commeon halls and stairways ... ... .. 402.2, 605.3
General. ... e e 402
Habitablerooms. . ............. ... ...... 402.1
Luminaires . . ... ... .o 605.3
Otherspaces ...... ... ... ... 402.3
Responsibility. . ........... ... ......... 401.2
SCOpPE. . e 101.2
Toiletrooms ... ... 605.3
LIVING ROOM
ROOMIEEEE < « v iy ic s e s aa s e i gk 404.4 1
LOAD, LOADING
Elevators, escalators and dumbwaiters. .. . .. 606.1
Handrails and guardrails. . . ........ 304.12, 305.5
Civerlaad:, o oo cramee®Res o i o ol 304.4, 305.2
Stairsandporches . .............. 304.10, 305.2
Structuralmembers ............... 304.4, 305.2
M
MAINTENANCE
S (T} = (o P e S P g AP = 102.2

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

INDEX

MATERIAL
o 2T T O AL . S e S 105.2
DEVATIES — ¢ it w5 Koo il T4 05 Wemea i = S 110.4
S I A T R R B B Rt B W AT - 105.4
MEANS OF EGRESS (See EGRESS)
MECHANICAL
T2 EE1 | 21 (7] el idbuab ettt s bl vl = 603.1
BesBolisiDInE, & = FSimi sl | Fhisie i 601.2
0] BISar e VN e SN P A Sl ey o 601.1
Ventilation, general . . ... ... ... . ol 403
Ventilation, toiletrooms .. ................ 403.2
MINIMUM
v [Tk s E o] 7 e S C A= =Sl 404.3
ERGOTEEVEIBIENE <5 5 o i b i Ca e b i 404.2
e L5 B R P e oy S S e 301.1
MODIFICATION
ABRrOVAL ) el et e s 105.1
MOTEL (See HOTELS)
MOTOR VEHICLES
IR R TR s e ot ittt T i e s 302.8
BTG sl ot s e e SRR Y L 302.8
N
NATURAL
[ e e e e e O 5 401.3, 402
Ventilation. . ... ... RN o 401.3, 403
NOTICES AND ORDERS
Apaemlll i e Ba e g S S L e 1111
ORI il 2 i 62 i b gt oot Hiios s 107.2
M etociol SOTVIOR: o /.« i ifasrids ot ol i 107.3
L S | e I U o e o2 Bl S oo 107
QOwner, responsible person ... ............ 107.1
BEm A e b o o e e s e o 107.5
Placarding of structure. ... . .............. 108.4
Transfer of ownership. ... ... ... ... 107.6
Unauthorized tampering . ................ 107.4
Vacating structure . ......... ... .. ....... 108.2
NOXIOUS
Process ventilation. .. ................... 403.4
WECCISEM N o g e e T 1 A e Cnt 302.4
NUISANCE
Closing of vacant structures . ............. 108.2
0
OBSTRUCTION
Light.. ... o 4021
Rightofentry ....... ... ... .. ... ..... 104.3
OCCUPANCY (See USE)
OPENABLE
Lockeddoors . ... ... i 702.3
Windows ..................... 304.13.2, 403.
OPERATOR
Definition. ... ... ..o . 202
ORDER (See NOTICE)
ORDINANCE, RULE
Applicability . . ... .. ... o L 102



INDEX

Application forappeal ............. ... ... 111.1
OUTLET
EIEEHTRE] crntivtronie dias a6 araaean &9 5w o e 605.2
OWNER
Closing of vacant structures .. ............ 108.2
Definition. ..., 202
BETTIEI Tofii i, A - S sl 110
Regke T IRE Ry 5 Y s 5§ 9 5 bt A U 2 2 e 309.2
ERIe 0 COMPIT, 5 ¢ ¢ e v o el 110.3
Insect and rat control . . ....... 302.5, 309.2, 309.
IOHCES " 5 e F I o 1yt wmirassinl st 107.1, 108.3
Placarding of structure. .. ... ............. 108.4
ResponsBIY e e . e 301.2
Responsibility, firesafety .. ............... 701.2
Responsibility, light, ventilation ............ 401.2
Responsibility, mechanical and electrical . . ..601.2
Responsibility, plumbing facilities. . .. .. .. ... 501.2
(2110|7102} =177 AP R |, = o B0 T 104.3
Rubbish.stofage - . ... .ooevibmaiads g 308.2.1
e MR v ro kL s M e e 101.2
Transfer of ownership. ... ................ 107.6
P
PASSAGEWAY
Common hall and stairway. ... ............ 402.2
SN C S DIACES b i 4t g5 o g e it (T DO 305.3
Toilet rooms, directaccess. .. ............. 503.1
PENALTY
Netices andorders. .o v vy cmadd oy o s 107.4
Placarding of structire. ... . ..o .o, 108.4
Prohibited occupancy. . ... ... .o 108.5
Removalofplacard. .. ................. 108.4.1
SCOE G S b 4 S Sl o) e 2N 101.2
WA B e Rt R MR ol o e s oyl 106.4
PEST ELIMINATION
Condemnation . ......... ... .. cii.un.. 108.1
L fatineye, S, A N el w e s i b 202
Insect and rat control . . 302.5, 304.5, 304.14, 309.1
s R L] i Mt o Lk ol e 309.1
Responsihility of owner. . ........... 301.2, 306.
Responsibility of tenant-occupant. . . .. 306.3, 306.5
PLACARD, POST
DS TR o o el las = e s B S s 108.2
Eonee Ao, oo bay BB o daleoaiin sas 5 108.1
Demolition. .......... ... . e 110
Emergency, notice . ........... ... . ..., 109.1
Noticetoowner. .................. 107.1, 108.
Placarding of structure. ... .. .......... ... 108.4
Prohibiteduse .. ....... ... .. ... . ... 108.5
Removal ...... ... ... ... ... .. ... 108.4.1
PLUMBING
Cleanand sanitary. . .................... 5041
Clearance. . .. ..ot e e e e 504.2
Connections. . . ... ... o i 505.1
Contamination . .......... ... .. ... ... .. 505.2
Employee’s facilities. . ............ ... ... 503.3
Fixtures ... ... .. e 504.1
Required facilities . . ... ... ... ... .. .. 502

36

Responsibility . . . cive e o vin i vivren e venes 501.2
Sanitary drainage system . ... ........ ... ... 506
T LT ST ey 501.1
SIENEEINROR o, voss s 2w wmw1am a0 o b e 808 8 507
SUPPIY e 505.3
Water heating facilities. . .. ............... 505.4
PORCH
IR o] 53 [ ——— T =R R 304.12
o 0 ezt [ VAT 011 o NSRRI OR—— 304.10
PORTABLE (TEMPORARY)
Cooking equipment . . ............. ... ... 603.1
PRESSURE
WIEESESIODING 0 . b ivaiin 36 s 5 omsharac = 505.3
PRIVATE, PRIVACY
Bathtub or shower . . . oo 4. v vvn v s e 503.1
Occupancy limitations . .................. 4041
Required plumbing facilities . ............... 502
SOWALRESYSION. . | % coae ae o5 5 o m 5 g Eain 506.1
Water closetand lavatory ................ 503.1
WWETBERRVETSING o 2 o o afbiadhinis =i e 505.1
PROPERTY, PREMISES
(6 T e e R e 304.1, 308.1
(00 (1= 10) 5 T2 o] P SOOI SR o 108
DRI 5 s = 52 155 & s s e e S e 202
2 o] [ e e e O e e ey 110
Emergency measureS. .. ..o vvveneennenen.. 109
A b P o R . o =D e, i 302

Pest elimination, multiple occupancy . . 302.5, 309.4
Pest elimination, single occupancy. . . . 302.5, 309.3

e AQEOBIE & o Lo 5l e 110.3
Gradinganddrainage . .................. 302.2
Respensibilbyc S S e, e 301.2
ol I gk S AP W PTG o Mo T i | 301.1
SIOFRLCPEINATD . 1 4 <5 s immniy 35457 « piis el 507
Vacant structures andland .. ............. 301.3
PROTECTION
Basementwindows . ................... 304.17
Fire-protection systems. .. ................. 704
Signs, marquees and awnings. .. .......... 304.9
PUBLIC
e e A AP TR i = o e il 304.1, 305.1
R e e R PR e et el e 702.1
NN e e el Wl 15, 5 502.3
Sewags systam™. S S s 506.1
Jalletasilitias " 'y o f e dma sy a e Siecs 502.5, 50
Vacant structuresand land ............... 301.3
Watersystem .......... ... ... . ... 505
PUBLIC WAY
Definition. ........ ... .. . i i, 202
R

RAIN (PREVENTION OF ENTRY INTO BUILDING
EXTERIOR ENVELOCPE)

Basement hatchways. . ................. 304.16
Exteriorwalls . .......... ... . ... ... ... 304.6
Grading and drainage . .................. 303.2
Roofs .. ... 304.7
Window and doorframes. ............... 30413

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®



RECORD
Officialrecords. . ... ... ... ... .. .. 104.7
REHABILITATION
Intent ... .. . 101.3
REPAIR
Application of othercodes ... .......... ... 102.3
Chimneys.............. ... ......... 30411
Demolition .. ....... ... . oL 1101
Exteriorsurfaces .. ...... ... .. .. .. 304.1
Maintenance . ... ......... ... . ... 102.2
Signs, marquees and awnings. . ........... 304.9
Stairsandporches. . ................ ... 304.10
Weathertight ... ........ .. ... ... ..... 304.13
Workmanship. .. ... ... .. . o L 102.5
REPORTS
Testreports. . ... ... oL 105.3.2
RESIDENTIAL
Pestelimination. .. ......... ... ... ........ 309
Residential heating . ........ ... ... ... 602.2
SCOPE. - e 101.2
RESPONSIBILITY
Pestelimination. . .......... ... .. ... ...... 309
Firesafety ... ... .. o L 701.2
Garbagedisposal. . ..................... 308.3
General ....... ... ... .. ... . . 301.2
Mechanical and electrical ... ............. 601.2
Persons .. ... 301.1
Placarding of structure. .. ................ 108.4
Plumbing facilities .. .................... 501.2
Rubbishstorage .. .. ......... ... ... .. 308.2.1
SCODE .o 101.2, 301.1
HREVOKE, REMOVE
Demolition. ....... ... ... . 110
Existingremedies. . .. ... .. .. oL 102.4
Removalofplacard. . .................. 108.4.1
Rubbishremoval. ..................... 308.2.1
RIGHT OF ENTRY
Duties and powers of code official . . .. .. .. .. 104.3
Inspections. . ....... ... i 104.2
RODENTS
Basement haichways. . ... .............. 304.16
Condemnation. ................ .. ... .. 108
Exteriorsurfaces .................. .. ... 304.6
Pestelimination . ... ...... ... ... ... 302.5, 309
Guards for basement windows ........... 304.17
Harborage ........... ... ... .. ... . ..., 302.5
insect and rodentcontrol . . ............ ... 309.1
ROGF
EXTEriorStrUGIHEG: L o o, ¢ 550 o ips siiaa e - 304 .1
| TS I iy o R AN YR Al =R e R 304.7
SHOM ARBTG5 - < = s i e i s e 507
ROOM
Bedroom and livingroom................. 404.4
Cooking facilities . ...................... 403.3
3} i 2= Yol =13 TN HE S el S 503.2
EISONARIE Jv s s S 0o b SEEeD waan 402.1
Heating facilities . . ...... .. ..ol 602
BISIE oo e mvssnsipa s o 5 e e it s 402
Minimum ceiling heights. . .. .............. 404.3

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

INDEX

Minimumwidth. . ....................... 404.2
Overcrowding., .. .............. e 404.5
Prohibited use. . ........... ... ... .. 404.4.4
Temperaiure. .. ... oo e 802.5
Toilet . ... oo 503
Ventilation . ... ... ... o o 403
ROOMING HOUSES (Seec DORMITORY)
RUBBISH
Accumulation .. ...... ... .o i 308.1
Definition. .. ... ... ... . L 202
Disposal .. .. ..o 308.2
Garbage facilities ............ ... .... 308.31
Rubbishstorage .. ......... ... .. ... 308.2.1
S
SAFETY, SAFE
Fire safety requirements. . ... .. 701, 702, 703, 704
Safetycontrols . ........ .. ...l 603.4
SANITARY
Bathroom and kitchenfloors .............. 305.3
Cleanliness . .. ................. .. 304.1, 305.1
Disposalofgarbage. ... ........... ... ... 308.3
Disposal of rubbish ........... . ... ... 308.2
Exterior propertyareas . ... ... ... ... ... 302.1
Exteriorstructure . ... ... .. oL 3041
Food preparation .. .. ... o i 404.7
Furnished by occupant . ........ ... ..... 3021
Greaseinterceptors. .. ....... ... ... . ... 506.3
Interiorsurfaces . ... ... .. . oL 305.3
Plumbing fixtures .. .. ... .. . oL 504.1
Required plumbing facilittes ... ............. 502
SCOPE. o 101.2
SASH
Window . ... ... . 304.13
SCREENS
Insectscreens . ........... ... ... e 304.14
SECURITY
Basement hatchways ... .............. 304.18.3
Building ........ .. ... . 304.18
Doors. .. ... o0 e 304.18.1
Vacant structuresandland ............... 301.3
Windows ... ... ... . 304.18.2
SELF-CLOSING SCREEN DOORS
Insectscreens .. ..., ... L 304.14
SEPARATION
Fire-resistance ratings . ................... 703
BIVACT e S 18 ga i g g ST e I e, e 4041
Sepatation el nits o S onr . T e U 404.1
Water closetand lavatory . ............... 502.1
SERVICE
FIeCHIGAL §aiaat 100 1 05§ I aneathiie T aneeiess 604.2
BACSHIGED: @ 254020 4.0 « JOWLECIT WM, S5 107.3
Noticesandorders . ............... 107.1,108.3
Serviceonoccupant . ....... . . . el a.. 108.3
SEWER '
CAOTIEIBEL vt i o B 5 Do ks B AR Ak 506.1
PIRHATEHRREE L1 & v vwis oy s i s B S it 22 506.2



INDEX

SHOWER
BEalkilbotshalNer oo co s rr it i e e 502.1
Booming REUSES . . v vt a e n s sncas 502.2
Water-heating facilities. . .. ............... 505.4
AT SYSTONE b S0 04 ba s i S hvasi S5 fot 505
SIGN
Signs, marquees and awnings. .. .. ........ 304.9
Unauthorized tampering ................. 107.4
SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLING
Exierminatien bl f s n A0 N e 309
SINK
R EIOTIREINCT: 25 e e i omisins oo o bita P 5021
SeWAGE SYSIEM . v v v s v s o re e 5086
VO SHPRING & .. s iabis s b oa 58 5 8 b bt ie 3.2 § B05.3
SIZE
Habitable room, light. ..................... 402
Habitable room, ventilation . . ............... 403
BV S e A B B e, i v, e 404.4.1
SMOKE
o N TS el s s e B R e e e 704.2
il e e ol ifereddleTn e et ol b S Al o S RL 704.4
R ES USRI E . W e e 704.3
SPACE
Gemarallights. . | . s o ] i 402
GERET VENIBHON . v s v st e bl 403
Geoupancy Imtations. « « .« . ¢ s e pmeies o mas 404
[P (e s S, P s (D I e 4041
T e Ty e I 401.1
STACK
@R B S5 L, s sunmsi sclmeCandl S 304.11
STAIRS
Common halls and stairways, light ......... 402.2
S i T 1 e e M et e 305.4
B AR S, s it St o s i 304.12, 305.5
LTEITRERRESST w2 st b e b s e a3 s @ & v e 605.3
EBNGATE AR o 4 i 1 asi/e T07E" + 1. Bt b e 302.3
Stairsandporches. .......... ... ... .... 304.10
STANDARD
BEOIaAOEEE - . . e s e s o e i 102.7
STOP WORK ORDER
AUHTOLES 5~ ol 2 o dReg et oams dasnn . 2 112.1
N SIICR S i s vt v o s v s o ST 112.3
Failure‘to complyssmesss sommang: st -1n 112.4
JocHEeRn s ol 0 L i h e e e 112.2
STORAGE
Food Dreparation v 5 ielie-s i el ke i 404.7
Garbage storage facilities ................ 308.3
Rubbish storage facilities . . ............. 308.2.1
SAMANONR 1. . v §os OIS St e e i 308.1
STRUCTURE
Accessorystructures .. ... ... e 302.7
Closing of vacant structures . ............. 108.2
REHEEGER: - 5 5 00 e s s e b i il 202
Emergency measures. . ......ccvveeennnn 109
GENEAl EXARIION . oot 550 4 b 5505 4o g 304.1
General, condemnation. . .................. 110
General, interior structure ... ............. 305.1
Placarding of structure. .. ................ 108.4
38

GEOREE it e Y T s S et 3011
Structural members ....... .. .. ... 304.4, 305.2
Vacant structuresandland . .............. 301.3
SUPPLY
CambUstamalr. . .o e o5 i o i vt 1 603.5
CONNECHDRS . < 2, o= DAL S 505.1
Water-heating facilities. . . ................ 505.4
VWETRRSUERRE ¢ 4 235 aqmzimny 50 5 2.0, S RETEET 505.3
WAlEESYSIEM e samermns e 505
SURFACE
B e O RGeS, 1% o g ot ks 304.2,304.6
IFMISTIOESUTEBES2 5 204 Cind s P 305.3
SWIMMING
Swimmingpools . .......... ... 303.1, 303.2
SN COVELS s ¥ o4 b F e 1 a - T 308.2
T
TEMPERATURE
Nonresidential structures. . ............... 602.4
Residential buildings .................... 602.2
Water-heating facilities. . ... .............. 505.4
TENANT
SRR s asta.e 0,0 % & 5 54 =40 R 1 IR 101.2
TEST, TESTING
G B F il e e e e 5 Rmpigr drierizs 2o 6 Boe SIAT S 105.3.2
lzael o S R At A} KT S N AN A 105.3.1
A A e o e . -y ] s 105.3.2
REGITaHca s 1 s 0.8 VRS BT SN o 105.3
TOXIC
Process ventilation: . . - v ..o v v e e oo aun 403.4
TRASH
Rubbishandgarbage .. ................... 308
U
UNOBSTRUCTED
Accesstopublicway ... .. . . o0 L 702.1
GenBra | SEESS L 1L Y A ¢ vy SRS 702.1
UNSAFE STRUCTURES AND EQUIPMENT
Abatement methods. ... ... ... .. .. ... ... 108.6
Dangerous structure or premises. ........ 108.1.56
S Ll e e o s TS AT s 108.1.2
EXISUNEGTEMEdias: 5= Liie ) Lo s s 102.4
General, condemnation. . ... ........... 108, 110
General, demolition. . . .. ... ..o e 110
Noticesandorders. . ................ 107, 108.3
BRSBTS o v arer st i e A B0 e B b i & T 108.7
SHUCIUIEE L L na b b o NSRRI QN 108.1.1
USE
Application of othercodes . . .............. 102.3
General, demoliion. . « . vo v s asmer s sacon- 110
UTILITIES
Authority to disconnect . ... ... ......... 108.2.1
Vv
VACANT
Abatementmethods. ... .. ..... ... ... ... 108.6

2008 INTERMATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTEMANCE CODE®



Authorily to disconnect service uiilities. . . . . 108.2.1
Closing of vacant structures . ............. 108.2
Emergency measure. . . ... ... ... 109
Methodofservice ... ............... 107.3, 108.3
Notice to owner or to
persontresponsible. ............... 107, 108.3
Placarding of structure. . .. ............... 108.4
Lo e 108.7
Vacant structures andland ............... 301.3
VAPOR
Exhaustvents. ... ...................... 302.6
VEHICLES
Inoperative . .......... ... . .. 302.8
Paititing . .o covin oo e 302.8
VENT
Connections. . ......... .. ... 504.3
Exhaustvents. . .............. ... ... .... 302.6
B g e U - 603.2
VENTILATION
Clothes dryerexhaust .. ................. 403.5
Combustionair. .......... ..., 603.5
Definition. . ........ oo i 202
General, ventilation. ... ....... ... ... ... ... 403
Habitablerooms. . .. ....... ... ... ....... 403.1
Process ventilation. .. ................... 403.4
Recirculation. . ................... 403.2, 403.4
LG 67 ) P P S A 403.2
VERMIN
Condemnation. .............. ... ... 108
Insectand ratcontrol . . .............. 302.5, 309
VIOLATION
Condemnation. . .. ....................... 108
GEheEN csemmar. ... - . .- BA RIS E T O 106
T e 1 e 107,108.3
BEMBY: - 2 comaize o v vv e e e e bk 106.4
Placarding of structure. . ................. 108.4
Prosecution . ... ........ ... ... ...... 106.3
Strict liability offense ................ 106.3, 202
Transfer of ownership. . ... ... ... ... . ... 107.6
W
WALK
Sidewalks............ ... .. 302.3
WALL
Accessory structures . . ... .. ... oL 302.7
Exteriorsurfaces. . ................ 304.2, 304,
Exteriorwalls . . .......... ... ... ... .... 304.6
Foundationwalls . ......... ... .. ... .... 304.5
General, fire-resistance rating ... .......... 703.1
Interiorsurdaces. . ............. . ... ..... 305.3
Qutfetsrequired ... ... ... ... .. ... ..... 605.2
Temperature measurement ... ............ 602.5
WASTE
Disposal ofgarbage. . . .......... ........ 308.3
Disposal of rubbish . .................... 308.2
Dwellingunits. . ........ ... ... ... .. ... 502.1
Garbage storage facilities. . .. ......... .. 308.3.1

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®

iNDEX

WATER
Basement hatchways. .. ..... ... ... ... 304.16
Connections. . ......... . i n. 506.1
Contamination .. ........ ... ... ... ...... 505.2
General,sewage. . ... ... . o 506
General, stormdrainage .. . ................. 507
General, watersystem . .. ............ ... .. 505
o (=2 e e N 505.4
e e e e RN TR 1 T~ 1T TR 502.3
Ktehe REE T 2 crscrmme s s vim w bt SRR i« o o 502.1
Required facilites . ... . ....... ... ... . ... 502
Roominghouses . .................... .. 502.2
(51T 15 A R S P 505.3
T L ey o) ota TP L S ST 1 S 505
NaNe R E GRS e e i e 8 i g o v v n e e 503
Water-heating facilities. .. ................ 505.4
WEATHER, CLIMATE
Heating facilities .. . ... ... ... ... ... .. .. 602
WEATHERSTRIP
Window and doorframes. ............... 304.13
WEEDS
Noxiousweeds. . . ..o e et 302.4
WIDTH
Minimum roomwidth ... ... ... ... ... ... 404.2
WIND
Weathertight . ... ...... . ... ... . ... 304.13
Window and doorframes. ............... 304.13
WINDOW
EMergency escape ... 702.4
e b [T s g e BT, T LT Rt N 304.13.1
Guards for basement windows ........... 304.17
Habitablerooms. ... ... ... ... ... ..... 402.1
INSEEESEIEBNS - & vourvins c e s ss shoiaide o v o 304.14
interiorsurface. . . ... ... .. 305.3
[ 6™ e el e 402
Openablewindows . .................. 304.13.2
Toiletrooms .. ... 403.2
Ventilation . ....... ... i 403
Weathertight ........ ... ... .. ...... 30413
Window and door frames. .. ............. 30413
WORKMANSHIP
General ..... ... . ... 102.5

32



40

2009 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE®









Don’t Miss Out On Valuable
ICC Membership Benefits.
Join ICC Today!

Join the largest and most respected building code
and safety organization. As an official member of
the International Code Council®, these great ICC®
benefits are at your fingertips.

EMCLUSIVE MEMBER DISCOUNTS
ICC members enjoy exclusive discounts on codes, technical
publications, seminars, plan reviews, educational materials,
videos, and other products and setvices.

ENHAMNCE YOUR CAREER S
ICC keeps you current on the latest building

TECHNICAL SUPPORT

ICC members get expert code support services,

opinions, and technical assistance from codes, methods, and materials. Quy

experienced engineers and architects, backed by &% conferences, job postings, and educational

the world’s leading repository of code publications. programs can also help you advance your
career.

FREE CODE—LATEST EDITION
Most new individual members receive a
free code from the latest edition of the
International Codes®. New corporate

CODE NEWS

ICC members have the inside track for

code news and industry updates via e-mails, newsletters,
and governmental members receive one conferences, chapter meetings, networking, and the ICC
set of major International Codes (Building, i website (www.iccsafe.org). Obtain code opinions, reports,
Residential, Fire, Fuel Gas, Mechanical, Plumbing, adoption updates, and more. Without exception, ICC is
Private Sewage Disposal). your number one source for the very latest code and safety
standards information.

L i

FREE CODRE MONOGRAPHS

Code monographs and other materials on proposed MEMBER RECOGNITION
International Code revisions are provided free to ICC Improve your standing and prestige among your peers.
members upon request. ICC member cards, wall certificates, and logo decals identify

your commitment to the community and to the safety of
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT people worldwide.
Receive Member Discounts for on-site
training, institutes, symposiums, audio
virtual seminars, and on-line training!
ICC delivers educational programs that
enable members to transition to the
I-Codes®, interpret and enforce codes, petform plan reviews,
design and build safe structures, and perform administrative
functions more effectively and with greater efficiency.
Members also enjoy special educational offerings that provide
a forum to learn about and discuss current and emerging
issues that affect the building industry.

JOIN NOW! 1-888-422-7233, x33804 | www.iccsafe.org/membership

INTERNATIONAL
CU D E C 0 U NCI L People Helping People Build a Safer World™

ICC NETWORKING

Take advantage of exciting new opportunities
to network with colleagues, future employers,
potential business partners, industry experts,
and mare than 50,000 ICC members. ICC also |
has over 300 chapters across North America
and around the globe to help you stay informed on local
events, to consult with other professionals, and to enhance
your reputation in the local community.




INTERNATIONAL

EUDE CUUN[:". People Helping People Build a Safer World™

VALUABLE GUIDES TO THE
2009 I-CODES”

R [T g e e
1 &
FRINATIOMAL PLUMBING COD A
llfhj-'l;EENATlON.r’\l. MECHANiCALDC]E(?DE
| INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CO

T pes =]

2006
EDITIONS
ALSO
AVAILABLE

NEW!
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE 2009 INTERNATIONAL CODES”®

Valuable resources for anyone using the International Codes! Each book offers a comprehensive yet practical analysis of the critical
changes made between the 2006 and 2009 editions of the codes. Changes are identified then followed by in-depth discussion of how
the change affects real-world application. Coverage reflects provisions with special significance, including new and innovative design
ideas and technologies, modern materials and methods of construction, and current approaches to safety and stability. Authored by
ICC code expetts, these useful tools are “must-have” guides to the many important changes in the 2009 International Codes.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE INTERNATIONAL BUILBING CODE, 2009 EDITION (365 pages)
Authors Doug Thornburg, AIA, and John Henry, P.E. #7024509

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE, 20098 EDITION (350 pages)
Author Stephen A. Van Note #710150%

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE, 2003 EDITION (300 pages)
Author Scott Stookey #7404509

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE/INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE/ i
INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE, 2009 EDITION {220 pages)
Authors Bob Konyndyk, Scott Stookey, and Jay Woodward #7202509

TO ORDER | PHONE 1-800-786-4452 | WWW.ICCSAFE.ORG _-1._



r7c> ICC EVALUATION
@S SERVICE

Innovative Building Products

Make sure they are up to code with ICC-ES Evaluation Reports

The ICC-ES Solution

ICC Evaluation Service® (ICC-ES®), a subsidiary of ICC®, was created to assist code officials and industry
professianals in verifying that new and innovative building products meet code requirements. This is done through
a comprehensive evaluation process that results in the publication of ICC-ES Evaluation Reports for those products
that comply with requirements in the code or acceptance critera. Today, more code officials prefer using ICC-ES
Evaluation Reports over any other resource to verify products comply with codes.

FREE Access
to ICC-ES

JCC EVALUATION
ES Stiice

Evaluation
Reports!

P pat Widdely Accep

e

ICC-ES Evaluation Report ESR-4802
Issued March 1, 2008
This raport is sibject i¢ re-examination in one year.

wenwiice-es.org | 1-800-423-6587 | (562) 699-0643 A Subsidiary of the Intemational Code Councif® William Gregory
Building and Plumbing
DIVISION: 97—THERMAL AND MO|STURE PROTECTION f ion instruclions.  The ef' Inspector
Seclion:  0T410—Nelal Roof and Wall Panats installalion inslruclions musl be available al the jobsite at all
limes during installation. The roof panels must be instalied on
REPORT HOLDER: solid or closely filtled docking, as specified In Seclion 3.2, Town Of YOTkﬁOWﬂ,
Accessories such as quiters, drip angles, faseias, ridge caps, New York

ACME CUSTOM-BILT PANELS
53380 FLOWER BTREET
GHICO, MONTANA £3820

windew or gable trim, valley and hip flashings, ete., ate
fahricaled to suil each ob condiion. Delalls musi be
submilled fo the code official for each installation,

(808) 664~1512 i “We've been using
veuwrcustombilipanels.com 4.2 Rool Panel Installation: - i
5 ! 424 CB-150: The CB-150 roof panels are Inslafisd on ro0f ICC-ES Evaluation Reports as a basis of product
EVALUATION SUBJECT: shaving a minimum slope of 212 {17 peicenl). The roof approval since 2002 IWOLild recommend
1. panels are installed over the oplional undedayment and .
,}CSYDM'B“T s FANDEE SEAM MEFALUREUE PANELLS: BE: secured fo the sheathing with the panet clip. The clips are e A
lacated at each panel b Side fap spaced B inchas (152 mm) them to any jurisdiction building department,
from all ends and at 4 maxfmum of 4 leet (1.22 m) on canfer . i =
BE G RYALY AT SCDRE slong the length of the rib, and fastened wilh 5 minimum of particularly in light of the many new products
Compliance with the fellowing codes: o Mo. 10 by 1-inch pan head corrasion-resislant screws, v ),
» 7006 Infernationsl Building Coda”™ (\BG) Thie panel flbs ate mechanleally searmed twice, each pass af that I’EEU[al’ly move inte the market. It's
- 2006 klemationaf Resdeniial Cooe® (IRG) 90 degrees, resulling in a deuble-locking fold. b R r-
L ST e BT good to have a group like ICC-ES evaluating
Al e The stesl panels sre considered Class A roof coverings in these products with a consistent and reliable
; accordance with Ihe excaplion (o IBC Section 1505.2 and IRC
Fme I Sention RODZ. 1. methodalogy that we can trust.”
* Heinthup pesietaer 4.4 Wind Uplife Resistance:
ZD USES The systems described in Seclion 3.0 and instalied in
Custom-8ill Stznding Seam hlelal Roof Panels are stesl accordance with Scclions 4.1 and 4.2 have an allowable wind
panels complying with |BC Section 15074 and IRC Section uplift resistance of 45 pounds per square foot (2,15 kPa). BEC’(Y B"ker’ CBO
R305.10, The panels are recognized lor use as Class Atool 54 CONDITIONS OF USE Director/Buildl'ng Official
coverings when instalied in acgordance with this reporl Rl Lol Fra b e ek i T B
e slanding sean metal roof panels describsd in this 12pe)
) “DESCRIETION comply with, or are suitable aliercatives 16 whatls spacifisd In, Jefferson County,
3.1 Rooling Panels: those codes Hsted in Section 1.0 of this 1eporl, subject lo the
Gustom-Bilt standing seam roof panels are fabricated ia stecl Tollewing conditiors: Colorado
and ?n: auanr-ﬁle in the CB-150 and SL-1750 profites. The 5.1 Installation musl comply with this report, the applicable
panels are roll-formsd st the Jobsite to pravide the sianding code, and Ihe f i i i i L3 L i
scams betwaen panels See Flgures 1 and 3 for panel inatructions. If Inese is a confict betwesn this report end The 1CC-ES Evaluatlon
profiles. The standing seam reof panels are roli-fomed from Ihe ‘s published i ion i ians. this H
minimum No. 24 gage {0.024 inch thick (061 mm)j cold- reparl gaverns. Reports are designed
formed sheat stesl. The steel conforms to ASTM A 792, with : : i : i f { i
gt eh g ] 5.2 The required design wind loads musl be determined for th the end user in mind to help determine
an aluminum-zine alloy conting designation of AZ50, ek i3 oot e et _W| 'th nd us! p
3.2 Decking: nol excaed 45 pountls per square foot (2.15 kPs), if building products comply with code.

Solid ot closely Mled degking must be minimum “/y-nch- 6.0 EVIDENGE SUSMITTED

\hick (149 mm) woad skiuctural pane! or lurmber sheihing, Al Gaardd s Wil 5 AR ABLepENGA Cillaiifor The reports are easily accessible, and the

complylng with IBC Section 2304.7.2 or IRC Section R203, as o b _ x { .
apphicable. Hctalts ol Sominay (A oty S einen 20873 infarmation is in a format that is useable by
40 INSTALLATION ARSI HCH ; :
; Each standing seam metal 100l panel is identified with plans examiners and inspectors as well as
4.1 General: label bearing the product nams, 1ha matsrial lype and gage, q . l s
thstallation of the Custom-Bill Slanding Seam Roof Panels the Acme Custom-8ill Panels name and address, and the dESlgﬂ professmna s and contractors.
must be in atcordance with this reporl, Seclion 1507.4 of the evaluation repon number (ESR-4802).

TBC or Seclion RU05.10 of tha IRC. and the manufasturer's

VIEW ICC-ES EVALUATION
REPORTS ONLINE!

www.icc-es.org

o s sty (—
Vb B Fanlicarins Sun e

Paga 1ol




2009 INTERNATIONAL CODES

ON IFQUEST

ICC offers an electronic option just right for you

This powerful tool contains the complete searchable text
of the 20089 International Codes®.

I-Quest’s Microsoft Fast Folio® search engine allows you to:
« Enjoy multiple search capabilities

- Utilize hyperlinks to sections and tables within each code
~ Copy and paste text, figures, and tables

= Highlight and bookmark frequently used sections

= Add your own searchable notes to text or hide them

- Use the “Update” feature to keep your code current

= Available versions include:
- The Complete Collection containing all 13 I-Codes plus
ICC/ANSI A117.1-2003
- IBC, IRC, or IFC individually

Please note, I-Quest is not MAC-compatible,

I-QUEST, SINGLE USER
Enables one code user to load CD
content on one computer.

I-QUEST, NETWORK

An ideal selection for code users
waorking on a shared network.
I-Quest Network allows a set
number of concurrent users to
access content.

2009 COMPLETE COLLECTION
SINGLE | #3005Q09

2009 IBC®
SINGLE | #8000Q09

2009 COMPLETE COLLECTION
FIVE USER ] #B8005Q509

2008 IRC®
SINGLE | #8100Q09

2009 1BC*
FIVE USER | #8000Q509

2008 IFC®
SINGLE | #8400Q03

2009 IRC®
FIVE USER | #81000Q509

2009 IFC”
FIVE USER | #8400Q509

10, 25, and 50 user versions

) are also available.
All versions

include new

Call 1-888-422-7233, x33822
for details.

Update
feature!

ORDER YOURS TODAY!
1-800-786-4452 | www.iccsafe.org/store

NEW!

I-QUEST, VOLUME LICENSING
For organizations with staff on the
#o, ICC offers the ideal solution.
Purchasing a volume license enables
your firm, office or jurisdiction to
download CD content to a set number
of computers. Whether the seats are
fixed desktops in the office, laptops
travelling the globe, or tablet PCsin
the field, ICC’s new Volume Licensing
has you covered.

2009 COMPLETE COLLECTION
FIVE SEAT I #B8005QL509

2008 IBC®
FIVE SEAT | #8000QL509

2009 IRC®
FIVE SEAT | #8100QL509

2009 IFC*

FIVE SEAT | #8400QL509

10, 25, and 50 seat versions
are also available.

Call 1-888-422-7233, x33822
for details.




Municipal Civil Infractions

Name No. Date Issued |Complaint No.|Date Due |Amount |Officer Reason Date Paid |Citation Issued

Thomas, Edward Arthur Jr. 000976 12/7/2010 201008928 12/22/2010| $50.00|Stanhope |Failure to allow 1/12/2011

Thomas, Edward Arthur Jr. 000977 12/7/2010 201008928 12/22/2010| $50.00|Stanhope |Fail to Register 1/12/2011

Fisher, Frank Theodore 001214 12/13/2010 201009081 $50.00|Olsey Failure to allow 1/6/2011

Blanchett, Terry Edward 00764 2/5/2011| 2011000764| 2/18/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection 2/21/2011

Nemitz, Jennifer Susanne 000766 2/5/2011 201100711| 2/18/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection Voided Per M. Compeau Life Safety Issues Comp
Kitts, Patrick Albert 000765 2/5/2011 201100710| 2/18/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection Voided Per M. Compeau
Lavrrivey, Roberta Esteban 000767 2/5/2011 201100713| 2/18/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection 2/21/2011\

Nolen, Dennis Wayne 00768 2/5/2011 201100715| 2/18/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection Voided Per M. Compeau
Moorehead, Thomas Edward 000770 2/23/2011 201101094| 3/7/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection 3/16/2011

Fisher, Franklin Theodore 000771 2/23/2011 201101101 3/7/2011| $250.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection Other citations issued

DRHP, LLC 000978 4/20/2011 201102349, 5/4/2011| $50.00|Schmitz Failure to set date of rental inspection Cindy Kriesel:
Shook, Julie Ann 000772 5/17/2011 201103034| 5/28/2011| $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection 6/2/2011  |h01d ticket per email
Brendahl, Cheryl Lynn 000775 7/20/2011 201104980, 8/1/2011, $50.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection 6/28/2011 M. Compeau
Brendahl, Cheryl Lynn 000951 8/1/2011 201104980| 8/12/2011| $250.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection 8/11/2011

Brendahl, Cheryl Lynn 000952 8/12/2011]  201104980| 8/23/2011| $500.00|Ray Failure to set date of rental inspection Cindy Kriesel:
Kohnke, Frederick Thomas 001177 | 10/27/2011| 201107731| 11/7/2011| $50.00|Boudreau |Failure to set date of rental inspection 11/9/2011 | |Ticket suspended per
D.J. Miller Investments LLC 001401 10/29/2011 201107776| 11/11/2011| $50.00|Olsey Failure to set date of rental inspection 11/21/2011 | SdtRay
Wiegel, Tom L 001403 10/29/2011 201107774| 11/11/2011| $50.00|Olsey Failure to set date of rental inspection |Ticket Voided Per M. Compeau

Sanford, Ronald G. 001402 10/29/2011 201107775| 11/11/2011| $50.00|Olsey Failure to set date of rental inspection 11/21/2011

Setterington, Wayne Douglas 001180 11/20/2011 201108254| 11/30/2011| $50.00|Boudreau |Failure to set date of rental inspection Dismissed Per M. Compeau
Edward, Arthur Thomas 2328 4/26/2012 201202418| 5/16/2012| $50.00|Wheeler Rental Non Compliance 5/8/2012

Lamphere, Carl Albert 2280 5/9/2012 201202784| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Graham Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Lamphere, Carl Albert 2279 5/9/2012 201202784| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Graham Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Lamphere, Carl Albert 2278 5/9/2012 201202784| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Graham Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Lamphere, Carl Albert 2277 5/9/2012 201202784 5/24/2012| $200.00|Graham Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Lamphere, Carl Albert 2276 5/9/2012 201202784| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Graham Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Amidon, Pamela Sue 2331 5/9/2012 201202761 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Clayton, Daniel Roger 2501 5/9/2012 201202785| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Cecil Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Kitts, Patrick Albert 2227 5/9/2012 201202787| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Pettigrew |Did Not Register Rental Property 5/11/2012

Jordan, Michael David-Lorne 2228 5/9/2012 201202792| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Pettigrew |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Hass, Phyllis Trust 2229 5/9/2012 201202793| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Pettigrew |Did Not Register Rental Property 5/30/2012

Dvorak, Michael James 2502 5/9/2012 201202786| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Cecil Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Batteen, Reynold Adair Jr. 2338 5/9/2012 201202770| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Batteen, Reynold Adair Jr. 2337 5/9/2012 201202770| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Batteen, Reynold Adair 2332 5/9/2012 201202768| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed

Batteen, Reynold Adair 2333 5/9/2012 201202768| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed




Municipal Civil Infractions

Name No. Date Issued |Complaint No.|Date Due |Amount |Officer Reason Date Paid |Citation Issued
Batteen, Reynold Adair 2334 5/9/2012 201202768| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Batteen, Reynold Adair 2336 5/9/2012 201202768| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Batteen, Reynold Adair 2335 5/9/2012 201202768| 5/24/2012| $200.00|Wheeler Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Allen, Kenneth Edward 2827 5/9/2012 201202762| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed per M. Compeau
Bennett, John Gregory 2767 5/9/2012 201202767| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Beattie, Mark Lester 2828 5/9/2012 201202763| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Beattie, Mark Lester 2829 5/9/2012 201202763| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Beattie, Mark Lester 2830 5/9/2012 201202763| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Blanchett, Terry Edward 2831 5/9/2012 201202764| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Blanchett, Terry Edward 2832 5/9/2012 201202764| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Blanchett, Terry Edward 2833 5/9/2012 201202764| 5/25/2012| $200.00|McCloskey |Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Parker, Robert Matthew 2507 5/14/2012 201202907| 5/27/2012| $200.00|Fray Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Brooks, Marshall Louis 2381 5/13/2012 201202884| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property 5/25/2012

Brooks, Marshall Louis 2382 5/13/2012 201202884| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property 5/25/2012

Servantes, Ruben 2504 5/24/2012 201202906| 5/27/2012| $200.00|Fray Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Servantes, Ruben 2505 5/24/2012 201202906| 5/27/2012| $200.00|Fray Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Servantes, Ruben 2506 5/24/2012 201202906| 5/27/2012| $200.00|Fray Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Mills, Kurt Allan 2955 5/12/2012 201202872| 5/26/2012| $200.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 5/30/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2956 5/12/2012 201202872| 5/26/2012| $200.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 5/30/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2957 5/12/2012 201202872| 5/26/2012| $200.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 5/30/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2952 5/12/2012 201202872| 5/26/2012| $200.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 5/30/2012
Burgess, Benjamin James 2383 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2384 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2385 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2386 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2387 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2388 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2389 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2390 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2391 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2392 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burgess, Benjamin James 2393 5/13/2012 201202885| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Burton, Jerry 2394 5/13/2012 201202886| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Callard, Tina Inez 2395 5/13/2012 201202887| 5/25/2012| $200.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Stewart, Martin Douglas 2207 5/12/2012 201202871| 5/26/2012| $200.00 Dame Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Mazza, Paul Thomas 2208 5/12/2012 201202869| 5/26/2012| $200.00/Dame Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed




Municipal Civil Infractions

Name No. Date Issued |Complaint No.|Date Due |Amount |Officer Reason Date Paid |Citation Issued
Mazza, Paul Thomas 2209 5/12/2012 201202869| 5/26/2012| $200.00|Dame Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Brooks, Marshall Louis 2398 5/31/2012 201203369| 6/15/2012| $400.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Brooks, Marshall Louis 2397 5/31/2012 201203369| 6/15/2012| $400.00|Cherry Did Not Register Rental Property Dismissed
Kitts, Patrick Albert 2959 6/28/2012 201202787| 7/13/2012| $400.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 7/20/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2963 7/25/2012 201202872| 8/8/2012| $400.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 8/9/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2964 7125/2012 201202872 8/8/2012| $400.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 8/9/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2962 7/25/2012 201202872| 8/8/2012| $400.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 8/9/2012
Mills, Kurt Allan 2965 7125/2012 201202872| 8/8/2012| $400.00|Reed Did Not Register Rental Property 8/9/2012
Total Issued 80 )




TENANTS
and

LANDLORDS

a practical guide




Dear Friend:

This booklet is designed to inform tenants and landlords about their rights and
responsibilities in rental relationships. It serves as a useful reference—complete
with the following:

B An in-depth discussion about rental-housing law in an easy-to-read question-
and-answer format;

B /mportant timelines that outline the eviction process and recovering or
keeping a security deposit;

B A sample lease, sublease, roommate agreement, lead-based paint disclosure
form, and inventory checklist;

B Sample letters about repair and maintenance, termination of occupancy, and
notice of forwarding address, and

B Approved court forms.

Whether you are a tenant or a landlord, when you sign a lease agreement, you
sign a contract. You are contractually obligated to perform certain duties and
assume certain responsibilities. You are also granted certain rights and protections
under the lease agreement.

Rental-housing law is complex. I am grateful to the faculty and students of the
MSU College of Law Housing Law Clinic for their detailed work and assistance in
compiling the information for this booklet.

Owners of mobile-home parks, owners of mobile homes who rent spaces in the
parks, and renters of mobile homes may have additional rights and duties. Also,
landlords and renters of subsidized housing may have additional rights and duties.

It is my pleasure to provide this information to you. I hope that you find it useful.

MSU College of Law Housing Law Clinic
(517) 336-8088 rent@law.msu.edu www.law.msu.edu/clinics/rhc

This informational booklet is intended only as a guide—
it is not a substitute for the services of an attorney and
is not a substitute for competent legal advice.



Table of Contents

Creating and Terminating Tenancies
and Understanding the Lease

A. THE TENANCY

Q2 Are there advantages and disadvantages to the different types of tenancies? . ...............

B. THE LEASE

Q6 How can a lease be terminated? . . ... ... ........ ...t iiuierereeeenenenrnenronnnnnns
Q7 What are the termination rights for senior citizens or persons incapable of independent living?
Q8 What does “joint and several liability” Mean? . .. ..............c.uuriernrneenennenennennnns
Q9 Can a landlord raise the rent once the lease has started?. . ..................ccceviveennn.

The Security Deposit

A. COLLECTING THE SECURITY DEPOSIT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE TENANCY
Q1 Is there a limit on the amount that a landlord may collect as a security deposit? . ...........

Q2 What must the landlord do at the end of the lease? . . . ............. ... i rnennnnn.
Q3 What must the tenant do when he or she receives the itemized list of damages? . ............
Q4 What must the landlord do once he or she receives notice of

the tenant’s dispute of the itemized list of damages?. . ...............c.ccueiririeirnnnnnnn.
Q5 Who must file suit—the landlord or the tenant—for the security deposit? .. ..................

C. SECURITY DEPOSIT TIMELINE

Subleasing

Q2 If the tenant is to sublease, what exactly can be subleased? . . ................ccceveveunnn.
Q3 What duties does the original tenant have when subleasing? . . .. ...............cccoveveenn..

Q5 What if the subtenant stops paying rent? .. .................uuiiiiieiinenrnrnenrnnnnnnns
Q6 Can the original tenant be released from the obligations under the lease? . . .................

Eviction Proceedings

A. STARTING THE EVICTION PROCESS—BEFORE GOING TO COURT

Q1 What lawful reason(s) must be given to evict atenant? ....................ccciiiiiivnnnn.
Q2 If one roommate moves out and stops paying rent, can the other tenant(s) be evicted? . ......
Q3 What is proper notice of eviction and how important is it? ....................cccevivennn..
Q4 How much notice must be given to the tenant before the landlord may file suit? . ............
Q5 Once the proper notice is prepared, how must it be delivered to the tenant? . ................

PAPER

@ Romced  ecosmart
Paper GREEN INKS

(Rev. 4/2013) MADE

&= W

AN e

S &0 & S0 S0 N NN

© © © © ‘o

10



Table of Contents (continued)
Eviction Proceedings (continued)
B. TAKING THE ACTION TO COURT

Q1 What must the landlord do to begin a lawsuit for eviction?. . ...................cccevuun.. 14
Q2 What must the tenant do after receiving the Complaint? . . ..................cccevevennn.. 16
Q3 What happens if the tenant fails to appear and answer after receiving the Complaint?. . ...... 16
Q4 Once a lawsuit is started, can the parties still try to negotiate or mediate an agreement? . . . .. 16
Q5 If the parties reach an agreement, do they still have to appear in court?. . .................. 16
Q6 What possible defenses to a lawsuit for eviction might a tenant have? . ..................... 16
Q7 What can the parties expect to see happen at trial? . . . .................cccoviriririrnnnnn. 17
Q8 If the landlord wins the lawsuit for eviction, how soon can the tenant

and his/her personal property be removed? . . . ...............ouueirieienrnrirnniiea. 17
Q9 Can the tenant be evicted and still forced to pay money damages to the landlord? . .......... 17
C. EVICTION TIMELINE 18

Mediation
THe MEAIALION PrOCESS. . . . . ... .ottt ettt ennnensnnsesensessnsensnsnnsesnnsnnsnns 20
Community Mediation Centers in MICRIGAN . . . . ..............cuuiieiiiieenenenrnrnenrennnnnns 21
Small Claims Court

Q1 What is a small claims IQWSUIT? . . .. .. .. ........ ettt ittt e e enearneaeararannnns 23
Q2 Why not try mediation before starting a Iawsuit?. . . ... ...........co it enrnrenrnnennnns 23
Q3 How does a IawsUit Degin? . . . .. .. ............ e eienrneneeeeeeereenenenensnenrannnnnns 23
Q4 What happens when you are sued in Small Claims Court? . .................cccuvieirerennnn. 24
Q5 Is it necessary to prepare for the ReAFING? . . . ... .........c.vueiriennrnennennenennnnnnns 24
Q6 What happens at the REAFING? . . . .. .. .. .......ueit ittt ettt e e enensnsnenrarnnnnns 25
Q7 If you win, how do you collect YOUr MONEY?. . . .. ... ........uereeeeeeeeenrnrnenearanannnns 25

Repair and Maintenance
A. RESPONSIBILITIES ARE SHARED WHEN MAINTAINING A RENTAL PROPERTY

Q1 What are the landlord’s responsibilities?. . . .. ..............ueiiiiiienenenenrnenrennnnnns 26
Q2 What are the tenant’s responsibilities? . . .. ..............ccuriitnnenenenrnenrnrnnnnns 27
B. IMPORTANT STEPS TO TAKE IN SOLVING THE PROBLEM(S)
Step 1: Notify the landlord and provide reasonable time for repair . ..................ccccuuun. 27
Step 2: Contact the building inspector and schedule an inspection . . .....................cc.c.c... 27
Step 3: If the landlord has failed to make necessary repairs, either withhold the rent and deposit
it into an escrow account OR pay for the repair and deduct the cost from the rent. ... ... 27
Q1 How much rent should be Withheld? . . . .. ............ .. e iuiuieeeeenenenenrnenrnnnnnnns 28
Q2 What if the tenant lawfully withholds rent and the landlord starts the eviction process?. . ... .. 28
Additional Considerations
CIVILRIGRTES . . . . ..ottt ittt ettt e e te e s asnnsnsnnsnsensnsensnnensnnensnnsnnnns 29
Housing Codes, SMOKe DEtectors. . . .. ... ..... ... eieneneneerereeeeeeeseenenenrarnnnnns 29
o ol Y o Lo o (s 1 R 29
SMOKING . . ..ottt ittt ettt eeeeseesnseesessesnnsessnsessnsessnsnnsnsnnennns 29
Lead-Based PAINt . . ... .......... ... ..ttt eeeannns 29
APPCRAICES ............. .. 31
Sample Residential Lease AGreement . . . . .. ... ........ ...t tneneneenrarararannennnnns 32
Sample Residential Sublease AGreement . . . . ... ........ ...ttt rneeneeeneeenenneenns 37
Sample Roommate AGreement. . . . .. .. ........ ettt ettt e e eneeearnensaseeennnnnens 38
Sample Lead-Based Paint DiSCIOSUre FOYM. . . . . ... ..........cueueutnenenenenenennenenenennnnns 40
Sample INVentory CRECKIIST . . . .. ... ...ttt ettt te et resnaressnssnssnsnnsnsnnennns 41
Samples of Tenant’s Letters o LANAIOVA. . . . .. .. ... ... .. ... enenenenrnenrereennnnnnens 43
Samples of Landlord’s Letters to Tenant. . ... ..............c..coiiiinrninnrnernenernennnnnns 48
APProved COUFE FOFMIS . . . . . .. ...ttt ittt sttt teee et ennesessennnneeseeennnsesenennnnnens 50

PREPARED BY THE MICHIGAN LEGISLATURE
THIS INFORMATION IS PROVIDED FREE TO MICHIGAN CITIZENS AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED FOR RESALE OR PROFIT.




Creating and Terminating Tenancies
and Understanding the Lease

Read the lease. Read the lease. Read the
lease. When most people hear the term “lease”
they think of the long sheets of paper written
in very small type that they sign when they
agree to move in and rent an apartment or
house. A lease contains a variety of legal
terms. It is important to recognize and know
the following terms of a lease and to
understand the substance of the agreement.

B Landlord: The party agreeing to transfer
possession and use of the rental property,
usually the owner (but may also include an
agent or employee of the owner, or a
management company).

B Tenant: The party taking possession
and use of the rental property from the
landlord under a lease. A tenant’s right to
possession and use is called a tenancy or
leasehold.

B Lease (or Rental Agreement): The
contract between the tenant and landlord,
transferring possession and use of the rental
property. (See Sample Residential Lease
Agreement, page 32.) A lease can be written or
oral, but a written lease provides the best
protection for both the landlord and the
tenant.

B Joint and Several Liability. 1f more than
one person signs the lease as a tenant, the
lease may state that their obligations are “joint
and several.” This means that each person is
responsible not only for his or her individual
obligations, but also for the obligations of all
other tenants. This includes paying rent and
performing all other terms of the lease.

B Escrow Account: A bank account or
other account held by a third party, generally
established in the name of the tenant, into
which whole or partial rent payments are
deposited to show that the tenant was ready,
willing, and able to pay the rent—but is
withholding the rent until a certain problem
is fixed that the landlord is legally responsible
for fixing. Once the problem is fixed, the
escrowed rent amount will be released to the
landlord.

B Plaintiff: A person who files a civil action
to seek judicial relief for some injury or
damage caused in violation of his or her rights.

M Defendant: A person against whom relief
or recovery is sought in a civil action.

A. THE TENANCY

Q1 What are the types of tenancies?

While the lease refers to the written (or
oral) agreement, the “tenancy” refers to the
actual property right a tenant receives under
the lease. When the owner conveys to another
a lesser interest in the property for a term less
than that of the owner’s for valuable
consideration (generally rent), thereby granting
another use and enjoyment of his or her
property during the period stipulated, that
creates a tenancy. In Michigan, there are three
types of tenancies:

1. Fixed-Term Tenancy. This type of tenancy
is created when the lease agreement specifies
when the tenancy begins and when it ends.

It terminates automatically at the end of the
period specified. Generally, a written lease
provides that if a tenant holds over after the
fixed term expires, the tenancy shall be
considered a month-to-month tenancy. On the
other hand, if the lease does not so provide,
and the parties acquiesce—i.e., tenant stays in
possession and landlord accepts the rent—the
lease is considered renewed for the same fixed
term upon the same conditions.

2. Periodic Tenancy OR Tenancy at Will.
This type of tenancy is indefinite in duration. It
is created by actual or implied consent.
Usually a month-to-month tenancy, the lease is
considered renewed at the end of each rental
period (month-to-month or week-to-week,
depending how often rent must be paid).
Termination procedure is governed by statute
and requires notice.

3. Tenancy at Sufferance OR Holdover
Tenancy. This type of tenancy is created by
operation of law only. A tenant holds
possession after his or her legal right to



possession has ended (oftentimes based on
landlord’s failure to act). The person is just
short of being considered a trespasser. The
elements: (a) the tenant entered into
possession lawfully, (b) the tenant’s legal right
to possession has ended, and (c) the tenant
remains without the landlord’s consent.

Q2 Are there advantages and
disadvantages to the different types
of tenancies?

Fixed-Term Tenancy

Advantages. The advantage to the tenant is
that the rental period is fixed and the rental
amount is stable; the landlord may not regain
possession or raise the rent, with few
exceptions. The advantage to the landlord is
that the tenant is committed to pay rent for a
specified period of time; the tenant is bound
by the lease terms, with few exceptions.

Disadvantages. The disadvantage to the
tenant is that he or she is bound by the lease
term and may not simply move without
remaining liable for the rent, permitting fewer
changes in arrangements. The disadvantage to
the landlord is that he or she is stuck with the
tenant until the lease term ends.

Periodic Tenancy OR Tenancy at Will

Advantages. The advantage to the tenant is
that he or she is free from any further
obligation once proper notice of termination is
given to the landlord—different housing
arrangements can be made more quickly. The
same advantage is true for the landlord; he or
she may decide to no longer rent to the tenant
if the same proper notice is given.

Disadvantages. The disadvantage to the
tenant is that the landlord, with proper notice,
can also raise rent. The disadvantage to the
landlord is that he or she is not provided with
any certainty as to how long the tenant will
remain.

B. THE LEASE

Q1 Are there advantages to a written
lease?

Although it is common for tenants to sign
some type of written agreement, a lease is not
always put in writing. Sometimes it is nothing
more than an oral agreement as to the move-in
and move-out dates, the address of the rental

/i

property itself, and the amount of the rent and
when it must be paid. However, if the lease
agreement is for a period of more than one
year, an oral lease is not an option—it must be
put in writing to comply with the Statute of
Frauds (MCL 566.106).

Whether there is a fixed-term tenancy or a
periodic tenancy, it is best to have a written
record of the rental agreement. A written
record is a permanent record that may be used
for reference if misunderstandings arise—and
they do. In the absence of a written lease,
signed by both the landlord and the tenant, it
is advisable to keep a personal written record
of the agreement.

Q2 What provisions should be included in
the lease?

The Michigan Truth in Renting Act (Act 454
of 1978, MCL 554.631 to 554.641) regulates
residential leases—requiring the landlord to
disclose certain information. Leases differ
somewhat in terms, but a written lease
agreement should include:

1. Name and signature of the landlord;

2. Name and signature of the tenant;

3. Rent amount to be paid, how frequently,
and when and where it is to be paid;

4. Address of the rental property;

5. Starting and ending dates if it is a fixed-
term tenancy;

6. Landlord’s mailing address;

7. Amount of the security deposit, if any;

8. Name and address of the financial
institution holding the security deposit;

9. Notice of the tenant’s obligation to provide

a forwarding address to the landlord within

4 days of terminating the tenancy;

10. Who is responsible for paying utilities;

11. Repair and maintenance responsibilities;

12. Eviction procedures;

13. Any other terms and conditions that the
landlord and tenant agreed to; and

14. This statement must be provided in a

prominent place in the lease, in at least a

12-point font size:

“NOTICE: Michigan law establishes rights

and obligations for parties to rental

agreements. This agreement is required to
comply with the Truth in Renting Act. If
you have a question about the
interpretation or legality of a provision of
this agreement, you may want to seek
assistance from a lawyer or other
qualified person.”



Note: Two copies of an inventory checklist
must be provided to the tenant when he or
she takes possession of the rental property.
(See Sample Inventory Checklist, page 41.)

Q3 What provisions are prohibited by law
from being included in the lease?

The Michigan Truth in Renting Act
regulates residential leases—prohibiting certain
clauses or provisions and prescribing penalties.
A provision or clause in a lease that violates
the Truth in Renting Act is void. In particular,
a written lease shall not include a provision
which:

1. Waives or alters a remedy available to a
party when the rental property is in a
condition that violates the covenants of
fitness and habitability;

2. Waives a right established under the laws
that regulate security deposits;

3. Unlawfully excludes or discriminates
against a person in violation of the laws
relating to civil rights;

4. Provides for a confession of judgment and/
or warrant of attorney, e.g., requiring a
person to give up certain legal rights in
advance;

5. Relieves the landlord from liability for the
landlord’s failure to perform a duty or for
negligent performance of a duty imposed
by law (however, the landlord’s duty could
be waived to the extent a tenant was able
to recover under an insurance policy for
loss, damage, or injury caused by fire or
other casualty);

6. Waives or alters a party’s right to demand
a jury trial or any other right of notice or
procedure required by law;

7. Provides that a party is liable for legal cost
or attorney fees incurred by the other
party in excess of costs or fees specifically
permitted by statute;

8. Provides for the landlord to take a security
interest in any of the tenant’s personal
property to assure payment of rent or
other charges, except as specifically
permitted by statute;

9. Provides that rental payments may be
accelerated if the tenant violates a lease
provision, unless that amount is
determined by the court;

10. Waives or alters a party’s right with respect
to possession or eviction proceedings;
11. Releases a party from the duty to mitigate

(or minimize) damages;

12. Provides that the landlord may alter a lease
provision after the lease begins without the
tenant’s written consent, EXCEPT: with
30 days’ written notice, the landlord may
make the following types of adjustments, as
long as there is a clause in the lease
allowing for the adjustments:
> changes required by federal, state, or
local law, rule, or regulation;

> changes in rules relating to the property
meant to protect health, safety, and
peaceful enjoyment; and

> changes in the amount of rental payments
to cover additional costs incurred by the
landlord because of increases in property
taxes, increases in utilities, and increases
in property insurance premiums.

13. Violates the Consumer Protection Act
(MCL 445.901 to 445.922) which lists
multiple unfair trade practices; or

14. Requires the tenant to give the landlord a
power of attorney.

Q4 What if the lease contains a provision
that is prohibited by law or is missing
the required disclosure language?

A provision or clause in a lease that
violates the Truth in Renting Act is void. The
lease is not void—only the prohibited
provision. However, a landlord must fix the
prohibited provision or add the required
disclosure language within 20 days after the
tenant brings the deficiency to the landlord’s
attention in writing. If the landlord fails to fix it
within the time specified, the tenant may bring
an action to:

> void the entire lease agreement;

> make the landlord remove the prohibited

provision from all lease agreements in
which it is included; and

> recover $250 per action (for prohibited

provisions) or $500 per action (for
missing disclosure provisions required by
law), or actual damages, whichever is
greater.

Q5 What other provisions can be included
in the lease?

As long as a provision or clause does not
violate federal, state, or local laws, rules, or
regulations, the parties can agree to almost
anything and include it in the lease. It can be
as outlandish as stating, “Only blue cars can

5



be parked in the driveway.” Some special
provisions to be aware of include:

> Smoking: A landlord is free to prohibit
smoking in the rental property, as this would
not violate any state, federal, or local laws.

> Pet Restrictions: A landlord may prohibit
all pets in a rental unit. A landlord may charge
a fee for having a pet. An exception here is
that a landlord may not prohibit a disabled
individual relying on a service animal from
housing the animal.

Q6 How can a lease be terminated?

Fixed-Term Tenancy

This type of tenancy is created when the
lease agreement specifies when the tenancy
begins and when it ends. It terminates
automatically at the end of the period
specified. A fixed-term lease ends on its own
without further action. However, many leases
include the provision that the lease converts
to a month-to-month tenancy at the end of the
fixed term. Other leases state a sky-high
increase in rent—sometimes double—if the
tenant stays beyond the fixed term.

Periodic Tenancy OR Tenancy at Will

This type of tenancy is indefinite in
duration. It is created by actual or implied
consent. Usually a month-to-month tenancy,
the lease is considered renewed at the end of
each rental period (month-to-month or week-to-
week, depending on how often rent must be
paid). Termination procedure is governed by
statute and requires notice.

Additionally, there are special termination
rights for senior citizens or persons incapable
of independent living.

Q7 What are the termination rights for
senior citizens or persons incapable of
independent living?

Lease agreements entered into, renewed, or
renegotiated after June 15, 1995, must provide
special termination rights for senior citizens
and persons incapable of independent living.
These leases must allow the tenant who has
already occupied a rental unit for more than
13 months to terminate the lease with 60 days’
written notice if either of the following occurs:
1. Tenant becomes eligible to move into a
rental unit in senior-citizen housing
subsidized by a federal, state, or local
government program, OR

2. Tenant becomes incapable of living
independently, as certified by a physician in
a notarized statement. (MCL 554.601a)

Q8 What does “joint and several liability”
mean?

If more than one person signs the lease as
a tenant, the lease may state that their
obligations are “joint and several.” This means
that each person is responsible not only for
his or her individual obligations, but also for
the obligations of all other tenants. This
includes paying rent and performing all other
terms of the lease.

Q9 Can a landlord raise the rent once the
lease has started?

Generally, the landlord may not alter a
lease provision after the lease begins without
the tenant’s written consent. There are, of
course, exceptions to this. With 30 days’
written notice, the landlord may make the
following types of adjustments, as long as
there is a clause in the lease allowing for the
adjustments:

> changes required by federal, state, or

local law, rule, or regulation;

> changes in rules relating to the property

meant to protect health, safety, and
peaceful enjoyment; and

> changes in the amount of rental payments

to cover additional costs incurred by the
landlord because of increases in property
taxes, increases in utilities, and increases
in property insurance premiums.



The Security Deposit

The security deposit is an amount of
money paid by the tenant to the landlord other
than the first rent payment (for whatever
period is established in the lease: weekly rent
payment, monthly rent payment, semiannual
rent payment, and so on). The security deposit
remains the tenant’s property, but is held by
the landlord for the term of the lease to ensure
that the tenant pays the rent due, pays the
utility bills, and returns the rented property in
proper condition, as required by the lease. It is
held as security as the name implies.

Once the lease is terminated, the tenant
has the right to have the entire security
deposit returned unless the landlord can
substantiate a claim to it because the tenant:

1. Owes unpaid rent;

2. Owes unpaid utility bills; or

3. Caused damage to the rented property

beyond reasonable wear and tear.

Under Michigan law, both a tenant and a
landlord have duties and must perform specific
acts regarding the security deposit.
Understanding the duties and taking action are
crucial. The law requires mandatory notice
provisions, written communications, mailings,
and strict compliance with time limits. If the
duties are not performed precisely, the tenant
risks losing the return of his or her security
deposit and the landlord risks losing a claim to
it. This chapter explains the duties and the
necessary actions that must be taken.

A. COLLECTING THE SECURITY
DEPOSIT AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE TENANCY

Q1 Is there a limit on the amount
that a landlord may collect as a
security deposit?

Yes. The law states that a security deposit
shall not exceed 1% times the monthly rent.

Example: 1If a landlord charges $500 a
month for rental property, the maximum
the landlord may collect as a security
deposit is $750 ($500 x 1.5 = $750).

Q2 What exactly is considered a security
deposit?

Any prepayment of rent—other than for the
first full rental payment period established in
the lease—and any refundable fee or deposit
are considered by law to be part of the
security deposit.

Sometimes the lease requires that both the
first and last months’ rent be paid before a
tenant moves in. If this is the case, the last
month’s rent would be considered a security
deposit. Sometimes, too, additional fees or
deposits are charged to hold the rental
property, for credit checks, for pets, for
cleaning, for keys, for mailboxes, for storage,
and for many other reasons. While these fees
or deposits may not be called “security
deposits” in the lease, if they are otherwise
refundable, they are still considered by law to
be part of the security deposit and subject to
the strict rules that Michigan has adopted—
including the limit on the total amount that a
landlord may collect.

Q3 Is there a difference between a fee
and a deposit?

Yes. The law defines the term “security
deposit” and limits the amount that may be
collected (not to exceed 1.5 times the monthly
rent). Refundable fees are deemed—by
definition—to be security deposits.
Nonrefundable fees are not; and they can be
assessed in any amount for any reason but the
reason and matters covered by the fee must be
clear. A nonrefundable fee may not cover
matters also covered by refundable fees and
may be charged in any amount as long as the
tanant accepts them by undertaking the
tenancy.

Example: The monthly rent is $500 and
the lease calls for a $750 security deposit.
In addition to the security deposit, the
lease calls for a $100 refundable snow
removal fee for “removing snow from any
common area” and a nonrefundable $250
community fee for “costs of landlord-
sponsored social events and common-area
snow removal.” Because the $100 snow
removal fee is refundable, it would be
considered part of the security deposit and




violate Michigan law because the amount
collected for a security deposit would
exceed the 1.5 times monthly rent limit.
The nonrefundable $250 fee violates
Michigan law because it covers a matter
also covered by a refundable fee. If the
lease, instead, required a nonrefundable
snow removal fee and a nonrefundable
community fee for “cost of landlord-
sponsored social events,” it would, absent
other contrary or confusing lease terms,
be allowed.

Q4 Once collected, what must the landlord
do with the security deposit?

The landlord must either:

a) Deposit the money with a regulated
financial institution (e.g., bank), OR

b) Deposit a cash bond or surety bond, to
secure the entire deposit, with the Secretary of
State. (Note: If the landlord does this, he or she
may use the money at any time, for any
purpose.) The bond ensures that there is
money available to repay the tenant’s security
deposit.

Q5 Whose money is it anyway?

The security deposit is considered the
lawful property of the tenant, until the landlord
establishes a right to it—generally by obtaining
a judgment in a court of law.

If the landlord sells the rental property, he
or she remains liable with respect to the
tenant’s security deposit until any ONE of the
following occurs:

a) The landlord returns the deposit to the
tenant, OR

b) The landlord transfers the deposit to the
new owner and sends notice—by mail—to the
tenant informing him or her of the new owner’s
name and address, OR

¢) The new owner sends written notice of
their name and address to the tenant AND the
name and address of the financial institution
where the deposit is held AND the tenant’s
obligation to provide a forwarding address
within 4 days of terminating occupancy.

Q6 What rights and responsibilities
does the landlord have with regard
to the tenant’s security deposit?

The landlord must provide the tenant with
certain notices. Within 14 days from the day

8

the tenant moves in, the landlord must provide
written notice of the following:

a) The landlord’s name and address for
receipt of communications regarding the
tenancy; AND

b) The name and address of the financial
institution where the security deposit is held,
OR the name and address of the surety
company; and who filed the bond with the
Secretary of State; AND

¢) The tenant’s obligation to provide a
forwarding address—in writing—within 4 days
after the tenant moves out.

Generally these notices are found in the
lease itself. (See The Lease section; see also
the model lease in the Appendices, which
displays all of these notices with the correct
form and wording.)

Q7 What is the point of the inventory
checklist?

The checklist preserves some proof of the
condition of the property when the tenant
moved in. The landlord must provide the
tenant at move-in with 2 blank copies of an
inventory checklist, referencing all items in the
rental unit. The landlord must provide written
notice on the first page of the checklist that
the tenant must properly complete the
checklist, noting the condition of the property,
and return it to the landlord within 7 days
after moving in. (See sample, page 41.)

The tenant may request a copy of the
termination inventory checklist (generally
referred to as the itemized list of damages
caused by the previous tenant). If requested,
the landlord must provide a copy to the
tenant.

Q8 Is it important to properly complete
the inventory checklist?

Yes. The checklist preserves some proof of
the condition of the property when the tenant
moves in. If the tenant fails to properly fill out
the checklist, or fails to return it, and a dispute
over damages to the property occurs at the
end of the lease, it becomes the tenant’s word
against the landlord’s word.

Further Recommendation:
Take photos or video tape recordings of the
rental unit before leasing or moving in.




B. RECOVERING THE SECURITY
DEPOSIT AT THE END OF
THE TENANCY

Q1 What must the TENANT do at the end
of the lease?

The tenant MUST provide his or her
forwarding address—in writing—to the
landlord within 4 days of moving out. Calling
or telling the landlord, or landlord’s agent,
won’'t do. While the landlord must inform a
tenant of this at the beginning of the lease, all
too often a tenant forgets to do this when he
or she moves out. Without a forwarding
address, the landlord has no duty to make
arrangements for returning the deposit. If the
forwarding address is provided within the
4 days, the landlord has 30 days from move-
out to respond.

Q2 What must the LANDLORD do at the
end of the lease?

If the landlord receives the tenant’s
forwarding address within 4 days of move-out,
the landlord has 30 days from move-out to
either:

a) Return the entire amount of the deposit
by check or money order, OR

b) Send—by mail—an itemized list of
damages lawfully assessed against the deposit
and a check or money order for the remaining
balance of the deposit (if any).

The itemized list must also contain the
following notice: “You must respond to this
notice by mail within 7 days after receipt of
same. Otherwise you will forfeit the amount
claimed for damages.” (See example, page 49.)

¢) The landlord would be able to apply the
outstanding rent balance against the security
deposit, presuming the security deposit is at least
as much as the rent outstanding. The landlord
does not have to sue to accomplish this.

Q3 What must the tenant do when he or
she receives the itemized list of
damages?

If the tenant disputes any of the items
on the itemized list, the tenant MUST
respond—in detail, by mail—within 7 days of
his or her receipt of that list. “Responding in
detail” means giving reasons why the tenant
disputes each item of damage and the amount
assessed against the security deposit, and why

the tenant should not be responsible. Simply
making a blanket statement that the tenant does
not agree will not do, the tenant must address
each item on the list individually. The tenant’s
detailed response must be sent to the
landlord by mail.

Q4 What must the landlord do once he or
she receives notice of the tenant’s
dispute of the itemized list of
damages?

If the tenant disputes all or part of the
itemized list of damages, the landlord is left
with two choices:

a) Negotiate or mediate an agreement in
writing with the tenant; OR

b) Commence an action in court for a
money judgment for damages that he or she
claimed against the tenant’s security deposit,
which the tenant disputes.

Remember, the security deposit remains
the tenant’s property until the landlord
perfects a claim to it—either by agreement or
by court order. If the landlord and tenant
cannot agree and if the landlord goes to court,
he or she MUST prove that the tenant is
actually responsible for the damages.

Q5 Who must file suit—the landlord or the
tenant—for the security deposit?

Either the landlord or the tenant can be
the plaintiff in a security deposit suit.

The landlord may file suit within 45 days
from termination of occupancy. If both the
tenant and the landlord have followed the
security deposit timeline perfectly and there
still remains a dispute on the amount of
damages assessed against the tenant’s security
deposit, the landlord MUST file suit to retain the
deposit. If the landlord does not file suit, he or
she may be liable to the tenant for double the
amount of the security deposit retained.

The tenant may be required to file suit in
certain circumstances. The burden of filing suit
shifts to the tenant if:

a) The tenant failed to provide his or her
forwarding address in writing within 4 days of
terminating occupancy; OR

b) The tenant failed to respond—by mail—
to the itemized list of damages within 7 days of
receiving it; OR

¢) The landlord failed to return the tenant’s
deposit after receiving the tenant’s response
disputing the amount assessed against it.



C. Security Deposit Timeline

Security Deposit

Landlord’s Duties

Tenant’s Duties

Beginning of Lease

(generally move-in)

MCL 554.602, 554.604, 554.605,
554.608(2)

A security deposit, if required, shall not

exceed 1% months’ rent.

Deposit tenant’s security deposit in a

regulated financial institution OR file a

surety bond with the state.

Provide tenant:

1. A copy of the lease, and

2. Two blank copies of the inventory
checklist.

The security deposit is the lawful
property of the tenant.
Recommendation: Read the lease
(preferably before signing it) and all
other information provided to you
by the landlord. Request from
landlord the inventory checklist and/
or itemized list of damage report
from previous tenancy.

Within 7 days from move-in
(landlord and tenant may agree to
a shorter period, but not a longer
period)

MCL 554.608(3)

Recommendation: Keep tenant’s
completed checklist.

Return to landlord the completed
inventory checklist, noting condition
of rental unit (add pages if
necessary); be sure to keep a copy
yourself.

Within 14 days from move-in
MCL 554.603

Provide tenant in writing:

1. Landlord’s name and address for
receipt of rent and communications;
and

2. Where tenant’s security deposit will
be held (name and address of the
financial institution or surety bond
company).

3. Include specific statutory notice of
tenant’s duty to provide forwarding
address within 4 days of move-out.

Recommendation: Read the
information provided to you by the
landlord.

Move-out

(not necessarily the end of the
lease)

MCL 554.608(5)

Complete a termination inventory
checklist, noting condition of rental
unit.

Recommendation: Remove all
personal property, clean the rental
unit; turn in keys.

Within 4 day after move-out
MCL 554.611

Recommendation: Keep a copy of
tenant’s forwarding address.

Provide landlord in writing (not
orally) your forwarding address.

Within 30 days after move-out
MCL 554.609

Mail to tenant an itemized list of
damages, with proper statutory notice
provision claimed against tenant’s
security deposit accompanied by a
check or money order for the
difference. Only unpaid rent, unpaid
utility bills, and damages to the rental
unit beyond reasonable wear and tear
caused by tenant may be claimed

against the deposit (not cleaning fees).

Recommendation: Watch for the
itemized list of damages in the mail.

Within 7 days of tenant’s receipt
of landlord’s itemized list of
damages

MCL 554.612

Watch for tenant’s response to the
itemized list of damages by mail.

Respond in detail, by ordinary mail,
indicating agreement or
disagreement to the damages
charged.

Be sure to count the days; the date
of mailing is considered the date of
response.

Within 45 days—not thereafter—
of move-out
MCL 554.613

To be entitled to keep the disputed
amount of security deposit, file suit
against tenant for damages—unless an
exception applies.

If suit is filed, appear in court and
defend.

Note: If suit is not filed, you may
file suit for recovery of your security
deposit.

10




Subleasing

Subleasing occurs when a tenant permits
another party to lease the rental property that
the tenant has leased from the landlord. (Note:
Usually, the lease or the landlord must allow
the original tenant to sublease, and most
leases specify that the landlord must approve
of the subtenant.) The tenant, then, assumes
the position of landlord in relation to his or
her subtenant. Subleasing usually occurs
because the tenant has signed a fixed-term
lease and wants—for whatever reason—to get
out of the lease before it expires. Since the
original tenant is bound by the terms of the
lease, he or she cannot simply leave the
property and stop paying rent. To avoid the
financial burden of the unexpired portion of
the lease, the tenant usually tries to find a
subtenant who will assume that burden.

Word of warning: Subleasing is not
without its problems—so put it in writing.
Under a sublease, the original tenant is still
bound by contract to the landlord by the
terms of the lease. If the subtenant stops
paying rent or causes damage to the rental
property, the original tenant—not the
subtenant—must answer to the landlord. Of
course, the original tenant may have a legal
cause of action against the subtenant for a
violation of the sublease.

The following are important terms to
understand:

B Landlord: The party agreeing to transfer
possession and use of the rental property,
usually the owner.

B Tenant or Sublessor: The party taking
possession and use of the rental property from
the landlord under a lease contract.

B Subtenant or Sublessee: A third party
who takes possession and use of the rental
property from the original tenant, under a
sublease contract. The subtenant contracts
with the original tenant—not the landlord—but
generally with the landlord’s permission.

B Sublease: The contract between the
original tenant and subtenant, transferring,
again, possession and use of the rental
property. (See Sample Sublease, page 37.)

A written sublease contract provides the best
protection. Because a sublease can only
transfer what is left of the rights given to the
tenant in the original lease, it is important that

the tenant provide the subtenant with a copy
of the original lease.

Q1 Does the landlord have to agree to
the sublease?

Generally, yes. Most leases specify that
subleasing or assigning an interest in the rental
property is not allowed without the landlord’s
consent, OR that subleasing or assigning is not
allowed at all. But if the original lease
agreement is silent, then the tenant need not
seek the landlord’s permission before entering
into a sublease. However, as a practical matter,
the tenant should notify the landlord of the
sublease ahead of time. First check the terms
of the original lease. Then, if permission is
required, check with the landlord.

Q2 If the tenant is to sublease, what
exactly can be subleased?

The tenant can only sublease the rights he
or she has been given in the original lease—no
more. For example, if the tenant has only three
months left on a one-year lease, the tenant can
only sublease up to three months. The same
holds true with any restrictions contained in
the original lease—they all apply to the
subtenant and cannot be waived by the
original tenant. On the other hand, the tenant
may decide to sublet less than all of the rights
he or she has been given in the original lease
(e.g., he or she may decide to return to the
rental property).

Q3 What duties does the original tenant
have when subleasing?

Generally, when a tenant subleases, he or
she assumes the position of landlord in
relation to his or her subtenant. Accordingly,
all of the laws that apply to landlords apply to
a tenant who subleases. These duties are
explained in other parts of this book. They
include the following:

> Complying with the duties to maintain a

habitable rental property and to make
reasonable repairs, when necessary;

> Complying with the duties to register or

license the rental property under local
ordinance (check with the local housing
office);

> Complying with duties imposed under the

security deposit laws and procedures; and

11



> Complying with the eviction laws and
procedures, in the event the original
tenant wants to remove the subtenant
from the rental property.

Repair and maintenance still remain the
ultimate duty of the original landlord. Because
the subtenant, in a sublease, has no
relationship with the original landlord, repair
requests will usually be made by the original
tenant. The original tenant makes a repair
request to the landlord. This is not always the
case; many times, the landlord, in granting the
original tenant permission to sublease, will be
aware of the subtenant’s presence and will
respond to his or her requests.

Q4 What about the security deposit?

Because nothing in the original lease
agreement changes when a tenant subleases to
a subtenant, the original tenant’s security
deposit will remain with the landlord. The
tenant may decide to collect a security deposit
from the subtenant to insure against
nonpayment of rent or utility charges or
damage to the rental property beyond
reasonable wear and tear caused by the
subtenant. Remember that the original tenant
remains responsible to the landlord under the
original lease. The original tenant’s security
deposit could be at stake.

Collecting a security deposit from the
subtenant. If the original tenant decides to
collect a security deposit from the subtenant,
he or she would simply follow all of the normal
steps that any landlord would in collecting a
security deposit. These include being timely in
providing proper notice, placing the security
deposit in a financial institution, providing
inventory checklists, and providing the
itemized list of damages. (See Security Deposit
section, page 7.)

Q5 What if the subtenant stops paying
rent?

Two things may be done to help protect

against this:

(D) Require the subtenant to sign a written
sublease agreement that includes the
same language as the original lease
agreement; and

(2) Require the subtenant to pay a security
deposit to the original tenant.

If the original tenant permits the subtenant
to pay rent directly to the landlord, the tenant

12

runs the risk of not knowing if the subtenant is
continuing to meet the rental obligations.
When the subtenant is required to pay rent
directly to the original tenant—and the tenant
pays the usual rent to the landlord—there is
much less risk.

If the subtenant stops paying the rent, the
landlord can hold the original tenant
responsible for missed payments. This amount
can be withheld from the original tenant’s
security deposit, as can charges for unpaid
utility bills and damages beyond reasonable
wear and tear caused by the subtenant. The
landlord’s recourse is with the tenant under
the original lease, not the subtenant. The
tenant’s recourse is with the subtenant, under
the sublease.

For this reason, it is risky to sublease
rental property. Therefore, tenants should take
all necessary precautions to ensure that they
are subleasing to a financially responsible
subtenant (e.g., running a credit check, asking
for a reference from a previous landlord).

Q6 Can the original tenant be released
from the obligations under the lease?

Sometimes, yes. Subleasing can be a
complicated procedure, particularly if the
tenant is leaving the area for the period of the
sublease. There are two ways that a tenant can
be released from the obligations under the
lease, which differs from a sublease agreement:
1. By mutual agreement. Though it is rare, a

landlord sometimes allows a tenant to
terminate the lease early. Therefore, it is a
good idea to talk to your landlord before
looking for someone to sublease. (Note: If
the landlord does allow the tenant to break
the lease, the tenant should be sure to
receive from the landlord a signed document
describing the agreement.)

2. By assignment. Under an assignment, the
new tenant is substituted for the original
tenant. When this is done, the original
tenant is “cut-out” of the entire lease
agreement and the new person steps into
his or her shoes. Accordingly, the new
tenant will be responsible for all obligations
under the original lease, including rent,
utilities, and damages—the original tenant
will be released of all obligations. (Note: If
the landlord does allow an assignment, the
tenant should be sure to receive from the
landlord a signed document describing the
assignment and the release of obligations.)



Eviction Proceedings

If the landlord wishes to remove a tenant
from his or her rental property, the landlord
must use the eviction process. The process is
called a Summary Proceeding, and it moves
quickly to restore rental property to the
person lawfully entitled to possession.

The process starts with a notice, usually
called a “Notice to Quit” or a “Demand for
Possession” but for simplicity, it can be an
eviction notice and may involve court
appearances and a trial. If the landlord is
successful in proving his or her case, the
eviction notice may be issued and a court
officer may remove the tenant and tenant’s
personal items from the rental property. It is
important to remember, however, that there
are many steps in the eviction process before
the tenant is physically removed—and most
landlords and tenants reach a settlement long
before the matter moves that far.

The landlord must never forcibly remove
the tenant (or occupant) himself or herself.
This includes things like changing locks,
turning off utilities, or some other act or
omission that interferes with the tenant’s right
to possess, use, and enjoy the rental property.
This is illegal.

A. STARTING THE EVICTION
PROCESS—
BEFORE GOING TO COURT

Q1 What lawful reason(s) must be given
to evict a tenant?

There are nine reasons specified by law
that would allow the landlord to start eviction
proceedings with the notice described above:
1. Nonpayment of rent;

2. Extensive and continuing physical injury to
property;

3. Serious and continuing health hazard;

4. lllegal drug activity on the premises and a
formal police report filed (lease provision
must allow for such termination);

5. Violation of a lease provision and the lease
allows for termination;

6. Forceful entry OR peaceful entry, with
forceful stay OR trespass;

7. Holding over after natural expiration of lease
term;

8. “Just cause” for terminating tenant of mobile
home park (“just cause” is defined for this
purpose by MCL 600.5775); OR

9. “Just cause” for terminating tenant of
government-subsidized housing.

(Note: “Just cause” is defined by statute,
see MCL 125.694a and 600.5714.)

Several of the lawful reasons describe
prohibited behavior. One reason includes,
“Violation of a lease provision.” This could be
any provision agreed to by the parties when
the lease was signed. For example, it could be
as silly as, “Only red cars may be parked in
the driveway.” If the tenant signed the lease,
and if the tenant later buys a blue car, he or
she cannot park it in the driveway without
violating that provision of the lease. If the
lease also includes a provision that allows the
landlord to terminate the lease, the landlord
could seek to evict the tenant on that basis.

Q2 If one roommate moves out and stops
paying rent, can the other tenant(s)
be evicted?

It may seem harsh and unfair but, yes, the
other tenant(s) who are still paying rent may
be evicted. The landlord is lawfully entitled to
receive the full rent amount. Whoever signs the
lease will be bound by its terms and
conditions. If a “joint-and-several liability”
clause is in the lease, who actually pays what
amount is of no concern to the landlord.

Most leases include a provision that holds
all tenants “jointly and severally liable” for any
and all violations of the lease. This means that
each person is responsible not only for his or
her individual obligations, but also for the
obligations of all other tenants. This includes
paying rent and performing all other terms of
the lease. Therefore, if only one tenant stops
paying the rent (or violates any other provision
of the lease agreement), the landlord may
choose to evict any or all of the tenants. In
addition, the landlord may choose to collect
the rent or other money for damages incurred
from any or all of the tenants.

Q3 What is proper notice of eviction and
how important is it?

Proper notice is very important. Notice—
due process—safeguards and protects
individual rights provided by law. If the

13



landlord wishes to remove a tenant from his or
her rental property, the landlord must use the
eviction process—and it begins with proper
notice. Before a court will enter a landlord’s
request for an Order of Eviction, the tenant
must have been given a proper eviction notice,
usually a “Notice to Quit” or “Demand for
Possession.”

Many times the rental problem can be fixed
with nothing more than the eviction notice. For
example, if the tenant simply forgot to pay the
rent, the notice may simply serve as a
reminder—and once he or she pays the rent,
the eviction process ends.

The eviction notice may take many forms.
It must state that the landlord intends to evict
the tenant, within a specified time (either
24 hours or 7 days or 30 days), because of a
specified reason or problem—otherwise, court
action will be taken. The notice may allow the
tenant time to correct the problem (like paying
the rent, if nonpayment of rent is the reason
for eviction).

The eviction notice MUST include certain
information or the notice is not proper. While
many district courts provide standard eviction
forms, a letter can accomplish the same as
long as it contains all of the following:

> Tenant’s name;

> Address or rental property description;

> Reason for the eviction;

> Time to take remedial action;

> Date; and

> Landlord’s signature.

Q4 How much notice must be given to
the tenant before the landlord may
file suit?

Each reason for eviction has a specific
amount of time that MUST pass before the
landlord may commence a lawsuit—either
24 hours or 7 days or 30 days.

A 24-HOUR NOTICE is required for the
following reason:

lllegal drug activity on the premises and a
formal police report filed (lease provision must
allow for termination).

A 7-DAY NOTICE is required for the
following reasons:

a) Nonpayment of rent;

b) Extensive and continuing physical injury
to property;

¢) Serious and continuing health hazard.

A 30-DAY NOTICE is required for the
following reasons:

a) Violation of a lease provision and the
lease allows for termination for that violation;

14

b) Forceful entry OR peaceful entry, with
forceful stay OR trespass;

c) Holding over after natural expiration of
lease term;

d) “Just cause” for terminating tenant of
mobile home park;

e) “Just cause” for terminating tenant of
government-subsidized housing.

Q5 Once the proper notice is prepared,
how must it be delivered to the
tenant?

Once the eviction notice is prepared, it
must be properly delivered to the tenant. The
eviction notice MUST be delivered:

a) In person to the tenant; OR

b) At the rental property, to a member of
the tenant’s household—of suitable age—
requesting that it be delivered to the tenant;
OR

c) By first-class mail, addressed to the
tenant.

If the notice is delivered personally, the
time of the notice begins to run the next day.
If the notice is mailed, the time begins the next
mail delivery day (not a Sunday or holiday).

The eviction notice is not the same as an
Order of Eviction. A tenant is not required to
move when the eviction notice expires—he or
she may have a valid defense to the landlord’s
reason for eviction. Expiration of the 24-hour
or 7- or 30-day time period only enables the
landlord to file a lawsuit.

Remember: Only a court officer may
remove the tenant and tenant’s personal
items from the rental property—and only
under court order.

B. TAKING THE ACTION TO COURT

Q1 What must the landlord do to begin
a lawsuit for eviction?

If some agreement or understanding cannot
be worked out by the parties, and if the
eviction notice has been properly delivered
and the 24-hour or 7- or 30-day time period has
passed, the landlord may commence a
lawsuit—known as a Summary Proceedings
action. This section will outline how the
landlord may bring an action, and what the
tenant can expect when being sued.

The Paperwork. The paperwork necessary
to begin a lawsuit includes the following:
a) Complaint;




b) Copy of the Notice of Eviction (attached
to the Complaint);

c) Lease (attached to the Complaint); and

d) Summons.

Most district courts will provide the
landlord with pre-approved court forms, if
requested. These forms meet all Michigan
statutory and court-rule requirements. However,
they must be properly filled out. It is suggested
that anyone not using the pre-approved court
forms consult with an attorney.

The lawsuit for eviction begins like any
other lawsuit—the plaintiff (the landlord) files
the appropriate paperwork with the court.
Jurisdiction over eviction proceedings is
granted to the district court and the few
remaining municipal courts.

The Complaint tells the court why the
landlord seeks to regain possession of his or
her rental property—much the same as the
original Notice of Eviction. The Complaint
MUST include:

a) A description of the rental property;

b) The reason(s) for eviction;

¢) A demand for a jury trial (if the landlord
wants a jury);

d) If rent or other money is due, the rental
period and rate, the amount due and unpaid
when the Complaint was filed, and date(s) the
payments became due; and

e) Allegations that the landlord has kept
the residential rental property fit for the use
intended and in reasonable repair during the
term of the lease (unless the lease term is a
year or more and the parties have modified
these obligations by contract).

The following paperwork MUST BE
ATTACHED to the Complaint:

a) Copy of the Notice of Eviction; and

b) Lease (unless the tenancy was created
by an oral agreement).

The Summons MUST accompany the
Complaint, commanding the tenant to appear
at the district court for trial. It MUST also
include information, advising the tenant that:

a) The tenant has the right to employ an
attorney;

b) If the tenant does not have an attorney,
but can otherwise afford to retain one, to
contact the State Bar of Michigan or a local
lawyer referral service;

c) If the tenant cannot pay for an attorney,
he or she might qualify for legal-aid assistance;
and

d) The tenant has the right to a jury trial
(the fee must be paid when the demand is
made in the first response—written or oral).

Proper filing of the paperwork with the
court. The paperwork MUST be properly filed
with the appropriate district court, as only
this court has jurisdiction over eviction
proceedings. A lawsuit for eviction is filed in
the district court in the county where the
rental property is located. Sometimes, the
district court’s jurisdiction borders are the
same as the municipal borders, but this is not
always the case. Check with the local court to
determine the proper district court for your
lawsuit.

Proper delivery of the paperwork to the
tenant. The paperwork MUST be properly
delivered to the tenant, notifying him or her
that legal action has begun (and proof of how
and when they were delivered must be filed
with the court). The Summons and Complaint
and a copy of the original Notice of Eviction
and Lease MUST be properly delivered to the
tenant BY MAIL AND ONE OTHER WAY:

a) Personally; OR

b) By first-class mail—certified, return-
receipt requested, restricted delivery; OR

c) At the rental property, to a member of
the tenant’s household—of suitable age—
requesting that it be delivered to the tenant;
OR

d) After diligent attempts at personal
service, by securely attaching the papers to
the main entrance of the rental property unit.

Note: This delivery method differs slightly
from delivery of the initial Notice of Eviction.

Here, two methods of delivery are required.

24 hours or 7 days or 30 days, has passed.

CHECKLIST FOR COMMENCING A LAWSUIT

[0 The Notice of Eviction was properly delivered to the tenant and the proper time period, either

[ The pre-approved court forms—the Complaint and Summons—are properly completed.
[ Copies of the Notice of Eviction and Lease are attached to the Complaint.

[ All paperwork is filed with the appropriate district or municipal court.

[ All paperwork is properly delivered to the tenant.

15



Q2 What must the tenant do after
receiving the Complaint?

The lawsuit for eviction is like any other
lawsuit. Once a Complaint is received, the
tenant MUST APPEAR AND ANSWER by the
date on the Summons. The time period is
short—generally 3-10 days. The tenant must
answer either in person, orally, or by filing a
written response addressing each of the
allegations in the landlord’s Complaint. The
tenant’s answer generally objects to the
landlord’s reason(s) for the eviction and
explains why the court should not evict the
tenant from the rental property. Also at this
time, the tenant can state a counterclaim with
the answer and request a jury.

Q3 What happens if the tenant fails to
appear and answer dafter receiving
the Complaint?

If the tenant does not appear at the district
court as commanded in the Summons, a
default judgment—giving possession of the
rental property back to the landlord—will be
entered against the tenant. And 10 days later,
at the landlord’s request, the court will issue
an Order of Eviction and a court officer will
physically remove the tenant and the tenant’s
personal items from the rental property.

Additionally, the court may enter a money
judgment against the tenant. This would allow
the landlord to begin collection proceedings,
which may include garnishment of wages, bank
accounts, and tax refunds. It may also include
execution against the tenant’s personal
property, like his or her automobile. Further, a
money judgment may appear on the tenant’s
credit report, hindering his or her ability to get
a loan or a credit card.

Notice to the tenant: Do not fail to appear
and answer!

Q4 Once a lawsuit is started, can
the parties still try to negotiate or
mediate an agreement?

Up until trial, the parties may reach an
agreement and settle the case themselves OR
they may decide to resolve their dispute
through mediation.

Community Mediation. Parties can choose
to mediate before or after a lawsuit is filed.
Mediation is an alternative dispute resolution

16

technique that is voluntary, empowering,
confidential, convenient, effective, and
provided at little or no cost. (See pages 21-22
for the names, locations, and phone numbers
of the Michigan Community Mediation Centers
that can be contacted for assistance.)

Q5 If the parties reach an agreement,
do they still have to appear in court?

At any time before trial, the landlord and
tenant may decide to work out a compromise.
In fact, most lawsuits for eviction end in
compromise—minutes before trial. The parties
may either:

a) Sign an agreement called a “Consent
Judgment,” putting an end to the case by
consent and by order of the judge; OR

b) Agree to a dismissal subject to some
condition (e.g., tenant paying rent by a
particular day, tenant voluntarily vacating the
rental property by a particular day). Once the
condition is satisfied, the judge will order the
dismissal.

If a Summons has been issued, the tenant
must show up at the court. If an agreement is
reached, the court must be notified. Whether
the landlord and tenant must appear before
the judge to put their agreement on the record
is up to the judge.

Q6 What possible defenses to a lawsuit
for eviction might a tenant have?

If the tenant has exhibited certain lawful
behavior, Michigan law provides the tenant
with a number of defenses—even if the
landlord can prove any of the nine reasons for
a lawful eviction. The most common defenses
are:

(1) A claim of retaliatory eviction. There
exists a presumption of retaliation if the
landlord started the eviction proceedings
within 90 days of the tenant trying to enforce
his or her rights under law (e.g., reporting
health and safety code violations, exercising
rights under the lease, filing a complaint
against the landlord for violation of the law,
or joining in membership in a tenants’
organization).

(2) Full payment of the rent due. After a
lawsuit for nonpayment of rent was filed, the
tenant may have actually paid the total amount
of rent due.

(3) Landlord’s breach of the warranty of
habitability and duty to repair. The landlord
must have been provided with notice of the
problem, generally in writing, and must have
been given a reasonable amount of time to fix



the problem. If a portion of the rent was
withheld for the purpose of addressing the
maintenance or repair issue(s), it must have
been deposited into an escrow account. (That
portion of rent must reasonably relate to the
cost of repair or to the damage that the tenant
incurred because of the problem.) The tenant
must show that “but for the repair and
maintenance required, he or she was ready,
willing, and able to pay the rent.”

Having a defense and being able to prove
it are two different things. If the tenant is
successful in offering his or her proofs, the
tenant is generally allowed to remain in
possession of the rental property. The Court
may not order eviction if the Court believes
that the tenant complied with the law and
acted only to protect his or her rights, even
though the landlord may have had a lawful
reason to evict.

Q7 What can the parties expect to see
happen at trial?

If the parties to a lawsuit for eviction
cannot otherwise reach an agreement, they will
have to go to court to have things decided for
them. Even when they first get to court, most
cases are resolved in the hallways. The judges
generally encourage the parties to reach a
settlement; the attorneys who are there on
behalf of the parties also encourage their
clients to do so. If they cannot, the parties
then proceed to trial where the judge (or jury)
will decide the outcome.

At trial, both parties will be given an
opportunity to tell their side to the judge (or
jury). They will be allowed to offer testimony
and show documentation that may persuade
the judge (or jury), by a preponderance of the
evidence (51 percent), to rule in their favor.

In the courtroom, there is an order to
things. The landlord must first prove that a
lawful reason for eviction exists and that he or
she is entitled to regain possession as owner
of the rental property. The tenant, on the other
hand, may next offer evidence that even
though there is a lawful reason, a legal defense
exists that protects him or her from being
removed. (See a list of landlord’s lawful
reasons and tenant’s possible defenses,
pages 13 and 16, respectively.)

After both parties have had an opportunity
to offer their proofs to the judge (or jury), a
decision will be made either for the landlord
(to regain possession) or for the tenant (to
remain in possession).

Q8 If the landlord wins the lawsuit for
eviction, how soon can the tenant and
his/her personal property be removed?

Even if the landlord wins the lawsuit for
eviction, the court cannot issue an Order of
Eviction for at least 10 days. This allows time
for the tenant to appeal the decision; it allows
time for the tenant to cure by paying the rent
owed if that was the reason for eviction, and it
allows time to work things out by agreement.

Only after waiting 10 days can the
prevailing landlord request that the judge issue
an Order of Eviction. However—even then—
Michigan law does not allow the landlord to
forcibly remove the tenant or the tenant’s
property. Only an officer of the court, by a
judge’s order, can remove the tenant and
tenant’s property from the rental property; and
that officer is generally the sheriff or someone
from the sheriff’s office. This is called
executing the Order of Eviction, and there is
little the tenant can do but start packing.

Q9 Can the tenant be evicted and still
forced to pay money damages to
the landlord?

Yes. In addition to regaining possession of
the rental property, the judge (or jury) may
award the landlord a money judgment for such
things as unpaid rent, unpaid utilities, damages
to the rental property beyond reasonable wear
and tear caused by the tenant, and any other
damages incurred because of the tenant’s
violation of the lease agreement.

Avoiding a money judgment is always a
good idea. If the option to pay is still available,
the losing party (if financially able) should
remit what is owed. Once a money judgment is
awarded, the prevailing party, through a lawful
collection process, can garnish wages, garnish
bank accounts, and garnish tax refunds. The
prevailing party may also be entitled to
another remedy—executing the money
judgment against personal property (a car, fine
jewelry, collectibles, and the like).

Remember that a lease agreement—
whether written or oral—is a contract,
enforceable by law. Both parties have rights
and obligations under the lease. Simply having
the tenant removed from the rental property
may not provide the landlord with all that he
or she is entitled to receive under the lease.
(See Eviction Timeline, pages 18-19.)

17



C. Eviction Timeline

Some incident gives rise for eviction. BEGIN THE LAWSUIT:
MCL 600.5714 After the time period in the notice has expired—
24-HOUR NOTICE is required for the following eitl}er 7 days or 30 days—if things cannot be worked
reason: out:
Illegal drug activity and formal police report filed File with the district court and serve on the tenant a
(lease provision must allow for termination). Summons and Complaint.
7-DAY NOTICE is required for the following reasons: MCL 600.5735
a) Nonpayment of rent;
§ b) Extensive and continuing physical injury to
S property;
:§ ¢) Serious and continuing health hazard.
ﬁ 30-DAY NOTICE is required for the following reasons:
a) Violation of a lease provision and the lease allows
for termination;
b) Forceful entry OR peaceful entry, but forceful stay
OR trespass;
¢) Holding over after natural expiration of lease term;
d) Just cause for terminating tenant of mobile home
park;
e) Just cause for terminating tenant of government-
subsidized housing.
Provide proper notice of intent to evict. The Summons. The Summons commands the tenant
MCL 600.5716, 600.5718 to appear at the court for trial.
Forms DC 100a, DC 100c (from the court) Michigan Court Rule 4.201(C)
The notice MUST: Form DC 104 (from the court)
a) Be in writing; The Complaint. The Complaint gives further notice of
b) Be addressed to the tenant; the cause of action, or grounds, for the eviction.
c) Describe the rental property (address is sufficient); Landlord MUST attach the following:
“ d) Give reason for eviction; a) A copy of the Lease; AND . .
Q e) State the time for tenant to take remedial action; b) A copy of the notice of intent to evict—stating
- f) Include landlord’s signature; and when and how it was delivered.
g g) Include date. Michigan Court Rule 4.201(B)
- The notice MUST be delivered: Forms DC 102a, DC 102C (from.the court) .
= a) In person to the tenant, OR The Summons and Complaint MUST be delivered
S b) At the rental property, to a member of tenant’s (ban?l p(li'oof }(l’f }}:OW and wherlll they Wer%‘(}e&}[‘ﬁf&&nﬁm
s household—of suitable age—requesting that it be O?\J]E{‘ %TWER tweA;f)urt) to the tenant
= delivered to the tenant, OR :
S ©) By sending it through first-class mail addressed to a) Personally, OR ) )
the tenant. b) Sent by mail—certified, return-receipt, restricted
delivery, OR
c) At the rental property, to a member of tenant’s
household—of suitable age—requesting that it be
delivered to the tenant, OR
d) After diligent attempts at personal service, by
securely attaching the papers to the main entrance
of the rental property unit.
Michigan Court Rule 4.201(D)
Read the notice. Certain reasons for eviction can be The Summons will have a date and time ordering the
cured (e.g., nonpayment of rent can be cured by tenant to appear in court. As the Summons
paying the rent). Certain other reasons cannot be commands, you MUST appear at the court for this
cured and tenant must move out (e.g., breach of lease, hearing.
illegal drug activity). Otherwise, you may be sued. You MUST appear and answer the Complaint by the
Q Recommendation: Contact the landlord to peacefully date on the Summons. You can do this either in
= discuss his or her reasons for eviction. Try to work writing OR orally at the hearing.
g things out to remain in the rental property. Recommendation: 1t is best to contact an attorney to
“ help you through this process.
%
=
S
=
&

18




Eviction

C. Eviction Timeline (continuea)

TRIAL: Within 10 days
there will be a trial/
hearing.

Michigan Court Rule
4.201(F)

If either party appears
without an attorney, but
requests to retain one,
the judge will generally
adjourn the trial/
hearing for 7 days.

JUDGMENT: After trial,

the judge will render a

decision either in favor

of the:

a) Landlord (evicting the
tenant), OR

b) Tenant (allowing him
or her to remain in
possession).

A money award may also
be entered for damages
incurred by either party.
Michigan Court Rule
4.201(K)

APPEAL: Within 10
days after judgment,
either party may appeal
the judge’s decision. The
party appealing the
judge’s decision must
pay an appeal bond,
filing fees, and transcript
fees to preserve the
appeal and stop the Writ
of Eviction from being
issued.

Michigan Court Rule
4.201(N)

EVICTION: After 10
days—a Writ of Eviction
may be requested,
issued, and executed.
MCL 600.5744(4);

Michigan Court Rule 4.201(L)

Issuance: Issuance must
occur within 56 days after
judgment is entered and
must be executed no later
than 56 days after the writ is
issued.

Important: Certain

situations may allow
issuance of a Writ of
Eviction Immediately.

MCL 600.5744(2)

Landlord’s Duties

You have a right to an
attorney; you may ask
for time to retain one.
Generally, the judge will
adjourn for 7 days. You
have a right to a jury
trial; however, you must
demand it in the
Complaint and pay the
jury fee. (The fee starts
at $40 and goes up
depending on the amount
in controversy.)

Provide testimony,
documents, and other
evidence to show that
you are lawfully entitled
to recover possession of
your rental property.

If judgment is for you,
the landlord, it may
include an award for any
money due and for costs.
You may begin
collections on the money
judgment if tenant does
not otherwise pay or
appeal. You will have to
wait to regain possession
by requesting a Writ of
Eviction.

MCL 600.5741

If judgment is for the
tenant, he or she may
remain in possession of
your rental property.

Decide quickly whether
to appeal.

Once the sheriff executes
the Writ, you regain
possession of your rental

property.

Tenant’s Duties

You must appear and
answer the Complaint.
You have a right to an
attorney; you may ask
for time to retain one.
Generally, the judge will
adjourn for 7 days. You
have a right to a jury
trial; however, you must
demand it in your first
response—written or
oral—and pay the jury
fee. (The fee starts at $40
and goes up depending
on the amount in
controversy.)

Defending landlord’s
claim may require you to
testify and provide
documents and other
evidence of why you
should be entitled to
remain in possession of
the rental property.

If judgment is for you,
the tenant, you may
remain in possession of
the rental property.
MCL 600.5747

If judgment is for the
landlord, you must
either:

a) Make full payment (if
the eviction can be
cured by payment),
OR

b) Settle the dispute, OR

¢) Move out, OR

d) Appeal the judge’s
decision.

Decide quickly whether
to appeal.

If the reason for the
eviction was
nonpayment of rent, full
payment of the rent, plus
fees and costs awarded,
may stop the issuance of
the Writ of Eviction.
Partial payment will not
stop the issuance of the
Writ.

WARNING: Other
reasons for eviction may
not be cured by payment
and you must move out
before the sheriff
executes the Writ and
moves things out for
you.

FROM START TO FINISH—
IT CAN TAKE AS FEW AS 27 DAYS OR AS MANY AS 57 DAYS TO EVICT A TENANT!

19




Mediation

Parties in a dispute can choose to
mediate before or after a lawsuit is filed.
Mediation is an alternative dispute resolution
technique that is voluntary, empowering,
confidential, convenient, effective, and
provided at little or no cost. There are
mediation centers throughout Michigan
that can be called for assistance.

Mediation is:

B A process that helps people to resolve
disputes. Trained mediators facilitate a
communication process that assists
people in reaching mutually satisfactory
agreements.

B An alternative to destructive
confrontation, ineffective avoidance,
costly litigation, and violence.

B An opportunity for people in conflict to
use their own problem-solving skills, to
take responsibility, and to find solutions
that best meet their needs.

B Designed to preserve individual interests
while strengthening relationships
between individuals and groups.

B An opportunity to learn a successful
method for resolving conflicts that can
serve as a model for constructively
resolving future conflicts.

20

THE
MEDIATION
PROCESS

(1) Any person or organization may initiate
mediation.

(2) A trained professional will talk with you
to determine if your situation is
appropriate for mediation. If it is, you
will be asked for basic information
about yourself and the other person(s)
involved.

(3) With your permission, the mediation
center will contact the other person(s)
involved to encourage them to
participate in a mediation session.

(4) If both parties agree, the mediation
center will schedule a mediation
session at a time and place convenient
for all.

(5) At the mediation session, trained
mediators will listen to all sides of the
dispute. Each party will get a chance to
explain, uninterrupted, their point of
view. The mediator will encourage
communication from all sides to
uncover facts, identify issues, and
explore possible solutions.

(6) When the parties reach a solution, their
agreement will be put in writing by the
mediator. It is then a legally enforceable
document.




COMMUNITY MEDIATION CENTERS IN MICHIGAN

The following centers provide conciliation, mediation, and other forms of dispute resolution under

Michigan's Community Dispute Resolution Act.

BERRIEN, Branch, Cass, St. Joseph,
Van Buren

Citizens Mediation Service, Inc.

811 Ship Street, Suite 205

St. Joseph, MI 49085

Phone: (269) 982-7898

Fax: (269) 982-7899

Website: www.citizensmediation.org

CHARLEVOIX, Emmet

Citizen Dispute Resolution Service, Inc.
Northern Community Mediation

415 State Street

Petoskey, MI 49770

Phone: (231) 487-1771

Fax: (231) 487-1770

CHIPPEWA, Luce, Mackinac

Eastern UP Dispute Resolution Center, Inc.
P.O. Box 505

Sault Sainte Marie, MI 49783

Phone: (906) 253-9841

Fax: (888) 664-6402

Website: www.eupmediate.com

DELTA, Baraga, Dickinson, Gogebic, Houghton,
Iron, Keweenaw, Menominee, Ontonagon,
Schoolcraft

Resolution Services Program

UPCAP Services, Inc.

P.O. Box 606

Escanaba, MI 49829

Phone: (906) 789-9580

Fax: (906) 786-5853

Website: www.upcap.org

GENESEE, Arenac, Bay, Clare, Gladwin,
Midland, Ogemaw, Roscommon, Saginaw

Community Resolution Center

315 East Court Street, Suite 200

Flint, MI 48502

Phone: (810) 249-2619

Fax: (810) 239-9545

Website: www.mediation-crc.org

GRAND TRAVERSE, Antrim, Benzie, Leelanau,
Missaukee, Wexford

Conflict Resolution Services, Inc.

852 South Garfield Avenue, Suite B

Traverse City, MI 49685-1035

Phone: (231) 941-5835

Fax: (231) 941-4530

Website: www.CRSmediationTC.org

INGHAM, Clinton, Eaton, Gratiot, Isabella,
Shiawassee

Resolution Services Center of Central Michigan

516 South Creyts Road, Suite A

Lansing, MI 48917

Phone: (517) 485-2274

Fax: (517) 485-1183

Website: www.rsccm.org

JACKSON, Hillsdale, Lenawee, Monroe
Southeastern Dispute Resolution Services
United Way of Jackson County

P.O. Box 1345

536 North Jackson Street

Jackson, MI 49204

Phone: (517) 990-0279

Fax: (517) 784-2340

KALAMAZOQOO, Barry, Calhoun
Dispute Resolution Services
Gryphon Place

3245 South 8th Street
Kalamazoo, MI 49008

Phone: (269) 552-3434

Fax: (269) 381-0935

Website: www.gryphon.org

KENT, Ionia, Lake, Mecosta, Montcalm,
Newaygo, Osceola

Dispute Resolution Center of West Michigan

Community Reconciliation Center

678 Front Avenue, NW, Suite 250

Grand Rapids, MI 49504-5368

Phone: (616) 774-0121

Fax: (616) 774-0323

Website: www.drcwm.org

21



MACOMB, Huron, Lapeer, Sanilac, St. Clair,
Tuscola

The Resolution Center

176 South Main Street, Suite 2

Mt. Clemens, MI 48043

Phone: (586) 469-4714

Fax: (586) 469-0078

Website: www.theresolutioncenter.com

MARQUETTE, Alger
Marquette-Alger Resolution Service
715 West Washington Street, Suite A
Marquette, MI 49855

Phone: (906) 226-8600

Fax: (906) 226-5399

Website: www.marsmediation.org

MUSKEGON, Manistee, Mason, Oceana
Mediation & Restorative Services

27 East Clay Avenue

Muskegon, MI 49442

Phone: (231) 727-6001

Fax: (231) 727-6011

Website: www.mediatewestmichigan.com

OAKLAND

Oakland Mediation Center, Inc.
550 Hulet Drive, Suite 102
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48302
Phone: (248) 338-4280

Fax: (248) 338-0480

Website: www.mediation-omc.org

OTSEGO, Alcona, Alpena, Cheboygan,
Crawford, lIosco, Kalkaska, Montmorency,
Oscoda, Presque Isle

Community Mediation Services

Otsego County

United Way Building

116 5th Street

Gaylord, MI 49735

Phone: (989) 732-1576, (989) 705-1227

Fax: (989) 705-1337

Website: www.otsego.org/cms

OTTAWA, Allegan

Mediation Services

Center for Dispute Resolution

Courthouse Square

68 West 8th Street, Suite 140

Holland, MI 49423

Phone: (616) 399-1600

Fax: (616) 399-1090

Website: www.mediationsolvesconflicts.org

22

WASHTENAW, Livingston

Dispute Resolution Centers of Michigan, Inc.
The Dispute Resolution Center

4101 Washtenaw Avenue, Suite 1105

Ann Arbor, MI 48108

Phone: (734) 794-2125

Fax: (734) 794-2126

Website: www.thedisputeresolutioncenter.org

WAYNE

Wayne Mediation Center

Garrison Place

19855 West Outer Drive, Suite 206 - East Building
Dearborn, MI 48124

Phone: (313) 561-3500

Fax: (313) 561-3600

Website: www.mediation-wayne.org



Small Claims Court

If you feel an individual or a business has
treated you unfairly and you believe they owe
you money, there is something you can do
about it. If your community has a mediation
program, you and the person with whom you
are having a dispute can try to work the
problem out with the help of a neutral
mediator. If you cannot resolve your problem
informally through mediation, you can file a
lawsuit in small claims court for up to $5,000.
This information tells you how to file a small
claims case.

Q1 What is a small claims lawsuit?

In the small claims division of the district
court, you can bring a lawsuit against anyone
who owes you money. You can sue a person
who or business that has caused damage to
your property or possessions. The maximum
you can collect through a judgment in small
claims court is $5,000. Small claims courts are
designed to operate informally and without
attorneys present. If you feel you need an
attorney to represent you, the matter must be
filed in district court. In small claims court you
represent yourself, speak directly to the judge
or attorney magistrate, provide your own
evidence, and have any witnesses you wish
speak for you. You do not need to know the
law before you appear for a hearing.

You simply tell the judge why you feel that
someone owes you money and the person or
business you are suing has the opportunity to
tell their side of the case. After hearing both
sides, the judge will decide whether money is
owed to any party and, if so, how much.

When deciding whether to file a claim,
consider whether the person you are suing has
any income. Even if the judge grants you a
judgment, if the person you sued has no
income, it will be difficult for you to collect
any money. You might want to check this out
before you invest your time and money in filing
a claim. Also consider whether mediation
would better resolve your problem.

Q2 Why not try mediation before starting
a lawsuit?

Filing a lawsuit in court should be used as
a last resort. Make sure you have discussed
your problem with the person or business you
are thinking about suing. In many cases, people
and businesses do not know that someone has
a dispute with them until they receive court
papers. If talking the problem over does not
work, consider using mediation instead of
going to court.

Mediation is a process in which two or
more people involved in a dispute meet in a
private, confidential setting and, with the help
of a trained neutral person, work out a
solution to their problem. Mediation is fast,
either free or low cost, and effective in
resolving many disputes including landlord/
tenant, consumer/merchant, and neighborhood
disputes. In most cases, a mediation meeting
can be set up within 10 days, and 90 percent
of all cases in which both parties to a dispute
agree to use a mediation service result in
agreements acceptable to all sides. If you can
work out your dispute in mediation, you may
not need to go to court. Ask the clerk of your
local district court if a mediation program is
available in your area.

Q3 How does a lawsuit begin?

If you cannot resolve your dispute through
mediation, you can file a claim against the
person or business in the small claims division
of district court. Your case must be filed in the
city or county where the transaction in dispute
took place, or where the person or business
you are suing is located. If you are suing more
than one person or business, the suit may be
filed in the district court in which any of the
persons live or where any of the businesses do
business.

At court, tell the clerk you want to file a
small claims case. You will be given an affidavit
and claim form to fill out. On the form, you
name the person or business you are suing
and list reasons why you are suing and the
amount for which you are suing.

23



There is a cost for filing a small claim,
which includes postage or service fees; you
will need to contact the court for this
information. Be sure to bring this amount with
you when you file your claim. The amount can
be made a part of the judgment if the judge
decides in your favor.

After you have filed your claim, the court
will notify the other party that you have filed a
claim against them and the date they are to be
in court. The defendant may respond before
the hearing.

The defendant may offer to settle out of
court after learning you have filed a suit. If you
settle the matter out of court, you can either
voluntarily dismiss your lawsuit or obtain a
judgment. If you want an enforceable judgment,
the terms of your agreement must be spelled
out in writing and signed by both you and the
defendant. A copy of the agreement must be
filed with the court.

Q4 What happens when you are sued in
Small Claims Court?

If you are served with court papers from
the small claims court, you are called the
defendant. You have several ways to respond
to the affidavit and claim you have received.

If you want to deny the claim, you must
either answer the complaint before the hearing
date or appear in court on the hearing date,
bringing with you any evidence you have to
support your denial. If you want an attorney to
represent you, you must tell the court at or
before the hearing; the case will be transferred
from small claims court to the regular district
court.

If you have a claim against the person who
is suing you, you can also file a counterclaim.
Your written counterclaim should be filed with
the court and served by first-class mail to the
person suing you.

If you fail to appear for the hearing, the
court may enter a default judgment against
you. This means the judge may grant a
judgment for the plaintiff without hearing your
statement.

The entry of a judgment may appear on
your credit report.

24

Q5 Is it necessary to prepare for
the hearing?

On the hearing date, any of the following
may happen:

1. If both the person filing the lawsuit and
the defendant appear, the judge may
recommend that the parties go to mediation
and the case may be adjourned. If either party
does not want to try mediation, the hearing
may proceed.

2. If the plaintiff does not appear, and the
defendant does appear, the case may be
dismissed.

3. If the defendant does not appear, the
plaintiff may ask for a “default” judgment. This
means that, if the judge decides you have a
good claim, you can obtain a judgment without
a hearing since the person or business you are
suing did not appear to challenge your claim.

When you go to court for a hearing, take
with you all the evidence you believe proves
your claim. This might include a sales receipt,
guarantee, lease, contract, or accident report.
If a damaged article is too big to bring with
you, photographs can be presented as
evidence. Any witnesses you would like to
speak on your behalf should appear in court as
well.

Remember, a judge or attorney magistrate
will hear a small claims case; you have no
right to a jury trial, and the hearing will not be
recorded.

Either party has the right to ask that the
case be heard in the general district court. The
court will notify the person filing the lawsuit if
the defendant makes such a request. In the
district court, both you and the defendant
have the right to be represented by an
attorney. Whoever loses the case may be asked
to pay for court costs and attorney fees.
Unless defendants are prepared for the extra
expense, they usually agree to have the
hearing in the small claims division.



Q6 What happens at the hearing?

The hearing will usually take place at the
court where you filed your claim. It is
important to be there on time; if you filed the
lawsuit and are not in court when your case is
called, the case may be dismissed. If you are
the defendant and are not in court when your
case is called, a default judgment may be
entered against you. Bring all of your relevant
papers or other evidence and make sure your
witnesses will be on time.

The court clerk will call your case and
both parties will appear before the judge or
magistrate. The judge will ask the plaintiff to
state your claim. Take your time and tell what
happened in your own words and why you
think the person or business you are suing
owes you money. Show the judge your
evidence and introduce any witnesses you
have. The witnesses will be allowed to tell the
judge what they know about the case.

When you have finished, the person or
business you are suing will have an
opportunity to explain their side of the case.
Listen carefully. If you think the defendant is
leaving something out or is misstating facts, be
sure to tell the judge.

A judge’s decision is final. Neither you nor
the defendant can appeal to a higher court
once the judge has made a decision in the
small claims division; although, on petition by
either party, the same judge may reopen the
case in the small claims division. If the case is
heard by a magistrate, either party may appeal
the magistrate’s decision. The case would be
rescheduled before a judge and both parties
would explain their case again.

Q7 If you win, how do you collect
your money?

If you obtain a judgment against the
defendant, the court will provide instructions
regarding post-judgment collections. The
defendant may pay the judgment plus court
costs immediately after the hearing, but if he
or she does not have the money to pay right
away, the judge may allow a reasonable time to
pay and may set up a payment schedule. If the
defendant fails to pay the judgment when
ordered, you must go back to the court and
file additional papers to collect on the
judgment by having their wages or bank
account garnished or property seized. This
cannot occur until 21 days after the judgment
is entered. As part of the judgment, the
defendant must provide information to the
court that can be used in post-judgment
collection efforts.

The Small Claims Court section was supplied by the
State Court Administrative Office under a grant from the
State Justice Institute and in cooperation with the State
Bar of Michigan. Points of view expressed are those of
the Michigan State Court Administrative Office and do
not necessarily reflect the official position or policies of
the State Bar or the State Justice Institute. TP-2 (12/99)

25



Repair and Maintenance

Repair and maintenance problems range
from things that are merely annoying to things
that pose an immediate threat to health and
safety. Both the landlord and the tenant have
some responsibility for maintenance.

There are three types of maintenance
problems:

1. Emergencies require action within
24 hours and pose an immediate
threat to the health and safety of the
occupant(s)—gas leak, flooding, defective
furnace, or major roof damage;

2. Major problems affect the quality of the
residential environment, but not to the
degree that the life of the occupant(s) is
immediately endangered—defective
water heater, clogged drain, heating
problem in part of a house; and

3. Minor problems fall into the nuisance
category—defective lighting, locks;
dripping faucets; household pests;
peeling paint and wallpaper.

26

A. RESPONSIBILITIES ARE
SHARED WHEN MAINTAINING
A RENTAL PROPERTY

Q1 What are the landlord’s
responsibilities?

Under Michigan statute, the landlord has a
duty to keep the rental property and all
common areas:

a) Fit for the use intended by the parties;

and

b) In reasonable repair during the term of

the lease; and

©) In compliance with the health and safety

laws (MCL 554.139).

Whether the landlord is required to repair
a problem depends on two factors: the nature
of the problem itself and whether the
landlord’s duty to repair has been modified—
either by the tenant’s conduct or by mutual
agreement.

Unfortunately, the term “reasonable repair”
is not defined by law—it is a question of fact
and if litigated, would be decided by the judge
(or jury). While it would certainly be
reasonable for a landlord to fix a clogged drain
or defective water heater, it may not be
reasonable to require the landlord to repair a
minor chip in a countertop or peeling
wallpaper.

The landlord is relieved of the duty to
repair and comply, if the tenant’s willful or
irresponsible conduct or lack of conduct has
caused the disrepair or violation of health or
safety laws.

The landlord and the tenant may—by
mutual agreement—modify these duties and



make the tenant responsible for repairs, but
only if the lease agreement has a current term
of at least one year. In other words, if the lease
term is less than one year, the landlord’s duty
cannot be modified.

Additionally, almost all courts recognize
that implied in a residential lease agreement is
the understanding that the rental property
must be fit for habitation by humans. This
means that the rental property must meet
some minimum level of standard so as not to
expose the occupants to unreasonable health
risks. This implied duty cannot be modified or
waived.

In addition to state law requirements,
counties and municipalities are free to enact
ordinances that require landlords to maintain
rental property above minimum habitability
standards and additional requirements. Most
municipalities have a housing code protecting
the health, safety, and welfare of their citizens.
Some require that the rental property be
inspected on a regular basis. Some even
require licensing before a tenant can move in.
Check with the local city or county
government code enforcement office for
additional standards imposed on landlords in
maintaining their rental property.

Q2 What are the tenant’s responsibilities?

Although responsibilities can be modified
in certain instances—by mutual agreement
between the landlord and tenant—a tenant is
generally expected to:

1. Pay rent on time;

2. Keep the rental property in a safe and
sanitary condition;

3. Promptly notify the landlord of
maintenance problems;

4. Exterminate insects that appear if they
were not there when the tenant moved in; and

5. Leave the rental property in good
condition—reasonable wear and tear excepted.

B. IMPORTANT STEPS TO TAKE IN
SOLVING THE PROBLEM(S)

Depending on the problem, requesting that
a repair be made could be as simple as a quick
phone call or as complicated as filing a lawsuit.
Outlined next are the recommended steps to
take to solve a repair and maintenance
problem:

STEP 1: Notify the landlord and provide
reasonable time for repair.

Keep it simple. The tenant must notify the
landlord and explain the situation, the
importance of the repair, and when he or she
would like it done. A phone call usually works.
However, the phone call should be followed up
with a letter to ensure that documentation
exists. Sometimes, however, the landlord
requires that a specific form or repair order be
filled out before proceeding. Read the lease
and talk to whoever is in charge and figure out
the best course to take. Keep copies of
communications and keep notes of discussions.
Municipalities have enacted housing codes—
establishing minimum standards—to protect
the rights of both the landlord and the tenant.
Contact the local city hall for information.

Note: The landlord must be given reasonable
time to make repairs.

STEP 2: Contact the building inspector and
schedule an inspection.

In some municipalities, if the rental
property is up to municipal code standards,
the tenant will be responsible for paying the
inspector’s fee. If it is not up to code, the
landlord pays the fee (and may also have to
pay a re-inspection fee once the repair is
made). Call the local inspector’s office to find
out how much the fee will be.

STEP 3: If the landlord has failed to make
necessary repairs, either withhold the rent
and deposit it into an escrow account OR
pay for the repair and deduct the cost
from the rent.

Note: The landlord must have been
provided with notice of the problem, and
must have been given a reasonable amount
of time to fix the problem.

B Escrow Account: A bank account or other
account held by a third party, generally
established in the name of the tenant, into
which whole or partial rent payments are
deposited to show that the tenant was ready,
willing, and able to pay the rent, but is
withholding the rent until a certain problem is
fixed that the landlord is legally responsible for
fixing. Once the problem is taken care of, the
escrowed rent amount will be released to the
landlord.

27



> If the rent, or a portion of it, will be
withheld for the purpose of addressing the
maintenance or repair issue(s), the tenant
should send a letter—certified mail, return
receipt requested—stating why the rent will
be withheld, where it will be deposited
(name of financial institution), and that
payment will be released when the
maintenance or repair problem(s) has been
corrected.

> If the repair cost will be deducted from the
rent, call for three repair estimates. If it is a
do-it-yourself job, shop and compare the cost
of parts. Reputable repair companies will
come to the house and provide a free written
estimate. Send copies of the estimates to the
landlord and state that the problem will be
fixed unless the landlord agrees to do it by a
certain date, and that the cost of repair will
be paid from the rent withheld. Keep all
receipts and note the dates of repair; send
copies to the landlord, along with the
remaining portion of the rent.

Note: While the repair-and-deduct method
may work well for small repairs, it may not
work for large repairs. See page 44.

Q1 How much rent should be withheld?

The amount of rent withheld must
reasonably relate to the cost of fixing the
problem or to the amount of damage the
tenant has incurred because of the landlord’s
failure to fix the problem. Withhold less for a
clogged drain. Withhold more for an unusable
toilet or shower. Only the most catastrophic
problems will warrant withholding all of the
rent. In any event, the amount withheld must
be deposited into an escrow account.

Q2 What if the tenant lawfully withholds
rent and the landlord starts the
eviction process?

If the landlord has a run-in with the
municipal code enforcement office OR if the
landlord does not receive the rent, he or she
may well decide to start the process for

28

evicting the tenant. Nevertheless, Michigan law
provides the tenant—who was acting lawfully—
with certain defenses. The tenant, however,
must be able to prove the facts giving rise to
the defense:

1. A claim of retaliatory eviction. There exists a
presumption of retaliation if the landlord
started the eviction proceedings within
90 days of the tenant trying to enforce his
or her rights under law (e.g., reporting
health and safety code violations, exercising
rights under the lease, filing a complaint
against the landlord for a violation of the
law).

2. The landlord’s breach of the warranty of
habitability and duty to repair. The tenant
must show that the landlord was provided
with notice of the problem and given a
reasonable amount of time to fix the
problem. The tenant must show that the
landlord failed to make the necessary
repairs.

3. Rent was properly withheld and escrowed.
The tenant must be able to show that “but
for the repair and maintenance required, he
or she was ready, willing, and able to pay
the rent.”

The eviction process takes time—from start
to finish, it takes as few as 27 days or as many
as 57 days to evict a tenant. In the meantime,
the landlord has mortgages, taxes, and bills to
pay. Financial pressure may cause the landlord
to negotiate. If the landlord will not negotiate,
and if the tenant has carefully documented all
communications about the needed repair and
maintenance, the tenant may well succeed in
the lawsuit for eviction.

Both the landlord and the tenant should
remember that, in many disputes, the basic
issues become obscured by personal
disagreements that develop and continue to
grow and fester. If an agreement cannot be
reached, try mediation—either before a lawsuit
is filed or after. Mediation might help to
empower the parties to use their own problem-
solving skills, to take responsibility, and to find
solutions that best meet their needs, while
strengthening the landlord-tenant relationship.



Additional Considerations

Civil Rights

Federal, state, and local laws prohibit
discrimination in housing based on a number
of factors, including race, color, sex, age,
disability, and family status. For further
information regarding the classes of persons
protected by federal, state or local laws and
the exceptions to the general laws, contact the
Michigan Department of Civil Rights or the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development.

Housing Codes, Smoke Detectors

Some communities have adopted housing
codes or other specific requirements that may
affect the condition or equipment requirements
of residential rental property. These include
the requirement that smoke detectors be
installed in housing or that residents comply
with recycling ordinances. Be sure to check
with the local unit of government to see if the
rental property is affected.

Pet Restrictions

Landlords can include a provision in the
lease that restricts tenants from maintaining
pets in a rental unit or impose a pet fee. A
landlord cannot discriminate against a person
who maintains a guide, hearing, service and/or
companion animals. Additionally, service and
companion animals are not considered to be
pets, and should not be subject to pet fees or
overly restrictive animal policies.

The courts have permitted the eviction of
tenants who violate a lease provision
prohibiting tenants from maintaining pets in a
rental unit.

Smoking

A landlord can restrict tenants who smoke
to certain apartments or buildings or can
refuse to rent to smokers. In Michigan Attorney
General Opinion No. 6719, released May 4,
1992, the Attorney General stated “neither
state nor federal law prohibits a privately-
owned apartment complex from renting only to
non-smokers or, in the alternative, restricting
smokers to certain buildings within an
apartment complex.”

Lead-Based Paint

Since the latter part of 1996, landlords
must provide tenants who are renting units
built before 1978 with certain information
concerning lead-based paints. This information
includes a federal government pamphlet
entitled:

B Protect Your Family From Lead
in Your Home

and a form entitled:

B Disclosure of Information on Lead-
Based Paint and/or Lead-Based Paint
Hazards (Rentals)

There are exceptions to this federal
requirement, including commercial rentals,
zero-bedroom efficiency apartments, and rental
units certified as lead-free by a qualified lead
abatement inspector.

For further information, contact the
National Lead Information Center at
1-800-424-LEAD[5323] or at www.epa.gov/lead/
pubs/nlic.htm.

See Appendices for sample disclosure form.

29






Appendices

Sample Residential Lease Agreement ........................................
Sample Residential Sublease Agreement ....................................
Sample Roommate Agreement ................................................
Sample Lead-Based Paint Disclosure Form ..................................
Sample Inventory Checklist .................................coiiiiiinann.,
Samples of Tenant’s Letters to Landlord ..................................
Samples of Landlord’s Letters to Tenant ..................................

Court Forms Prepared by the Michigan State Court
Administrator’s Office .................. e

Additional Information is Available From

MSU College of Law Housing Law Clinic
(517) 336-8088 rent@law.msu.edu  www.law.msu.edu/clinics/rhc

Michigan State Court Administrative Office

http://courts.michigan.gov/scao/courtforms/landlord-tenantlandcontract/itindex.htm

32

37

38

40

41

43

48

50

31



RESIDENTIAL-LEASE AGREEMENT
NOTICE:

Michigan law establishes rights and obligations for parties to
rental agreements. This agreement is required to comply with the
Truth in Renting Act. If you have a question about the interpretation or
legality of a provision of this agreement, you may want to seek
assistance from an attorney or other qualified person.

We Agree That

(Landlord’s Name(s))
LeasesTo
D

(Tenant’s Name)

@)

(Tenant’s Name)

©)

(Tenant’s Name)

(4)

(Tenant’s Name)

The Following Premises To Be Used For Private Residential Purposes Only

(Street Address, City, State, and Zip Code)

For A Term Month-To-Month
Beginning , 20 , and Beginning , 20
Ending , 20

(8 JOINT AND SEVERAL TENANCY: If morethan one person signs this|ease as a Tenant, their obligations
arejoint and several. This meansthat each person isresponsible not only for hisor her individual
obligations, but also for the obligations of all other Tenants. Thisincludes paying rent and performing al
other terms of thislease. A judgment entered against one or more Tenant(s) does not bar an action against the
others. Each Tenant must initial this paragraph: (1) , (2 , (3) , (4

(b) RENT: Tenant must pay Landlord, asrent for the entire term, atotal of $ , being $
each month, beginning , 20 , and the same amount on or before the 1% business day of
each succeeding month. Rent must be paid to the Landlord at the following address:

(Street Address, Apartment, City, State, and Zip Code)

@ 2 3 4 (Each tenant must initial.) MSU LAW © Page 1 of 5 Pages

32



Sample Residential Lease Agreement (page 2 of 5)

(©

(d)

DISCOUNTED RENT: If Landlord receives the rent on time, Tenant will be granted a $ discount.
The discount is meant to encourage prompt payment of rent. Late rent may subject the Tenant to eviction
proceedings and liability for damages.

SECURITY DEPOSIT: Tenant must pay Landlord $ on , 20 , which
Landlord holds as a security deposit for Tenant’s performance of al the terms of this lease. The secunty
deposit must be deposited at the following financia institution and may be mingled with the security deposits
of Landlord' s other tenants:

(Name of Financia Institution, Street Address, City, State, and Zip Code)

NOTICE:

You must notify your landlord in writing within 4 days after
you move of a forwarding address where you can be reached

and where you will receive mail; otherwise your landlord

shall be relieved of sending you an itemized list of damages

(€)

()

(9)

(h)

0]

@)

(k)

)

and the penalties adherent to that failure.

NONREFUNDABLE CLEANING FEE: Tenant must pay anonrefundable cleaning fee of $ at the
beginning of the lease term.

OCCUPANCY:: Only the personswho sign this lease may reside at the premises. If more than persons
occupy the premises, the Landlord may terminate this tenancy or assess additional rent of $ each month for
each additional person. Occupancy must not exceed the number mandated by local ordinance. Thispremisesis
licensed for __ persons. Tenant may accommodate guests for reasonable periods (up to 2 weeks); other

arrangements require Landlord’ s consent.

Note: If the premisesislocated in the city of East Lansing, the occupancy limit must be displayed on the license and
posted in the premises. The city may fine violators $500 a day for over-occupancy.

SLEEPING ROOMS:. Basements, attics, and other rooms must not be used as sleeping rooms if they do not
comply with the local ordinance for windows, minimum square footage, exits, and ventilation. Thisis meant to
protect Tenant’s health and safety. Thefollowing areas may not be used as sleeping rooms:

Note: The city of East Lansing may fine violators $500 or they may be sentenced up to 90 daysin jalil..

KEYS/LOCKS: Tenant will receive keys from the Landlord. On or before the termination of this|ease,
Tenant must return all keys or Tenant will be charged $ for changing the locks. If Tenant loses the
keys or gets locked out of the premises, Landlord will provide an extrakey to Tenant and may charge Tenant

. Tenant must never gain entrance to the premises by force through awindow or door, or
otherwise without akey. Tenant must not change or add locks without Landlord’ s written consent.

UNAUTHORIZED USE OF MAILING ADDRESS: Only a Tenant may use the mailing address of the
premises. Allowing someone else to use the mailing address will increase the monthly rent $

CONDITION OF PREMISES AT THE BEGINNING OF TENANT'SOCCUPANCY: Tenant
acknowledges receipt of two blank copies of an inventory checklist. Tenant must complete both checklists
and return oneto the Landlord within 7 days after Tenant takes possession of the premises. Except for
those items specifically noted by the Tenant in detail on the inventory checklist, Tenant accepts the premises,
and the appliances and furnishings, in good condition. The inventory checklist is used only to assess damages
and is not awarranty or promise by Landlord that any item listed on the checklist, but not present on the
premises, will be provided.

APPLIANCES AND OTHER FURNISHINGS PROVIDED: Tenant must not remove or loan any item
provided with the premises. Landlord will provide the following checked items:

[ ]Stove ] L]

2 (3) (4 (Each tenant must initial.) MSU LAW © Page 2 of 5 Pages

33



Sample Residential Lease Agreement (page 3 of 5)

[] Refrigerator ] L]
] Dishwasher ] L]
(] Washer and Dryer L] L]

() SMOKE DETECTORS: Landlord must install smoke-detection devices as required by law. The premises
contain smoke-detection devices, al working satisfactorily. Once the tenancy begins, Tenant must
regularly test the detectors to ensure that they are working. Tenant must never remove the battery from the
smoke-detection device except when necessary to replaceit. Tenant must inform the Landlord immediately, in
writing, of any defect or malfunction in its operation.

(m) ALTERATIONS: Tenant must not alter the premises without the Landlord’ s written consent (e.g., painting,
wallpapering, installing locks). Landlord will discuss with Tenant a preferred method of hanging pictures and
posters. Tenant is responsible for damage to the walls beyond reasonable wear and tear.

(n) REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE: Landlord must provide and maintain the premises in a safe, habitable,
and fit condition. Tenant must notify Landlord IMMEDIATELY, BY PHONE at of
any gas leaks, electrical problems, water damage, br oken appliances, or serious structural damage.
Tenant must notify Landlord, in writing, of all other problems needing repair. Landlord must make all repairs
to the premises that, in Landlord’ s sole judgment, are required by law. Landlord must make every effort to do
so within areasonable time. Whenever repairs are delayed for reasons beyond the Landlord’ s contral, the
Tenant’ s obligations are not affected, nor does any claim accrue to Tenant against the Landlord. Landlord must
maintain those things requiring periodic maintenance (e.g., heating, air conditioning, cracked windows).

(0) PIPE-FREEZE PREVENTION: If Tenant plansto be away from the premises for any length of time, the heat
must beleft on during the cold season and the windows closed to avoid broken pipes and water damage.

(p) REPAIRSDUE TO TENANT'SNEGLIGENCE: Damage to the premises caused by Tenant’s negligence,
or their guest’s or invitee's negligence, whether by act or omission, will be repaired by Landlord and charged to
the Tenant. Whenever repairs are delayed for reasons beyond Landlord’ s control, Tenant’s obligations are not
affected, nor does any claim accrue to the Tenant against Landlord. Tenant must immediately pay the repair
costs as additional rent. If Tenant failsto do so, Landlord may take legal action to recover any unpaid rent.

(@) LANDLORD'SRIGHT OF ENTRY: Landlord, or Landlord s agent, may enter the premises at reasonable
times, with -hours notice to the Tenant, to examine, protect, make repairs or aterations, or show
prospective renters and purchasers. In emergency situations, Landlord is not required to give Tenant notice. |If
emergency entry occurs, Landlord must, within 2 days, notify Tenant of the date, time, and reason for the entry.

(r) USE OF THE PREMISES: Tenant must use the premises for private residential purposes only. Tenant must
not do any of the following, or allow someone else to do any of the following:

v’ Harass, annoy, or endanger any cther tenant or neighbor, or their guests, or create any excessive noise
or public nuisance,

v Do anything to the structure or its surroundings that may be hazardous or that will cause Landlord’s
insurance to be cancelled or premiumsto increase,

v" Keep any flammable or explosive materials or any dangerous, hazardous, or toxic substance in or
around the premises,

v' Deface or damage, or allow another to deface or damage, any part of the premises,

v Change the locks or install any additional locks or bolts without Landlord’ s written consent,

v' Place awaterbed or other heavy article on the premises without Landlord’ s written consent,

v" Pour any commercial anti-clogging agent into the sink or drain that may harm the water pipes, or
v Install any antenna or satellite without Landlord’ s written consent.

(9 ILLEGAL DRUG USE: Tenant must not violate, or knowingly allow ancther to violate, federal, state, or
local laws regarding the use of controlled substances or the use of alcohol by minorsin or around the premises.
When aware of aviolation of this provision, Landlord will file aformal police report. Landlord may recover
possession of the premises by summary proceedings when Tenant holds over the premises for 24 hours after
service of awritten demand for possession for termination of this Lease under this provision.

@ 2 3) 4) (Each tenant must initial.) MSU LAW © Page 3 of 5 Pages

34




Sample Residential Lease Agreement (page 4 of 5)

(t)

(u)

v)

(w)

x)

v)

@

@

PETS: Dogs, cats, or other pets are not allowed on the premises without Landlord’ s written consent. If
Landlord’ s written consent is given, Tenant agreesto pay a nonrefundable pet fee of $

PARKING: Landlord will provide parking for Tenant’s automobiles. Tenant must keep the parking area free

of all debris. Automobiles must be parked only in assigned areas as follows:

CAR#1 (year, make, model, and plate number),

belonging to must be parked .

CAR#2 (year, make, model, and plate number),

belonging to must be parked .

CAR#3 (year, make, model, and plate number),

belonging to must be parked .

CAR#4 (year, make, model, and plate number),

belonging to must be parked

MISCELLANEOUS COSTSAND OBLIGATIONS: Check the appropriate boxes below:

[ JTenant [JLandlord [ INot Applicable pays for electricity.

[JTenant [JLandlord [INot Applicable paysfor gasor fuel ail.

[ J[Tenant [ JLandlord [ JNot Applicable pays for water and sewage.

[JTenant [JLandlord [INot Applicable pays for trash removal.

[ [Tenant [ JLandlord [ INot Applicable must dispose of all trash by placing in a designated
container.

[ [Tenant [ JLandlord [ JNot Applicable must mow the lawn.

[ [Tenant [ JLandlord [ INot Applicable must water the lawn.

[ [Tenant [ JLandlord [ INot Applicable must rake the leaves.

[ [Tenant [JLandlord [ ]Not Applicable must remove snow and ice from thedriveway, parking
area, walkway, and steps.

[ [Tenant [ JLandlord [ JNot Applicable must change the screens and storm door s as weather
dictates.

[(JTenant [JLandlord [JNot Applicable must

[ITenant [ JLandlord [ JNot Applicable must

[ITenant [ JLandlord [ JNot Applicable must

[ITenant [ JLandlord [ JNot Applicable must

PEACEFUL AND QUIET USE OF PREMISES: In exchange for Tenant’s timely payment of rent and
performance of al the terms of this lease, Landlord must provide peaceful and quiet use of the premises
throughout the tenancy.

SUBLET AND ASSIGNMENT: Tenant must not sublet the premises or assign any interest in this lease
without Landlord’ s written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld). If Landlord gives written consent,
Landlord must also provide Tenant with an appropriate sublease form.

RENTER’SINSURANCE: Tenant is strongly advised to carry renter’s insurance on his or her personal
property (e.g., clothing, furniture, household items). Landlord is not responsible for damage to Tenant’s
personal property, unless Landlord’ s negligence or intentional act or omission causes the damage.

LEASE ADDENDUM, RULES, AND REGULATIONS: If the premisesislocated in the City of East
Lansing, the East Lansing Lease Addendum must be attached. Additional pages or rules and regulations,

signed by all parties, are incorporated as part of this Lease, and Landlord must provide copies to the Tenant.

2 ) 4) (Each tenant must initial.) MSU LAW © Page 4 of 5 Pages

35



Sample Residential Lease Agreement (page 5 of 5)

(aa) BREACH OF LEASE AND RIGHT TO RE-ENTER AND REGAIN POSSESSION: If Tenant failsto pay
rent or violates any other term of thislease, Landlord may terminate the tenancy, re-enter the premises, and regain
possession in accordance with the law. If Landlord violates any term of thislease, Tenant may terminate the tenancy.

(bb) CONDITION OF THE PREMISES AT THE END OF TENANT’'SOCCUPANCY: At theend of
Tenant’ s occupancy, Landlord must complete atermination inventory checklist to assess damages that
Landlord claims were caused by the Tenant. Thisincludes unpaid rent, unpaid utilities, and damages beyond
reasonable wear and tear. Tenant may ask to be present when the termination inventory checklist isto be
completed. Landlord must mail to the Tenant, within 30 days of Tenant’s termination of occupancy, an
itemized list of damages claimed for which the security deposit may be used—provided, of course, that the
Tenant has given aforwarding address.

(cc) END OF LEASE TERM: When the lease term ends, Tenant must promptly vacate the premises, remove all
personal property, and return all keys. Tenant must dispose of all trash and leave the premises clean.

(dd) CHANGESTO THISLEASE: Thislease, and any additional pages or rules and regulations incorporated,
contains the entire agreement between Landlord and Tenant; no ora agreement isvalid. Changesto the terms of
this Lease must bein writing, signed by all parties.

(ee) ENFORCEMENT OF LEASE PROVISIONS: Failureto strictly enforce any provision of this lease, by
either the Landlord or the Tenant, does not constitute acceptance of achange in itsterms. Landlord and Tenant
are still obligated to perform asindicated in this lease.

(ff) ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS:

ThisRESIDENTIAL-LEASE AGREEMENT issigned on , 20

Each person who signsit
acknowledges, by their signature, that
they haveread it, understand it, and voluntarily agreetoiit.
Further, each person is mentally competent and 18 yearsor older.

Landlord’'s Sgnature(s):

Tenant’s Sgnature(s):

This document was drafted as a community-service project
by student residents
under the supervision of clinical faculty at the

MSU CoLLEGE oF LAwW, RENTAL HOUSING CLINIC
541 E. Grand River Avenue, P.O. Box 310
East Lansing, M| 48826
Phone (517) 336-8088, Fax (517) 336-8089

We provide legal services to low-income persons for nominal fees.

1) o) @) (@) (Each tenant must initial.) MSU LAW © Page 5 of 5 Pages

36



Sample Residential Sublease Agreement

RESIDENTIAL SUBLEASE AGREEMENT

IMNOTICE!!!

Michigan law establishes rights and obligations for parties to rental agreements. This agreement is
required to comply with the Truth in Renting Act. If you have a question about the
interpretation or legality of a provision of this agreement, you may want to
seek assistance from an attorney or other qualified person.

This Sublease Agreement is made between

, the “Sublessor,” and , the “Sublessee,”

together referred to as the “Parties.”
The Parties agree that the Sublessee will lease from the Sublessor a portion of the Sublessor’s interest in the premises

located at , Michigan on the following terms:

1. Lease Term. The lease term is for a period of , beginning on and
ending on

2. Rent. Sublessee will pay a total monthly rent of § . Rent shall be payable on the first day of each

month directly to the Sublessor at the following address

Master Lease. In addition to the terms and conditions of this Sublease Agreement, the Sublessee agrees to be bound
by all the terms and conditions of the Master Lease between Sublessor and the Landlord,
A copy of the Master Lease is attached and incorporated into this Sublease Agreement by reference. Other
representations, not included here or in the Master Lease, are not binding on the Parties.

Security Deposit. Sublessee will pay $ to Sublessor as a security deposit. At the end of the lease term,
only amounts allowed by law may be retained from the security deposit, and the remainder, if any, shall be returned
to Sublessee in accordance with Michigan law. The security deposit may not be used as the last month’s rent.
Inventory Checklist. At the time Sublessee takes possession of the premises, the Sublessor will provide him or her
with an inventory checklist. Sublessee will complete and return the checklist to the Sublessor within 7 days.

Utility and Telephone Charges. The Sublessee will pay % of all utility charges (water, gas, electric, and
cable). Sublessee will pay all telephone charges for calls they, themselves, or their guests, made, and Sublessee will
pay % of the monthly telephone service charges.

Condition of the Apartment. Sublessee acknowledges that he or she has examined the premises and will complete
and return the inventory checklist. Upon the termination of this Sublease Agreement, Sublessee will restore the
premises to their original condition, except for reasonable wear and tear. Sublessee is responsible for the repair of
any damage resulting from his or her act or neglect of that of their guests.

Holdover. Sublessee will promptly vacate the premises at the end of the lease term. Holding over is not allowed.

Subleasing and Assignment. Sublessee may not sublease or assign their interest in the premises to another without
Sublessor’s written consent.

10. Parental Consent and Guarantee. If the Sublessee is under eighteen (18) years of age, his or her legal guardian or

parent, by their signature, guarantees and agrees to perform all the terms and conditions of this Sublease Agreement.

11. This Agreement is Complete and Binding. All preliminary negotiations between the Parties are merged into, and

superseded by, the terms of this Sublease Agreement. This Sublease Agreement becomes enforceable when signed
by both Parties. Any modification to this Sublease Agreement must be in writing, signed by both Parties.

12. Other Terms and Conditions

13. Landlord’s Consent. This Sublease Agreement is not binding on either Party unless the Landlord gives consent by

signing below. The Master Lease requires this approval.

14. Mediation Agreement. If a dispute arises out of or relates to this contract, or its breach, and if the dispute cannot be

settled through negotiation, the Parties agree first to try in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation under the
Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association before resorting to some other dispute resolution procedure.

The Parties having read, having understood, and having agreed to the above terms, sign their names as follows:

Sublessor Date Sublessee Date Landlord Date

This document was drafted as a community-service project by student residents under the supervision of clinical faculty at the
MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY-DETROIT COLLEGE OF LAW, RENTAL HOUSING CLINIC
541 E. Grand River Avenue, P.O. Box 310, East Lansing, M1 48826, Phone (517) 336-8088, Fax (517) 336-8089

©MSU-DCL

37



Sample Roommate Agreement (page 1 of 2)

Attach copy of lease or rental agreement and landlord’s house rules.

Roommate Agreement

(Each roommate should receive & copy of this agreement)

We have signed a lease/rental agreement for (address) on
(date). We hope to make certain that responsibilities of renting will be shared equally by
all roommates. It is for this reason that we are signing this agreement.

ROOMMATES

The roommates of the above address are:

TERMS
This agreement shall remain in effect from to
Under a month-to-month tenancy, each roommate must give the other roommate(s) and landlord thirty days
O written and/or Cloral notice in advance, if the roommate will be moving out before date shown above. The
roommate may leave if a substitute roommate is found and is acceptable to the remaining roommate(s) and the
landlord. Each roommate will be primarily responsible for finding his/her own replacement tenant.

Under a lease agreement, the departing roommate will be responsible for upholding the lease agreement until,
and possibly after, a replacement or sublessee is found.

The landlord should be notified of any pending roommate switch, so that proper arrangements can be made.
The departing roommate will be responsible for his/her original portion of the rent, unless other arrangements
are made in a written agreement with the roommate(s) and landlord.

DEPOSIT

The roommate(s) have paid a security deposit of . List amount each roommate has paid:

Each roommate is responsible for charges associated with the damages he/she or his/her guest(s) cause. If
the cause cannot be determined, then the roommates will split the cost of damages equally.

RENT
Each roommate shall pay the following amount of rent:
Amounts may not be equal. The rent shall be paid on the day of each month. Rent will be paid in
the following manner (list all rental rates)

PETS
If pets are permitted under the lease, each pet owner shall be responsible for all damages caused by his/her
pet. This includes damage to furniture, carpeting, blinds, doors, lawn, and garden.

HOUSEHOLD SUPPLIES
A single ledger will be kept of all supplies purchased by each roommate. The supplies include such things as
paper towels, toilet paper, cleaning fluids, dish detergent, foil, plastic trash bags, scrub brushes, and any other
goods needed for the home which will be shared by all roommates.

KITCHEN USE AND CLEAN-UP
[JFood expenses shall be shared by all roommates. Preparation of meals shall be determined by an attached
schedule which can be flexible.
OR
[OFood is to be bought by each roommate. There is to be no borrowing of food without prior approval. A
separate space will be provided for each person’s groceries. Shared meal preparation and clean-up is
optional.

This form was prepared by the Housing Information Office, University Housing, University of Michigan,
1011 Student Activities Building, 734-763-3205. Website: www.housing.umich.edu
© University of Michigan Rev. 6/02

38



Sample Roommate Agreement (page 2 of 2)

PERSONAL PROPERTY
All roommates agree to refrain from borrowing roommates’ personal items without prior approval. Exceptions
to this should be clearly stated, with the roommates reserving the right to change their minds about the sharing
of their items. Property that is borrowed will be used respectfully and returned in the same condition. If
damage is done to personal property, the roommate responsible for damage will be held liable.

CLEANING AND YARDWORK
All roommates agree to share the responsibilities of cleaning and maintenance of the premises. This includes

dusting, vacuuming, emptying trash, mopping/waxing floors, cleaning bathrooms, and yardwork.

[0 The roommates have decided to develop a schedule which is attached. It states when each roommate will
complete the cleaning and maintenance jobs.
OR

O The roommates will work together at a designated time to complete the above jobs.

MEDIATION
Roommates agree to discuss unresolved roommate problems with an advisor at the University Housing

Information Office. Any roommate may initiate this process, which includes consultation and mediation.
All roommates agree to make a good faith effort to discuss /obtain a resolution prior to taking any action.

ADDITIONAL TERMS OF AGREEMENTS
In addition to the items mentioned above, the following items have been known to cause conflict between
roommates. If you foresee any of these as a problem, write out any needed additional agreements and attach.
Space is provided at right for adding other issues needing specific agreements.

____Smoking/alcohol/drugs __ Parking ____Overnight guests

___ Cleanup after parties/guests ___Use of sound system ____Behavior of guests

__Food/groceries/household supplies __ Phone messages _ Keys

__Quiet hours for studying ____Compliance with landlord's ____Shared areas (bathroom)
and sleeping rules

Each roommate agrees to do his/her own dishes as needed. A schedule of kitchen cleanup may be attached.
It will include cleaning the refrigerator and oven, mopping the floors, and emptying the trash.

UTILITIES The following services have been arranged and paid for as follows:

Item Account in Amount of Deposit How Bill Name Roommate
Name of Deposit Paid By Shared Responsible for Payment

Gas
Water
Electricity

Newspaper

Garbage
Cable TV
Phone

*Charges for unclaimed telephone calls shall be allocated equally among the roommates.

O Each roommate has been assigned the responsibility for payment of a specific bill. This includes determining the
amount owed by each roommate, collecting that amount, and seeing that payment is made before the due date.

OR
[OThe attached schedule has been developed to assign each roommate the month in which he/she will be

responsible for the collecting and payment of all bills.

SIGNATURES OF ROOMMATES

39



Sample Lead-Based Paint Disclosure Form

Disclosure of Information on Lead-Based Paint and/or Lead-Based Paint Hazards

Lead Warning Statement

Every tenant of any interest in residential real property on which a residential dwelling was built prior to 1978 is
notified that such property may present exposure to lead from lead-based paint that may place young children at risk
of developing lead poisoning. Lead poisoning in young children may produce permanent neurological damage,
including learning disabilities, reduced intelligence quotient, behavioral problems, and impaired memory. Lead
poisoning also poses a patticular risk to pregnant women. The landlord of any interest in residential real property is
required to provide the tenant with any information on lead-based paint hazards from risk assessments or inspections
in the landlord’s possession and notify the tenant of any known lead-based paint hazards. A risk assessment or
inspection for possible lead-based paint hazards is recommended before taking occupancy.

Landlord’s Disclosure (Landlord must initial here: )
(@) Presence of lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards (check (i) or (ii) below):

(i) known lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards are present in the housing
(explain).

(ii)
(b) Records and reports available to the tenant (check (i) or (ii) below):

(i) Landlord has provided the tenant with all available records and reports pertaining to lead-
based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards in the housing (list documents below).

Landlord has no knowledge of lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards in the housing.

(ii) Landlord has no reports or records pertaining to lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint
hazards in the housing.

Tenant’'s Acknowledgment......Protect Your Family from Lead in Your Home.
(e) Tenant has (check (i) or (i) below):

] received a 10-day opportunity (or mutually agreed upon period) to conduct a risk assess-
ment or inspection for the presence of lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards.
(i) waived the opportunity to conduct a risk assessment or inspection for the presence of

lead-based paint and/or lead-based paint hazards.

Agent’'s Acknowledgment (Agent must initial here: )

(f) Agent has informed the landlord of the landlord’s obligations under federal law and is
aware of his/her responsibility to ensure compliance.

Certification of Accuracy

The following parties have reviewed the information above and certify, to the best of their knowledge, that the
information they have provided is true and accurate.

Landlord Date Tenant Date
Tenant Date Tenant Date
Agent Date Tenant Date

40



INVENTORY CHECKLIST*

COMMENCEMENT AND TERMINATION
INVENTORY CHECKLIST FORM

“YOU MUST COMPLETE THIS CHECKLIST NOTING THE CONDITION OF THE RENTAL PROPERTY
AND RETURN IT TO THE LANDLORD WITHIN 7 DAYS AFTER OBTAINING POSSESSION OF THE
RENTAL UNIT. YOU ARE ALSO ENTITLED TO REQUEST AND RECEIVE A COPY OF THE LAST
TERMINATION INVENTORY CHECKLIST WHICH SHOWS WHAT CLAIMS WERE CHARGEABLE TO
THE LAST PRIOR TENANTS.”

BEGINNING CONDITION ENDING CONDITION

LIVING ROOM

DOOR (INCLUDING LOCKS):
WINDOWS:

CARPET OR FLOOR:
WALLS:

CEILING:

LIGHTS & SWITCHES:
OTHER:

DINING ROOM

WINDOWS:

CARPET OR FLOOR:
WALLS:

CEILING:

LIGHTS & SWITCHES:
OTHER:

HALLWAY

FLOOR:
WALLS:
CEILING:
OTHER:

KITCHEN

WINDOWS:

FLOOR:

WALLS:

CEILING:

LIGHTS & SWITCHES:
STOVE:
REFRIGERATOR:

SINK:

CABINETS & COUNTER:
OTHER:

* Remember! Be specific. Describe any conditions in detailed terms rather than saying “fine” or “acceptable.”

41



BEDROOM

DOOR:

WINDOWS:

CARPET OR FLOOR:
WALLS:

CEILING:

LIGHTS & SWITCHES:
CLOSET:

OTHER:

BATHROOM

DOOR:

WINDOW:

FLOOR:

WALLS:

CEILING:

SINK:

TUB AND/OR SHOWER:
TOILET:

CABINET, SHELVES, CLOSET:
TOWEL BARS:

LIGHTS & SWITCHES:
OTHER:

BASEMENT
GARAGE
FURNITURE INVENTORY

KITCHEN CHAIRS:
TABLES:

END TABLES:
LOUNGE CHAIRS:
SOFAS:

LAMPS:

DESKS:

DESK CHAIRS:
BOOKCASES:
MATTRESSES:
DRESSERS:

SIGNATURE OF TENANT(S)
ADDRESS OF UNIT
SIGNATURE OF LANDLORD
LANDLORD’S ADDRESS
PHONE NUMBER (LANDLORD)
DATE

42

BEGINNING CONDITION ENDING CONDITION

Use this if rental unit is furnished;
check condition of items and number present.




The following are sample letters which may be used in dealing with various landlord-tenant
problems. It should be noted that most problems are handled amicably and effectively in
conversations or correspondence between landlords and tenants. When this is not the case, and no
agreement can be reached, it is best that subsequent communications between the two parties be in
writing, with copies being kept as the record. The sample letters which follow serve as a guide; these
specific samples cannot, and do not, cover every type of landlord-tenant problem which may arise.

Samples of Tenant’s Letters to Landlord

Tenant’s Request for Repair(s)

TO:

FROM:

Please make, within a reasonable time, the following NECESSARY REPAIRS to the rental property I am occupying. I have
tried my best to explain precisely what is wrong.

L.

Please notify me when the repairperson will be at the rental property to make the necessary repairs so that I can be
there. My home phone number is and my work phone number is
For now, it is easiest to reach me:

(time of day)
Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter.
Sincerely,

Tenant Date

43



Samples of Tenant’s Letters to Landlord

Notice of Tenant’s Intent to Repair and Deduct

TO:

FROM:

I requested that repairs be made to my rental property in a letter dated . It has been days since |
wrote the letter, and the needed repairs have not yet been made.

I have contacted three service providers to make the repairs. Enclosed are copies of three estimates for the repairs
listed in my previous letter. If [ do not hear from you within day(s), I will be hiring the lowest bidder to perform
the repairs.

[J I will pay the company myself from rent previously withheld and escrowed.

[J I will pay the company myself and deduct the amount from my next rent payment.
Copies of the receipts for the repairs, once they are made, will be forwarded to you.

Please take note of the relevant Michigan case law:
Where the landlord has covenanted to make repairs and fails to do so, the tenant, after giving reasonable
notice to the landlord, may make the repairs and recover the cost of such repairs from the landlord or he [or

she] may deduct the cost from the rent. . . . Unless the landlord’s duty to repair is expressly made conditional
upon receipt of notice from the tenant, such duty may arise from the landlord’s actual knowledge of the need
for repair. . . . The landlord’s duty to maintain in good repair . . . extends to reimbursing the tenant for monies
expended . ... Anchor Inn v Knopman, 71 Mich App 64, 67 (1976).

Sincerely,

Tenant Date

Notice of Tenant’s Implementation to Repair and Deduct

TO:

FROM:

As stated in my previous letter, dated , I have taken action to perform necessary repairs that you have
failed to correct. I had the repairs made and paid for them myself, as I said | would do.

You are required by Michigan law to keep the premises and all common areas fit for the use intended, and to keep the
premises in reasonable repair during the term of the lease, and to comply with the applicable health and safety laws of
the state and local governments.

I spoke to you about the problems and the need for repair. I wrote you letter(s) dated about the need for
corrective action. You failed to act within a reasonable amount of time. Therefore, I found it necessary to take action
myself.

Enclosed are the receipts for all expenditures I have made:

[JI paid for the repair from previously withheld and escrowed rent.
OR
[11 will deduct the amount from my next rent payment.

Sincerely,

Tenant Date

44



Samples of Tenant’s Letters to Landlord

Notice of Tenant’s Intent to
Withhold Rent Due to Needed Repair

TO:

FROM:

I previously informed you, in a letter dated , of several problems and the need for repairs at the rental
property | am occupying. Since you have not taken any steps to correct the problems, it is necessary for me to take
further action.

I have opened an escrow account at the following financial institution:

Name:
Address:
City, State, and Zip Code:
I have deposited $ from my rent into the escrow account. This shows that [ was ready, willing, and able to

pay the rent on time—but for certain problems that you, the landlord, are legally responsible for fixing. Once the
problems are taken care of, the escrowed rent amount will be released.

If you wish to discuss this matter further, contact me at

Sincerely,
Tenant Date
Termination of Occupancy Before End of Lease
TO:
FROM:
It has been months since we first brought to your attention the need for several repairs on our apartment.

Since you have not responded to our letters or phone calls, and have not begun to work to repair the problems at our
apartment, we feel that you have broken our lease. You have also violated the “statutory covenant to repair” provided
for by Michigan law. Since you have broken our contract, and show no sign of accepting your legal responsibility to

maintain the premises, we intend to terminate the occupancy of our apartment on or before

We understand your responsibility to inspect the apartment and inform us of any damages—and return the undisputed
portion of our security deposit to us—within 30 days of the end of our occupancy of the apartment. We also
understand that if you do not submit the above information to us within that time period—or go to court to retain our
deposit (should we dispute your claim) within 45 days of the end of our occupancy—we may legally file suit for twice
the amount of our security deposit. Since YOU are responsible for breaking the lease, we will not accept a list of
damages which includes charges for rent lost for the remainder of our lease.

If you wish to discuss this matter further, contact us at

Sincerely,

Tenant Date

45



Samples of Tenant’s Letters to Landlord

Notice of Tenant’s Intent to
Vacate and Forwarding Address

TO:

FROM:

In accordance with the terms of my lease requiring a -day written notice, you are hereby advised of my intent to
vacate the rental property located at on or before

I will turn in my keys to you on .
Please send my security deposit to me at my FORWARDING ADDRESS:

If you have any questions, please contact me at

Sincerely,
Tenant Date
Tenant Defense Against Eviction Attempt
TO:
FROM:

I received your letter demanding that I be out of my apartment within 7 days. Discussion of this with my lawyer
reveals that you cannot carry out an eviction without due process of law, which means taking me to court.

My defense against eviction will be that I have been withholding rent due to your nonperformance of repairs. [ would
like to point out to you that [ have copies of several letters sent to inform you of the need for repairs, and of the
steps I took to obtain repairs. I also have return receipts which prove that you received these letters. In addition,

I have proof that [ have been maintaining an escrow account into which the full amount of rent money due, or a
portion of it, was deposited each month. Also, [ have receipts for all repair work and all bills which were paid out of
my escrow account.

During my tenancy, you have neglected to fulfill your statutory covenant to repair. [ do not feel that you have adequate
cause to demand my eviction.

Please contact my lawyer if you wish to discuss this matter. His or her name is

Sincerely,

Tenant Date

46



Samples of Tenant’s Letters to Landlord

Tenant’s Response to Damages
Assessed Against Security Deposit

TO:

FROM:

In reponse to the list of damages you sent dated , which I didn’t receive until this date, , [ am
writing to dispute the following charges against my security deposit.

As required by Michigan law, | am responding to you by ordinary mail, within 7 days of when I received the list,
indicating in detail my disagreement relative to the charges listed.

Description of Landlord’s Amount to be
Claim of Damage Refunded Reason for the Dispute of Charges
A total of all disputed charges amounts to $ . Please refund this amount of my security deposit

promptly: $

Please note that under Michigan law, the security deposit is considered the lawful property of the tenant until the
landlord establishes a right to the deposit or portions thereof. Within 45 days after termination of occupancy and not
thereafter the landlord may commence an action in a court of competent jurisdiction for a money judgment for
damages which he [or she] has claimed or in lieu thereof return the balance of the security deposit held by him [or
her] to the tenant or any amount mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties.

If you wish to discuss this matter with me, please contact me at

Sincerely,

Tenant Date

47



Sample of Landlord’s Letters to Tenant

(Commencement Of Tenancy)
Security Deposit Notice to Tenant

TO:

FROM:

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT:

The security deposit required of you will be deposited in the following
regulated financial institution:

SURETY BOND (If the landlord has deposited a surety bond to secure deposits, complete the following):
The surety on the bond deposited with the Secretary of State is:

Show name and address of surety company, NOT the insurance agent who signs bond for surety company.

“YOU MUST NOTIFY YOUR LANDLORD IN WRITING WITHIN FOUR (4) DAYS AFTER YOU MOVE OF A FORWARDING
ADDRESS WHERE YOU CAN BE REACHED AND WHERE YOU WILL RECEIVE MAIL; OTHERWISE YOUR LANDLORD SHALL
BE RELIEVED OF SENDING YOU AN ITEMIZED LIST OF DAMAGES AND THE PENALTIES ADHERENT TO THAT FAILURE.”

Sincerely,

Landlord Date

Landlord’s Response to Tenant’s Request for Repair(s)

TO:

FROM:

In response to your letter dated requesting repair of the rental property you are occupying, please be
advised that | have contacted a service representative, , who should be calling you within

the next few days to set up an appointment to accomplish the following repairs:
1.

If you do not hear from the service representative within one week, will you please let me know so that I can make
other arrangements?

If you have any questions, please contact me at

Sincerely,

Landlord Date

48



Samples of Landlord’s Letters to Tenant

Insufficient Notice Letter

TO:

FROM:

We acknowledge with regret your letter of advising us of your intention to vacate the rental
premises on or before

Your lease agreement requires a 30-day written notice.

Under the circumstances, we will hold you responsible for the payment of rent through , or until
such time in the interim as the apartment is re-occupied by another acceptable tenant.

Sincerely,

Landlord Date

(Termination of Tenancy)
Landlord’s Notice to Tenant of
Damages Assessed Against Security Deposit

TO:

FROM:

YOU MUST RESPOND TO THIS NOTICE BY MAIL WITHIN 7 DAYS AFTER RECEIPT OF SAME,
OTHERWISE YOU WILL FORFEIT THE AMOUNT CLAIMED FOR DAMAGES.

On this date, , your occupancy of the rental property located at terminated.
As required under Michigan law, this notice is provided to you to advise you of charges against your security deposit:

Description of Damage or Estimated Amount Charged
Other Obligation Charged Cost of Against
Against Security Deposit Repair(s) Security Deposit Reason for Charge Against Security Deposit

Under Michigan law, a security deposit may be used only for the following purposes: (1) actual damages to the rental
unit that are a direct result of conduct not reasonably expected in the normal course of habitation of a dwelling;

(2) all rent in arrearage under the lease agreement and rent due for premature termination of the lease agreement;
and (3) unpaid utility bills. None of these charges were claimed on a previous termination inventory checklist. After

totaling all charges lawfully assessed against your security deposit, a deduction of $ , @ balance remains in
the amount of $ . A check or money order for the remaining balance is enclosed.

Sincerely,

Landlord Date

49



Approved Court Forms

The forms on pages 51-64 are prepared and approved by the Michigan State Court Administrator’s
Office. They are also available (fees may apply) from local district courts and various landlord or tenant
associations. For additional forms and information visit the Michigan State Court Administrative Office
on the web at http://courts.michigan.gov/scao/courtforms/landlord-tenantlandcontract/itindex.htm.

AFFIDAVIT AND CLAIM, Small Claims
FOrm DC 84 . .. 51-52

NOTICE TO QUIT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF PROPERTY, Landlord-Tenant
Form DC 100C . ..o e e e 53-54

COMPLAINT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF PROPERTY
FOrm DC 102C .. oot e e e 55

DEMAND FOR POSSESSION, NONPAYMENT OF RENT, Landlord-Tenant
Form DC 100a . ..ot e 56-57

COMPLAINT, NONPAYMENT OF RENT, Landlord-Tenant
Form DC 102a . ... e 58

SUMMONS, LANDLORD-TENANT / LAND CONTRACT
Form DC 104 . ..o 59-61

JUDGMENT, LANDLORD-TENANT
FOrm DC 105 ..ot 62

APPLICATION AND ORDER OF EVICTION, Landlord-Tenant / Land Contract
Form DC 107 ... e e 63-64

50



Approved, SCAO

Original - Court (with instructions)

1st copy - Defendant (with instructions)
2nd copy - Plaintiff (with instructions)
3rd copy - Return (with proof of service)

STATE OF MICHIGAN
JUDICIAL DISTRICT

AFFIDAVITANDCLAIM
Small Claims

CASENO.

Court address

Court telephone no.

See instructions on the back of plaintiff and defendant copies.

Plaintiff

Address

City, state, zip Telephone no.

Defendant

Address

City, state, zip Telephone no.

NOTICEOFHEARING

For CourtUse Only
The plaintiff and the defendant must be in court on

Day Date

at at [thecourtaddressabove.
Time

I p—
Location

Fee paid: $

Process server's name

[] 3. Acivil action between these parties or other parties arising out of the transaction or occurrence alleged in this complaint

has been previously filed in

Theaction L] remains [ ] is no longer

Court. The case number, if known, is

pending.

4. | have knowledge or belief about all the facts stated in this affidavit and | am
L] the plaintiff or his/her guardian, conservator, or next friend. [ apartner. [] a full-time employee of the plaintiff.
5. The plaintiffis [Janindividual. []apartnership. [Jacorporation. []asole proprietor. [] o
ther
6. Thedefendantis [ ]anindividual. [ ]apartnership. [ lacorporation. [ ]asoleproprietor. []
Other

. The date(s) the claim arose are

Attach separate sheets if necessary

. Amount of money claimed is $

. The reasons for the claim are

(NOTE: Plaintiff's costs are determined by the court and awarded as
appropriate. They are not part of the amount claimed.)

10. The plaintiff understands and accepts that the claim is limited to $5,000 by law and that the plaintiff gives up the rights to
(a) recover more than this limit, (b) an attorney, (c) a jury trial, and (d) appeal the judge's decision.

11. lbelievethedefendant [ 1is [ lisnot mentally competent. | believe the defendant [ lis [ Jis not 18 years or older.

12. [] 1 do not know whether the defendant is in the military service. [ ] The defendant is not in the military service.

[ ] The defendant is in the military service.

Subscribed and sworn to before me on

Signature

County, Michigan.

My commission expires:

Date

Notary public, State of Michigan, County of

Signature:

Deputy clerk/Notary public

The defendant(s) must be served by

Expiration date

DC 84 (9/12) AFFIDAVIT AND CLAIM, Small Claims

MCL 600.8401 et seq., MCR 4.302, MCR 4.303, 50 USC 521

51



AFFIDAVIT AND CLAIM
Small Claims

PROOF OF SERVICE Case No.

TOPROCESS SERVER: You are to serve this affidavit and claim no later than 7 days before the hearing date. You must make and
file your return with the court clerk. If you are unable to complete service, you must return this original and all copies to the court
clerk.

’ CERTIFICATE/AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE/NONSERVICE

[] OFFICERCERTIFICATE OR [ ] AFFIDAVIT OF PROCESS SERVER
| certify that | am a sheriff, deputy sheriff, bailiff, Being first duly sworn, | state that | am a legally competent
or appointed court officer (MCR 2.104[A][2]), adultwhois nota party or an officer of a corporate party, and
and that: (notarization not required) that:  (notarization required)

[]1served personally a copy of the affidavit and claim,
[ ]1served by registered or certified mail (copy of return receipt attached) a copy of the affidavit and claim,

[ togetherwith , on the defendant(s):
Attachment
Defendant name Complete address of service Day, date, time
Defendant name Complete address of service Day, date, time
Defendant name Complete address of service Day, date, time

[ I have personally attempted to serve the affidavit and claim, together with any attachments on the following defendant(s) and
have been unable to complete service.

Defendant name Complete address of service Day, date, time
Defendant name Complete address of service Day, date, time
Defendant name Complete address of service Day, date, time

| declare that that statements above are true to the best of my information, knowledge, and belief.

Service fee Miles traveled Fee Signature
$ B .
Incorrect address fee| Miles traveled Fee TOTAL FEE Name (type or print)
$ \$ $
Title
Subscribed and sworn to before me on , County, Michigan.
Date
My commission expires: Signature:
Date Deputy court clerk/Notary public

Notary public, State of Michigan, County of

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SERVICE

| acknowledge that | have received service of the affidavit and claim, together with

Attachment

on
Day, date, time

on behalf of

Signature
MCR2.105

52



Approved, SCAO

STATE OF MICHIGAN
NOTICETOQUIT

TORECOVERPOSSESSION OFPROPERTY
Landlord-Tenant

TO: ‘7 T

L ]

1. Yourlandlord/landlady, , is seeking to recover possession of property pursuant to
Name (type or print)

[ MCL 554.134(1) or (3) (see other side) [ ] other: and wants to evict you from:

Address or description of premises rented (if different from mailing address):

2. You must move by oryour landlord/landlady may take you to court to evict you.
Date (*see note)

3. Ifyour landlord/landlady takes you to court to evict you, you will have the opportunity to present reasons why you believe you
should not be evicted.

4. Ifyou believe you have a good reason why you should not be evicted, you may have alawyer advise you. Call him or her soon.

Date

Signature of owner of premises or agent

Address

City, state, zip Telephone no.

*NOTE: Except for a 7-day notice given under the authority of MCL 600.5714(1)(e) or a 90-day notice given under the authority of Public
Law No. 111-22, § 702; 123 Stat 1660 after foreclosure of the premises, if the lease agreement does not state otherwise, the landlord/
landlady must give notice equal in time to at least one rental period.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| certify that on | served this notice on
Date Name

by [ delivering it personally to the person in possession.
(] delivering it on the premises to a member of his/her family or household or an employee of suitable age and discretion
with a request that it be delivered to the person in possession.
[]first-class mail addressed to the person in possession.

Signature

Court copy (to be copied, if necessary, to attach to the complaint)
MCL 600.5714(1)(c)(iii), (e),
DC 100c (9/12) NOTICE TO QUIT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF PROPERTY, Landlord-Tenant PL 111-22 § 702, 123 Stat 1660

53



Approved, SCAO
STATE OF MICHIGAN

NOTICETO QUIT
TORECOVERPOSSESSIONOF PROPERTY
Landlord-Tenant

T | T

L ]

1. Yourlandlord/landlady, , is seeking to recover possession of property pursuant to
Name (type or print)

[ IMCL 554.134(1) or (3) (see other side) []other: and wants to evict you from:

Address or description of premises rented (if different from mailing address):

2. You must move by or your landlord/landlady may take you to court to evict you.
Date (*see note)

3. Ifyour landlord/landlady takes you to court to evict you, you will have the opportunity to present reasons why you believe you
should not be evicted.

4. Ifyou believe you have agood reason why you should not be evicted, you may have alawyer advise you. Call him or her soon.

Date

Signature of owner of premises or agent

Address

City, state, zip Telephone no.

*NOTE: Except for a 7-day notice given under the authority of MCL 600.5714(1)(e) or a 90-day notice given under the authority of Public
Law No. 111-22, § 702; 123 Stat 1660 after foreclosure of the premises, if the lease agreement does not state otherwise, the landlord/
landlady must give notice equal in time to at least one rental period.

HOW TO GET LEGAL HELP

1. Callyour own lawyer.

2. If you do not have an attorney but have money to retain one, you may locate an attorney through the State Bar of Michigan
Lawyer Referral Service at 1-800-968-0738 or through alocal lawyer referral service. Lawyer referral services should be listed
in the yellow pages of your telephone directory or you can find a local lawyer referral service at www.michbar.org.

3. Ifyoudo not have an attorney and cannot pay for legal help, you may qualify for assistance through alocal legal aid office. Legal
aid offices should be listed in the yellow pages of your telephone directory or you can find a local legal aid office at
www.michiganlegalaid.org. If you do not have Internet access at home, you can access the Internet at your local library.

Tenant's copy MCL 600.5714(1)(c) i), (€),

DC 100c (9/12) NOTICE TO QUIT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF PROPERTY, Landlord-Tenant PL 111-22 § 702, 123 Stat 1660

54



Original - Court

1st copy - Tenant
2nd copy - Mailing
3rd copy - Landlord

STATE OF MICHIGAN CASENO.

COMPLAINTTO
JUDICIAL DISTRICT RECOVER POSSESSION OF PROPERTY

Approved, SCAO

Court address Court telephone no.

Plaintiff name(s), address(es), and telephone no(s). Defendant name(s) and address(es)

Plaintiff's attorney, bar no., address, and telephone no.

The plaintiff states:
1. LI Thereis no other pending or resolved civil action arising out of the same transaction or occurrence alleged in this complaint.
] A civil action between these parties or other parties arising out of the transaction or occurrence alleged in this complaint
has been previously filed in Court. The docket number and assigned judge are

Theaction [remains [Jisnolonger  pending.
2. Attached to this complaint is a copy of the lease or occupancy agreement, if any, under which possession is claimed, and a
copy of the notice to quit or demand for possession, if any, showing when and how it was served.

3. The person entitled to possession of the property described
[Iin the attached notice/demand ] as follows:

is

Name (type or print)
4. The defendant is in possession of the following portion of the property:

5. The plaintiff has a right to possession of the property because:

[Ja. lease expired on . Ib. tenancy was terminated by notice to quit.

[Ic. lease terminated per provisioninlease (para.no.____). []d. defendant is a trespasser. Explain in space beneath item f.
[ e. forcible entry was made or possession was held by force after a peaceful entry.

LIf other:

Describe in detail how the trespass occurred or how the premises are being illegally held. State that no lawful tenancy existed between the parties
in the time that has passed since the trespasser took possession. Use a separate sheet of paper if needed.

[]6. Thetenancyinvolves regulated housing operated by or under rules of a governmental unit. The rule or law under which the
tenancy is ended is .

[17. The plaintiff declares that this residential property was kept fit for the use intended and has been kept in reasonable repair
during the term of the lease.

[]8. The defendant remains in possession of the property.

9. The plaintiff requests a judgment of possession and costs.

[ 110. The plaintiff demands a jury trial.

SUPPLEMENTAL COMPLAINT

[ 111. Complaint is made and judgment is sought for money damages against the defendant as follows: Use a separate sheet of
paper if needed.

Date Plaintiff/Attorney signature

MCR 2.113(C), MCR 4.201(B),
DC 102¢ (1/12) COMPLAINT TO RECOVER POSSESSION OF PROPERTY MCL 600.5714




56

Approved, SCAO

STATEOFMICHIGAN DEMAND FORPOSSESSION

NONPAYMENT OFRENT
Landlord-Tenant

TO: T 4‘ Notice to mobile home owners who rent
land in a mobile home park:

If you have been late on payments on three or
more occasions during any 12-month period and
the park owner has given you awritten demand for

L J possession for nonpayment of rent on each
occasion, the park owner may have just cause to
evictyou.

1. Yourlandlord/landlady, ,saysthatyouowe $___ rent

Name (type or print)

Address or description of premises rented (if different from mailing address):

2. If you owe this rent, you must do one of the following within 7 days from the date this notice was served.
a. Pay the rent owed. or b. Move out or vacate the premises.
If you do not do one of the above, your landlord/landlady may take you to court to evict you. If you move out or vacate, you
may still owe rent.

3. If your landlord-landlady takes you to court to evict you and if you have paid the rent, or if you believe there is a good reason
why you do not owe the rent, you will have the opportunity to present the reasons why you believe you should not be evicted.

4. If you believe there is a good reason why you do not owe the rent claimed by your landlord/landlady, you can have a lawyer
advise you. Call him or her soon.

Date

Signature of owner of premises or agent

Address
City, state, zip Telephone no.
CERTIFICATEOF SERVICE
| certify that on | served this notice on
Date Name
by [ delivering it personally to the person in possession.

[ delivering it on the premises to a member of his/her family or household or an employee of suitable age and discretion
with a request that it be delivered to the person in possession.
[] first-class mail addressed to the person in possession.

Signature

Court copy (to be copied, if necessary, to attach to the complaint)
MCL 600.5714(1)(a), MCL 600.5716,
DC 100a (1/12) DEMAND FOR POSSESSION, NONPAYMENT OF RENT, Landlord-Tenant MCL 600.5718, MCL 600.5775(2)(f)



Approved, SCAO
STATE OF MICHIGAN

DEMAND FORPOSSESSION
NONPAYMENT OFRENT
Landlord-Tenant

TO: ﬁ j Notice to mobile home owners who rent
land in a mobile home park:

If you have been late on payments on three or
more occasions during any 12-month period and
the park owner has given you awritten demand for

L J possession for nonpayment of rent on each
occasion, the park owner may have just cause to
evictyou.

1. Yourlandlord/landlady, ,saysthatyouowe $___ rent

Name (type or print)

Address or description of premises rented (if different from mailing address):

2. If you owe this rent, you must do one of the following within 7 days from the date this notice was served.
a. Pay the rent owed. or b. Move out or vacate the premises.
If you do not do one of the above, your landlord/landlady may take you to court to evict you. If you move out or vacate, you
may still owe rent.

3. If your landlord-landlady takes you to court to evict you and if you have paid the rent, or if you believe there is a good reason
why you do not owe the rent, you will have the opportunity to present the reasons why you believe you should not be evicted.

4. If you believe there is a good reason why you do not owe the rent claimed by your landlord/landlady, you can have a lawyer
advise you. Call him or her soon.

Date

Signature of owner of premises or agent

Address

City, state, zip Telephone no.

HOW TO GET LEGAL HELP

1. Callyour own lawyer.

2. If you do not have an attorney but have money to retain one, you may locate an attorney through the State Bar of Michigan
Lawyer Referral Service at 1-800-968-0738 or through a local lawyer referral service. Lawyer referral services should be listed
in the yellow pages of your telephone directory or you can find a local lawyer referral service at www.michbar.org.

3. Ifyou do not have an attorney and cannot pay for legal help, you may qualify for assistance through a local legal aid office. Legal
aid offices should be listed in the yellow pages of your telephone directory or you can find a local legal aid office at
www.michiganlegalaid.org. If you do not have Internet access at home, you can access the Internet at your local library.

Tenant's copy

MCL 600.5714(1)(a), MCL 600.5716,
DC 100a (1/12) DEMAND FOR POSSESSION, NONPAYMENT OF RENT, Landlord-Tenant MCL 600.5718, MCL 600.5775(2)(f)

57



Original - Court
1st copy - Tenant
2nd copy - Mailing

Approved, SCAO 3rd copy - Landlord
STATE OF MICHIGAN COMPLAINT CASENO.
JUDICIAL DISTRICT NONPAYMENT OF RENT
Landlord - Tenant
Court address Court telephone no.
Plaintiff name(s), address(es), and telephone no(s). Defendant name(s) and address(es)
\'

Plaintiff's attorney, bar no., address, and telephone no.

The plaintiff states:
1. [ | Thereis no other pending or resolved civil action arising out of the same transaction or occurrence alleged in this complaint.
LI A civil action between these parties or other parties arising out of the transaction or occurrence alleged in this complaint
has been previously filed in Court. The docket number and assigned judge are

Theaction [Jremains [ Jisnolonger  pending.
2. Attached to this complaint is a copy of the lease or occupancy agreement, if any, under which possession is claimed, and a
copy of the demand for possession showing when and how it was served.

3. The person entitled to possession of the property described in the attached demand for possession is

Name (type or print)

4. The defendantis in possession of the following portion of the property:

5. The plaintiff has a right to possession of the property for nonpayment of rent:

a. Rental rate: $ per b. Payable on:
c. Rentis paid through d. Total rentdue now is $
e. Other money is due: $ for and due by

L] 6 The tenancy involves regulated housing operated by or under rules of agovernmental unit. The rule or law under which the
tenancy is ended is

17 (Must be checked unless modified by lease.) The plaintiff declares that this residential property was kept fit for the use
intended and has been kept in reasonable repair during the term of the lease.

8. The defendant has not complied with the demands made.

9. The plaintiff requests a judgment of possession and costs.

[110. The plaintiff demands a jury trial.

SUPPLEMENTAL COMPLAINT

[]11. Complaintis made and judgment is sought for money damages against the defendant as follows:
[[] Rent owing as set out in paragraph 5 above, plus additional rent at the rate of $ per
until judgment, plus costs.
[] Damages claimed:

Date Plaintiff/Attorney signature

DC 102a (1/12) COMPLAINT, NONPAYMENT OF RENT, Landlord - Tenant MCR 2.113(C), MCR 4.201(B), MCL 600.5714

58




Original - Court

1st copy - Tenant

2nd copy - Mailing

3rd copy - Landlord/Landlady

Approved, SCAO 4th copy - Proof of service

STATE OF MICHIGAN CASE NO.

SUMMONS
JUDICIAL DISTRICT Landlord-Tenant / Land Contract

Court address Court telephone no.

Plaintiff's name, address, and telephone no. Plaintiff's attorney, bar no., address, and telephone no.

Y . . .

If you require special accommodations to use the court
because of a disability or if you require a foreign language
interpreter to help you fully participate in court proceedings,
please contact the court immediately to make arrangements.

Defendant's name, address, and telephone no.

[ ] Rental unit eviction

[ ] Land contract forfeiture

NOTICE TO THE DEFENDANT: In the name of the people of the State of Michigan you are notified:
[]to recover possession, after land contract forfeiture, of

1. The plaintiff has filed a complaint against you and wants ~ [] a money judgment for
[ to evict you from

Address or description of premises

2. You are summoned to be in the district court on at
Day and date

[l at the address above, [] , courtroom
Location

3. You have the right to a jury trial. If you do not demand a jury trial and pay the required jury fee in your first defense response,
you will lose this right.

4. If you are in district court on time, you will have an opportunity to give the reasons why you feel you should not be evicted.
Bring witnesses, receipts, and other necessary papers with you.

5. If you are not in district court on time, you may be evicted without a trial and a money judgment may be entered against you.

Time

Date issued Court clerk
*The certificate of mailing applies to landlord-tenant cases only.

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING BY COURT*

This document must be sealed by the seal of the court.

| certify that on this date | served a copy of this summons and the complaint and required attachments on the defendants by first-
class mail addressed to their last-known addresses as defined in MCR 2.107(C)(3).

Date Court clerk/officer

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING BY PLAINTIFF*

| certify that on this date | served a copy of this summons and the complaint and required attachments on the defendants by first-
class mail addressed to their last-known addresses as defined in MCR 2.107(C)(3). | have attached a receipt of mailing from
the post office.

Date Plaintiff signature
MCL 600.5735,
DC104 (3/12) SUMMONS, LANDLORD-TENANT/LAND CONTRACT MCR 2.102, MCR 4.201(C), MCR 4.202(E)

59



Original - Court

1st copy - Tenant

2nd copy - Mailing

3rd copy - Landlord/Landlady

Approved, SCAO 4th copy - Proof of service
STATE OF MICHIGAN CASE NO
SUMMONS )
JUDICIAL DISTRICT
Landlord-Tenant / Land Contract
Court address Court telephone no.
Plaintiff's name, address, and telephone no. Plaintiff's attorney, bar no., address, and telephone no.

v If you require special accommodations to use the court

because of a disability or if you require a foreign language
interpreter to help you fully participate in court proceedings,
please contact the court immediately to make arrangements.

Defendant's name, address, and telephone no.

[ ] Rental unit eviction

[ ] Land contract forfeiture

NOTICE TO THE DEFENDANT: In the name of the people of the State of Michigan you are notified:

[ to recover possession, after land contract forfeiture, of
1. The plaintiff has filed a complaint against you and wants ] a money judgment for

[ to evict you from

Address or description of premises

2. You are summoned to be in the district court on at _
Day and date Time

[ ] at the address above, [] , courtroom
Location

3. You have the right to a jury trial. If you do not demand a jury trial and pay the required jury fee in your first defense response,
you will lose this right.

4. If you are in district court on time, you will have an opportunity to give the reasons why you feel you should not be evicted.
Bring witnesses, receipts, and other necessary papers with you.

5. If you are not in district court on time, you may be evicted without a trial and a money judgment may be entered against you.

Date issued Court clerk .
This document must be sealed by the seal of the court.

HOW TO GET LEGAL HELP

1. You have the right to an attorney to assist you in answering the complaint filed in this case and in preparing defenses.

2. If you do not have an attorney but have money to retain one, you may locate an attorney through the State Bar of Michigan
Lawyer Referral Service at 1-800-968-0738 or through a local lawyer referral service. Lawyer referral services should be listed
in the yellow pages of your telephone directory or you can find a local lawyer referral service at www.michbar.org.

3. Ifyou do not have an attorney and cannot pay for legal help, you may qualify for assistance through a local legal aid office. Legal
aid offices should be listed in the yellow pages of your telephone directory or you can find a local legal aid office at
www.michiganlegalaid.org. If you do not have Internet access at home, you can access the Internet at your local library.

4. If you require special accommodations to use the court because of a disability or if you require a foreign language interpreter
to help you fully participate in court proceedings, please contact the court immediately to make arrangements.
Tenant's copy

MCL 600.5735,
DC 104 (3/12) SUMMONS, LANDLORD-TENANT/LAND CONTRACT MCR 2.102, MCR 4.201(C), MCR 4.202(E)

60



SUMMONS
Landlord-Tenant / Land Contract
PROOF OF SERVICE Case No.

TO PROCESS SERVER: You are to serve the summons and complaint and attachments as instructed. You must make and
file your proof of service with the court clerk. If you are unable to complete service, you must return this original and all copies to
the court clerk.

’ CERTIFICATE / AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE / NONSERVICE

[ ] OFFICER CERTIFICATE OR [] AFFIDAVIT OF PROCESS SERVER
| certify that | am a sheriff, deputy sheriff, bailiff, appointed Being first duly sworn, | state that | am a legally competent
court officer, or attorney for a party (MCR 2.104[A][2]), and adultwhois notaparty or an officer of a corporate party, and
that: (notarization not required) that: (notarization required)

U] ’PERSONAL SERVICE ‘ | have personally served a copy of the summons, complaint, and attachments on the defendant(s):

Defendant's name Complete address of service Day, date, time

Defendant's name Complete address of service Day, date, time

U] ’SUBSTITUTED SERVICE ‘ (As to residential premises only.)  Not being able to find the following named defendant(s),

Name(s)
on at at
Date Time Place of service
, | left the summons, complaint, and attachments at the current residence of defendant(s) with
, the of defendant(s), who is of
Name State relationship

suitable age. | explained the contents and requested delivery of the pleadings to the defendant(s).

L] ’NONSERVICE RETURN After diligent search and inquiry, | have been unable to find and serve the defendant(s). | have

made the following efforts at personal /substituted service:

[] ’SERVICE BY ATTACHMENT ‘ (Landlord-Tenant cases only.) | attached the pleadings on B
ate

to the main entrance of the tenant's dwelling unit in a secure manner.

| declare that the statements above are true to the best of my information, knowledge, and belief.

Service fee Miles traveled Fee -
Signature
$ s
Incorrect address fee| Miles traveled Fee TOTAL FEE Name (type or print)
$ ‘$ $
Title
Subscribed and sworn to before me on 5a , County, Michigan.
ate
My commission expires: Signature: _
Date Deputy clerk/Notary public

Notary public, State of Michigan, County of

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SERVICE

| acknowledge that | have received service of the summons, complaint, and attachment on Bt
ate

Signature: On behalf of:

61



Original - Court
1st copy - Defendant

2nd copy - Defendant
Approved, SCAO 3rd copy - Plaintiff
STATE OF MICHIGAN CASE NO.
JUDICIAL DISTRICT JUDGMENT

LANDLORD-TENANT

Court address Court telephone no.

Plaintiff Defendant

THE COURT FINDS:

by [Jhearing [ default* []consent**

*For a defendant on active military duty, default judgment shall
not be entered except as provided by the Servicemembers Civil
Relief Act.

L] Personal service ’ POSSESSIONJUDGMENT ‘

Plaintiff/Attorney

[]1. The plaintiff has a right to recover possession
of the property.

[ ]2. Thereis now due to plaintiff for nonpayment of
rent:
a. Rent to retain possession $
b. COStS .oovviviieiiiiciiciee $

[] Personal service C. Total ceovervevereeeececen $

[[] 3. The defendant has a right to retain possession.

Defendant/Attorney
TOTHEDEFENDANT:

[] 4. [J a. The plaintiffcan apply for an order evicting the defendant if the defendant does not pay the plaintiff or the court the amount
due in item 2c above or does not move out on or before
Date

[ b. The plaintiff can apply for an order evicting the defendant if the defendant does not move out on or before

Date

[ ] c. Animmediate order of eviction shall be entered pursuantto MCL 600.5744(2).
[]5. The defendant may be liable for money damages after moving if additional rent is owed or if there is damage to the property.

[ ]6. Acceptance of partial payment of the total amount due in item 2c above [ Jwill [Jwillnot preventthe court from
issuing an order evicting the defendant.

[]7. No money judgment is entered at this time.

{ MONEY JUDGMENT |
[]8. Apossession judgmentwas previously entered.
[]9. A money judgment, which will earn interest at statutory rates, is entered as follows: Damages $
Costs $
Total $
10. FURTHER ORDERS:
Date Judge Bar no.

YOU ARE ADVISED thatyou may file amotion for a newtrial, a motion to set aside a defaultjudgment, or an appeal and appeal bond,
which must comply with all court rules and must be filed in court by . You may want legal help.

Date
L] MCR 4.201(1) was explained to the parties.

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING: | certify that on this date | served a copy of **Approved:
this judgment on the parties or their attorneys by first-class mail addressed
to their last-known addresses as defined in MCR 2.107(C)(3). Date Plaintiff/Attorney
Date Deputy clerk Date Defendant/Attorney
DC105 (1/12) JUDGMENT, LANDLORD-TENANT MCR 4.201(K)(1)(d), MCL 600.5744, 50 USC 521

62




Original - Officer return
1st copy - Court
2nd copy - Defendant

Approved, SCAO 3rd copy - Plaintiff
STATE OF MICHIGAN APPLICATION AND ORDER OF EVICTION CASENO.
JUDICIAL DISTRICT Landlord-Tenant / Land Contract

Court address Court telephone no.

Plaintiff name, address, and telephone no. Defendant name(s) and address(es)

Plaintiff's attorney, bar no., address, and telephone no.

NOTE: An application may be required even though a APPLICATION

request for an order of eviction is granted in the judgment.

1. On judgment was entered against the defendant(s) and the plaintiff was awarded
Date

possession of the following described property:

2. No payment has been made on the judgment or no rent has been received since the date of judgment, except the sum of

$ received under the following conditions:

3. The plaintiff has complied with the terms of the judgment.

4. The time stated in the judgment before an order of eviction can be issued has elapsed.

| declare that the statements above are true to the best of my information, knowledge, and belief.

Date Plaintiff/Attorney signature

ORDEROFEVICTION

IN THE NAME OF THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN:

To the Court Officer: You are ordered to restore the plaintiff to, and put the plaintiff in, full possession of the premises.

Date issued SEAL Judge

NOTE: Intenancy cases, this order must be served within 56 days of the issuance date.

Bar no.

MCL 600.5744, MCR 4.201(L),
DC 107 (1/12) APPLICATION AND ORDER OF EVICTION, Landlord-Tenant / Land Contract MCR 4.202(K)

63



| certify and return that on | executed the order of eviction on the reverse side of this form
Date

by evicting
Name(s)

from the property, and | have restored the plaintiff to peaceful possession as ordered.

Date (Deputy) sheriff/Court officer/Bailiff
Service fee Miles traveled Fee

$ s

Incorrect address fee| Miles traveled Fee TOTAL FEE

$ ‘$ $




The information in this publication is available,
upon request, in an alternative, accessible format.




For more information regarding the Michigan Legislature,
scan this QR code with your smartphone.



	140210CouncilAgenda
	CityRentalInspectionProgramBrochure
	CityRentalOrdinance
	InternationalPropertyMaintenanceCode2009
	Municipal Civil Infractions - Rental Citations
	TenantsAndLandlords-APracticalGuide


